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See “RaTiNGs” herein.

In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for purposes of federal
income taxation under existing statutes, requlations, rulings and court decisions, subject to the conditions described in
“Tax MATTERS — Federal” herein. Interest on the Notes will not be a specific preference item for purposes of the individual
and corporate alternative minimum taxes; however, such interest is taken into account in computing the alternative
minimum tax for certain corporations and may be subject to certain other federal taxes affecting corporate holders of
the Notes. Under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, as enacted and construed on the date hereof, the Notes
are exempt from Pennsylvania personal property taxes and the interest on the Notes is exempt from Pennsylvania
income tax and Pennsylvania corporate net income tax. For a more complete discussion, see “Tax MATTERS” herein.
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THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA
Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes, Series A of 2017-2018

Dated: Date of Delivery Due: June 29, 2018

Defined Terms. All capitalized terms that are not otherwise defined on this cover page have the meanings provided
for such terms in this Official Statement.

The Notes. The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (the “City”), a corporation, body politic and city of the first class
existing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, is issuing the above-referenced notes (the “Notes”). The
Notes will be issued in registered form in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof and will bear interest
from the date of issuance to the maturity date at the annual rate set forth on the inside cover page hereof, calculated on
the basis of actual days elapsed in a 365-day year.

Purpose. The City is issuing the Notes in anticipation of the receipt of current taxes and current revenues. The
proceeds of the Notes will be used: (i) to provide cash to supplement the receipts of the City in the General Fund for the
purpose of paying the general expenses of the City prior to the receipt of income from taxes and other sources of General
Fund revenues to be received in the current Fiscal Year and pledged for the repayment of the Notes, and (ii) to pay the
costs of issuance of the Notes.

Security. The Notes are general obligations of the City, but do not constitute debt of the City subject to the limitations
of Article IX of the Pennsylvania Constitution. The Notes are payable from funds required to be deposited by the City in the
Note Fund established under the Loan Authorization and the Trust Agreement. The Notes are equally and ratably secured
by a pledge of, security interest in, and a lien and charge on, the taxes and revenues of the City to be received for the
account of the General Fund from the issue date of the Notes until the earlier of (i) the payment or provision for payment
in full of the principal of and interest on the Notes, and (ii) June 30, 2018. As further security for the repayment of the
Notes, the City covenants in the Loan Authorization and the Trust Agreement to make certain irrevocable deposits into
the Note Fund, which deposits in the aggregate will equal the entire principal of and interest due on the Notes at maturity.

Payment Date. The principal of and interest on the Notes will be payable on June 29, 2018, at the designated
corporate trust office of the Trustee.

Redemption. The Notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

Tax Status. For information on the tax status of the Notes, see the italicized language at the top of this cover page
and “Tax MATTERS” herein.

Delivery Date. It is expected that the Notes will be available for delivery to DTC on or about December 6, 2017.

This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only. It is not a summary of the Notes
or this Official Statement. Investors must read the entire Official Statement, including the Appendices, which
are an integral part hereof, to obtain information essential to the making of an informed investment decision
regarding the Notes.

The Notes are offered when, as and if issued by the City and accepted by the Underwriters and subject to the approval
of the legality of the issuance of the Notes by Dilworth Paxson LLP, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and Ahmad Zaffarese
LLC, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Co-Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by the City of
Philadelphia Law Department, and for the Underwriters by their counsel, Saul Ewing Arnstein & Lehr LLP, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania. Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP and the Law Office of Ann C. Lebowitz, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Co-
Disclosure Counsel to the City, will deliver opinions to the City and the Underwriters regarding certain matters.

Janney Montgomery Scott
Ramirez & Co., Inc. TD Securities

Dated: November 29, 2017
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Amount Rate Yield Price CUSIP?
$125,000,000 2.000% 1.320% 100.379 717813WF2

T CUSIP is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association (the “ABA”). CUSIP data is provided by CUSIP Global
Services, which is managed on behalf of the ABA by S&P Global Market Intelligence, a part of S&P Global Inc. The CUSIP
number listed above is being provided solely for the convenience of the Noteholders only at the time of issuance of the Notes and
the City and the Underwriters do not make any representation with respect to such CUSIP number or undertake any responsibility
for its accuracy now or at any time in the future. The CUSIP number is subject to being changed after the issuance of the Notes
as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or
other similar enhancement by investors that may be applicable to all or a portion of the Notes.
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No Offering May Be Made Except by this Official Statement. No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been
authorized by the City or the Underwriters to give any information or to make representations, other than as contained in this Official
Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City
or the Underwriters.

No Unlawful Offers or Solicitations. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer
to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Notes by any person, in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such
offer, solicitation, or sale.

Use of this Official Statement. This Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of the Notes described herein
and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract
or agreement among the City, the Underwriters and the purchasers or owners of any offered Notes. This Official Statement is being
provided to prospective purchasers either in bound printed form (“Original Bound Format”) or in electronic format on the following
website: www.munisOS.com. This Official Statement may be relied upon only if it is in its Original Bound Format or if it is printed in
full directly from such website.

Preparation of this Official Statement. The information set forth herein has been furnished by the City and includes
information obtained from other sources, all of which are believed to be reliable. The information and expressions of opinion herein are
subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City since the date hereof. Such information and
expressions of opinion are made for the purpose of providing information to prospective investors and are not to be used for any other
purpose or relied on by any other party. The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with,
and as part of, their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

Order and Placement of Materials. The order and placement of materials in this Official Statement, including the
Appendices, are not to be deemed a determination of relevance, materiality or importance, and this Official Statement, including the
cover page, the inside cover pages and the Appendices, must be considered in its entirety. The captions and headings in this Official
Statement are for convenience only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent, or affect the meaning or construction, of
any provisions or sections of this Official Statement. The offering of the Notes is made only by means of this entire Official Statement.

Estimates and Forecasts. The statements contained in this Official Statement and the Appendices hereto that are not purely
historical are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements can be identified, in some cases, by terminology such as
may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “illustrate,”
“example,” and “continue,” or the singular, plural, negative or other derivations of these or other comparable terms. Readers should not
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. All forward-looking statements included in this Official Statement are based on
information available to such parties on the date of this Official Statement, and the City assumes no obligation to update any such
forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements included herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates
and are inherently subject to various risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, risks and uncertainties relating to the possible
invalidity of the underlying assumptions and estimates and possible changes or developments in various important factors. Accordingly,
actual results may vary from the projections, forecasts and estimates contained in this Official Statement and such variations may be
material, which could affect the ability to fulfill some or all of the obligations under the Notes.

113 ELITS 9 < 9 < 9 <

Public Offering Prices. In connection with the offering of the Notes, the Underwriters may overallot or effect transactions
which stabilize or maintain the market price of the Notes at levels above those which might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such
stabilization, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

No Recommendation or Registration. The Notes have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission
or regulatory authority. Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this
document. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense. The Notes have not been registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, nor has the Trust Agreement been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of
1939, as amended, in reliance upon certain statutory exemptions contained in such acts.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT
OF
THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYLVANIA

$125,000,000
The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes,
Series A of 2017-2018

INTRODUCTION
General

This Official Statement, including the cover page, inside cover page, and Appendices hereto, is
provided to set forth information with respect to the issuance by The City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
(the “City”) of its Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes, Series A of 2017-2018 (the “Notes™), in the
aggregate principal amount of $125,000,000. This introduction is a brief description of certain matters set
forth in this Official Statement and is qualified by reference to the entire Official Statement. Reference
should be made to the material under the caption “THE NOTES” for a description of the Notes and to
APPENDIX E for a description of the book-entry system of registration applicable thereto.

Certain factors that may affect an investment decision concerning the Notes are described
throughout this Official Statement. Persons considering a purchase of the Notes should read this Official
Statement, including the cover page, the inside cover page, and the Appendices, which are an integral part
hereof, in its entirety. All estimates and assumptions of financial and other information are based on
information currently available and are believed to be reasonable, but are not to be construed as assurances
of actual outcomes. Any estimates of future performance or events constituting forward-looking statements
may or may not be realized because of a wide variety of economic and other circumstances. Included in
such forward-looking statements are numbers and other information from the adopted and proposed budgets
of the City, as well as from the City’s five-year financial plans. Accordingly, no assurance is given that any
projected future results will be achieved. See “DISCUSSION OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS — Current Financial
Information” in APPENDIX A hereto.

This Official Statement has been prepared by the City under the direction of the Office of the
Director of Finance. The fiscal year of the City extends from July 1 to June 30 of the subsequent year
(referred to herein as the “Fiscal Year”).

Information Regarding The City of Philadelphia

The City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and other information about the City can be
found on the City’s website at www.phila.gov/investor (the “City’s Investor Website”). The “Terms of
Use” statement on the City’s Investor Website, which applies to all users of the City’s Investor Website,
provides, among other things, that the information contained therein is provided for the convenience of the
user, that the City is not obligated to update such information, and that such information may not provide
all information that may be of interest to investors. The information contained on the City’s Investor
Website does not constitute an offer to buy or sell securities, nor is it a solicitation therefor. The
information contained on the City’s Investor Website is not incorporated by reference in this Official



Statement and persons considering a purchase of the Notes should rely only on information contained in
this Official Statement or incorporated by reference herein.

APPENDIX A provides information regarding the City, including relevant statutory provisions,
financial information, litigation information, the relationship with the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental
Cooperation Authority (“PICA”) and the City’s five-year financial plans. APPENDIX B contains the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2016 (the “Fiscal
Year 2016 CAFR”). Certain information contained herein regarding the City is for periods prior to or
subsequent to the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2016. As a result, certain of the information in APPENDIX B
may vary from corresponding information concerning the City in APPENDIX A.

The City Controller has examined and expressed opinions on the basic financial statements of the
City contained in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR. The City Controller has not participated in the preparation
of this Official Statement nor in the preparation of the budget estimates and projections and cash flow
statements and forecasts set forth in various tables contained in this Official Statement. Consequently, the
City Controller expresses no opinion with respect to any of the data contained in this Official Statement
other than what is contained in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.

Authorization

The Notes are being issued pursuant to the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority
Act for Cities of the First Class, Act No. 1991-6, approved June 5, 1991, as amended (the “Act”), and a
Loan Authorization, adopted November 29, 2017 (the “Loan Authorization”) by the Loan Committee of the
City, comprised of the Mayor, the City Controller, and the City Solicitor, by at least a majority vote of its
members (the “Loan Committee”). See “THE NOTES — Statutory Authorization.”

U.S. Bank National Association, having a corporate trust office in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, will
act as registrar, transfer agent, and paying agent for the Notes and as trustee (the “Trustee”) under a Trust
Agreement between the City and the Trustee, dated December 6, 2017 (the “Trust Agreement”).

The Notes are issuable as fully-registered notes and, when issued, will be registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, which will
act as securities depository for the Notes. Purchases of beneficial interests in the Notes will be made in
book-entry only form in denominations of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof. Purchasers of Notes
will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Notes purchased. See APPENDIX E
— “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”

Purpose

The City is issuing the Notes in anticipation of the receipt of current taxes and current revenues.
The proceeds of the Notes will be used to: (i) provide cash to supplement the receipts of the City in the
General Fund for the purpose of paying the general expenses of the City prior to the receipt of income from
taxes and other sources of General Fund revenues to be received in the current Fiscal Year and pledged for
the repayment of the Notes, and (ii) pay the costs of issuance of the Notes. The proceeds of the Notes will
be deposited initially to the credit of the General Fund in the City’s Consolidated Cash Account. See “CITY
CASH MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES — Consolidated Cash.”



THE NOTES
General

The Notes will be issued in the aggregate principal amount of $125,000,000, will be dated the date
of original delivery thereof, and will mature on June 29, 2018. The Notes will bear interest, payable at
maturity, at the rate per annum set forth on the inside cover page hereof, calculated on the basis of actual
days elapsed in a 365-day year.

The Notes will be issued as fully registered notes and, when issued, will be registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC. Purchases of beneficial interests in the Notes will be made in book-entry
form (without certificates) in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. So long as the
Notes are in book-entry only form, the principal of and interest on the Notes will be payable by check or
draft mailed to or by wire transfer of immediately available funds to Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, the
registered owner thereof for redistribution by DTC to the Direct and Indirect Participants and in turn to
Beneficial Owners as described in APPENDIX E — “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”

The Loan Authorization, the Trust Agreement, and all provisions thereof are incorporated by
reference in the text of the Notes and the Notes provide that each registered owner, Beneficial Owner, and
Direct or Indirect Participant of DTC, by acceptance of a Note (including receipt of a book-entry credit
evidencing an interest therein), assents to all of such provisions as an explicit and material portion of the
consideration running to the City to induce it to adopt the Loan Authorization and issue the Notes. Copies
of the Loan Authorization, including the full text of the form of the Notes, and the Trust Agreement are on
file at the Philadelphia, Pennsylvania corporate trust office of the Trustee.

Statutory Authorization

The issuance of the Notes is authorized by the Act. Pursuant to the Act, the Loan Committee has
established the terms of the Notes in the Loan Authorization, which authorizes the issuance and sale of the
Notes and provides for the payment of the Notes. In the Loan Authorization, the Loan Committee has
authorized and approved the execution and delivery of the Trust Agreement, providing for the
establishment of the Note Fund and appointing the Trustee as agent for the Noteholders (as defined below)
for the purpose of enforcing the pledge and security interest granted to Noteholders pursuant to the Act and
their rights and remedies under the Act.

Sources of Payment for the Notes; Security

Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Loan Authorization, and the Trust Agreement, the Notes
are equally and ratably secured by a pledge of, a security interest in, and a lien and charge on, the taxes and
revenues of the City to be received for the account of the General Fund from the date of the Notes until the
earlier of (i) the payment or provision for payment in full of the principal of and interest on the Notes, and
(i1) June 30, 2018 (notwithstanding the maturity date of the Notes of June 29, 2018).

Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Loan Authorization, and the Trust Agreement, the City has
established a fund, designated the “Note Fund,” to be held in trust by the Trustee for the benefit of the
registered owners of the Notes (the “Noteholders” or “registered owners” or “holders of the Notes”). The
City has covenanted in the Loan Authorization and in the Trust Agreement to make two irrevocable
deposits to the Note Fund: (i) the first on May 25, 2018, in an amount equal to the principal of the Notes;



and (ii) the second on June 26, 2018, in an amount equal to the interest due on the Notes at their stated
maturity on June 29, 2018. Each such date and each such amount being a “Note Deposit Requirement
Date” and a “Note Deposit Requirement,” respectively. See “SECURITY FOR THE NOTES.”

As provided in the Act, the Notes are general obligations of the City, but do not constitute debt of
the City subject to the limitations of Article IX of the Pennsylvania Constitution. The Notes do not pledge
the taxing power of the City nor do they require the City to levy ad valorem taxes for their payment. If the
Notes are not paid within the current Fiscal Year, the entire amount unpaid is required to be included by the
City in its budget for the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2019, and will be payable from (but will not be
secured by) the taxes and revenues of such Fiscal Year.

No Redemption Prior to Maturity
The Notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.
Additional Notes

The Act and the Loan Authorization permit the City to issue additional tax and revenue anticipation
notes. Any additional notes will be equally and ratably secured with the Notes, until such notes are paid or
until deposits for such payment have been made into a trust fund established for such notes, by a pledge of a
security interest in, and a lien and charge on, the taxes and revenues of the City to the account of the
General Fund during the period such notes are outstanding. Holders of additional notes will not have a
claim on or a security interest in the Note Fund.

Modification of Loan Authorization and Trust Agreement

The Loan Authorization may be modified with the consent of the registered owners of a majority in
principal amount of the outstanding Notes; provided, however, that no such modification which would
affect the rights of the registered owners of less than all outstanding Notes or affect the terms of payment of
the principal of, or interest on, the Notes may be made without the consent of the registered owners of all
the affected Notes.

The Trust Agreement may be amended without the consent of the registered owners of the Notes by
a supplemental agreement authorized by the Loan Committee or a majority of the members thereof to: (i)
add additional covenants of the City or surrender any right or power of the City conferred by the Trust
Agreement; (ii) reflect changes in applicable law or to cure any ambiguity or to cure, correct or supplement
any defective or inconsistent provision in a manner which is not inconsistent with the Trust Agreement and
shall not impair the security of the Trust Agreement or adversely affect the registered owners of the Notes;
or (iii) revise the provisions of the Trust Agreement so long as such revisions do not adversely affect the
rights or security of the registered owners under the Trust Agreement, the Loan Authorization, or the Act.

All other amendments to the Trust Agreement require the consent of the registered owners of at least
a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding. However, any amendment with respect to
amounts required to be deposited in the Note Fund, the Note Deposit Requirement Dates, the interest rate of
the Notes, the maturity date of the Notes, or the Article of the Trust Agreement governing amendments,
requires the consent of the registered owners of all of the outstanding Notes. Any amendment of the Trust
Agreement described in the preceding sentence shall only be effective if the Loan Authorization has been
duly amended in the same particulars.



SECURITY FOR THE NOTES
General

The Act provides that all tax and revenue anticipation notes issued in a single Fiscal Year will be
equally and ratably secured by a pledge of, a security interest in, and a lien and charge on, the taxes or
revenues or both of the City specified in the Loan Authorization to be collected or received during the
period when such notes are outstanding. As required by the Act, the Loan Authorization grants such pledge
of, security interest in, and lien and charge on the taxes and revenues to be collected or received by the City
for the account of the General Fund from the date of the Notes until the earlier of (i) the payment or
provision for payment in full of the principal of and interest on the Notes, and (ii) June 30, 2018
(notwithstanding the maturity date of the Notes of June 29, 2018).

The Act further provides that such pledge, lien, and charge shall be fully perfected as against the
City, all creditors of the City, and all third parties from and after the filing of financing statements pursuant
to the Pennsylvania Uniform Commercial Code. For the purpose of such filing, the Trustee has been
appointed, as permitted by the Act, to file, on behalf of the Noteholders, the financing statements and any
continuation or termination statements.

Note Fund

As authorized by the Act, the City has established the Note Fund, to be held in trust for the equal
and ratable benefit of the owners of the Notes. In the Trust Agreement, the City grants to the Trustee a
pledge of and security interest in the Note Fund and all investments thereof and income thereon for the
benefit and security of the Noteholders.

In the Loan Authorization and the Trust Agreement, the City covenants to pay to the Trustee for
irrevocable deposit into the Note Fund the following amounts on the following dates:

Note Deposit Requirement Date Note Deposit Requirement
May 25, 2018 $125,000,000.00
June 26, 2018 $1,404,109.59

(all interest due on June 29, 2018)

On each Note Deposit Requirement Date, the Trustee will determine whether the amount on deposit
in the Note Fund is equal to the Note Deposit Requirement (as noted above). The Trustee will provide
notice to the Treasurer or the Director of Finance of any deficiency in the Note Fund. The Treasurer or the
Director of Finance is required to immediately transfer any General Fund Receipts (as defined below) or
other moneys of the City legally available for the purpose in an amount equal to the deficiency to the
Trustee for deposit in the Note Fund. Such transfer and deposit is required to be made by 10:00 A.M.,
Philadelphia time, on the business day immediately succeeding the Note Deposit Requirement Date.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, on June 26, 2018, the Trustee will determine no later than 3:00 P.M.,
Philadelphia time, whether the amount on deposit in the Note Fund equals the entire principal of and
interest due on the Notes on June 29, 2018. If the Trustee determines that there is any deficiency in the
Note Fund, the City must cure such deficiency by 10:00 A.M., Philadelphia time, on June 28, 2018.



Moneys on deposit in the Note Fund may be invested only in direct obligations of the United States
of America, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by the full faith and credit
of the United States of America, obligations of certain agencies and instrumentalities of the United States of
America, or agreements for the repurchase of such obligations, all as more fully described in the Trust
Agreement and Loan Authorization, all such obligations to mature or be subject to redemption at the option
of the holder at not less than par or the purchase price therefor on or prior to June 29, 2018. Funds and
investments in the Note Fund will be applied solely to the payment of principal of and interest on the Notes
at maturity and are not available as security for the holders of any additional notes. Payments from the
Note Fund will be applied first to interest due on the Notes, and then to principal.

Pursuant to the Loan Authorization, when payment in full of principal and interest due on the Notes
has been made from the Note Fund, any balance in the Note Fund in excess of such amounts will be paid by
the Trustee to the City.

General Fund Receipts Collection and Transfer

Under the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter (the “City Charter”), the Department of Revenue is
authorized to collect all real estate, personal property, income and other taxes of the City. The Revenue
Commissioner is the head of the Department of Revenue.

General Fund Receipts are defined in the Trust Agreement to mean the taxes and other revenues of
the City received from all sources for the account of the General Fund during the period beginning on the
date of issue of the Notes and ending June 30, 2018, including, without limitation, general property taxes;
wage, earnings and net profits taxes; business privilege taxes; sales and use taxes; and revenue from other
governments, including the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commonwealth”) and PICA; provided,
however, that at no time shall General Fund Receipts include (i) any taxes or other revenues collected by
the City on behalf of The School District of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (the “School District”), which taxes
and revenues are at all times the sole property of the School District, or (ii) the Pennsylvania
Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority Tax, as defined in the Act, collected by the City as agent for the
Commonwealth Department of Revenue, which tax is at all times the sole property of PICA.

The City maintains an account (the “Concentration Account”) for the deposit of the daily collection
of certain categories of General Fund Receipts and other income of the City received by the Department of
Revenue. In addition to the daily deposit of certain General Fund Receipts and other income of the City,
the Concentration Account receives, by electronic fund transfer from the Pennsylvania Office of the State
Treasurer, payments from the Commonwealth, which accrue to the General Fund. The City’s wage,
earnings and net profits taxes are deposited in a separate account at another bank and are transferred by the
City to the Concentration Account on a daily basis. As determined by the City, these funds, when in excess
of daily liquidity needs, are deposited at other banks or are transferred to a custodian and invested in
authorized investments, per the guidelines of the City’s Investment Policy (as described in APPENDIX A).
The Concentration Account is currently maintained at Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. or
such other bank designated by the City to hold the Concentration Account, is referred to herein as the
“Concentration Account Bank™).

In the Trust Agreement, the City covenants to transfer General Fund Receipts to the Trustee for
deposit in the Note Fund, or to cause the Concentration Account Bank to transfer General Fund Receipts
from the Concentration Account to the Trustee for deposit in the Note Fund, in the amount of the applicable
Note Deposit Requirement on each Note Deposit Requirement Date. The City has further covenanted in the



Trust Agreement to maintain the Concentration Account until the maturity date of the Notes. The Trust
Agreement includes an authorization and direction to the Concentration Account Bank, without further
action of the City, to transfer General Fund Receipts from the Concentration Account to the Trustee for
deposit in the Note Fund in the amount of the applicable Note Deposit Requirement on each Note Deposit
Requirement Date, to the extent such deposits are not otherwise made by the City.

The City also maintains accounts at a number of other banking institutions in the City for the direct
deposit of its Realty Transfer Tax Receipts, certain other items of General Fund Receipts, Grant Fund
funding, and other miscellaneous revenues of other member funds that are pooled in the City’s
Consolidated Cash Account. The above mentioned Concentration Account is included in the pool of funds
that make up the City’s Consolidated Cash Account.

Remedies of Noteholders

Pursuant to the Act and the Loan Authorization, upon the filing of required financing statements, the
Trustee will be entitled to exercise on behalf of the Noteholders all rights and remedies available to secured
parties under the Pennsylvania Uniform Commercial Code.

The Act further grants the Trustee the right on behalf of the Noteholders to enforce the pledge of,
security interest in, and lien and charge on, the pledged taxes and revenues of the City against all
governmental agencies in possession of any such taxes and revenues at any time, which taxes and revenues
may be collected directly from such officials upon notice by the Trustee for application to the payment of
the Notes as and when due or for deposit in the Note Fund at the times and in the amounts specified in the
Notes. The Trust Agreement requires the Trustee to enforce the pledge granted to secure the Notes in the
manner described in the preceding sentence without further direction from the Noteholders, in the event the
City fails to make any scheduled deposit into the Note Fund at the times prescribed in the Trust Agreement.

In addition, the Act grants to Noteholders the right, if the City fails to pay principal of or interest on
the Notes when due, and such failure continues for thirty (30) days, to recover the amount due by action in
the Court of Common Pleas. The judgment recovered will have an appropriate priority upon the moneys
next coming into the treasury of the City. Pursuant to the Trust Agreement, this right will be enforced on
behalf of Noteholders by the Trustee.

The Act also provides the following remedies to holders of the Notes which, pursuant to the Loan
Authorization and Trust Agreement, will be exercised by the Trustee on behalf of Noteholders:

6)] By mandamus, suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, to compel the
City, the Loan Committee and the members thereof, and the officers, agents or employees of
the City to perform each and every term, provision and covenant contained in the Notes, the
Loan Authorization and the Trust Agreement, and to require the carrying out of any or all
such covenants and agreements of the City and the fulfillment of all duties imposed on the
City by the Act;

(i1) By proceeding in equity, to obtain an injunction against any acts or things
which may be unlawful or the violation of any of the rights of the holders of Notes; and

(ii1) To require the City to account as if it were the trustee of an express trust for
the holders of the Notes for any pledged taxes or revenues received.



The Trust Agreement provides that the Trustee is not required to exercise any of the foregoing
remedies (other than enforcing the pledge of, security interest in, and lien and charge on, the pledged
revenues from Commonwealth and local public officers) unless the Trustee receives (i) written direction
from the registered owners of at least a majority in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding, and (ii)
indemnity satisfactory to it against its fees, costs, expenses, and liabilities. If the Trustee receives such
written direction and indemnity and declines to take the action specified within a reasonable period of time,
registered owners may proceed to enforce the remedies granted under the Act directly against the City.

Limitation of Remedies

The rights and remedies of Noteholders with respect to the City’s obligations under the Notes could
be significantly affected by the provisions of Chapter 9 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter
9”). Chapter 9 permits, under prescribed circumstances (and only after an authorization by the applicable
state legislature or by a governmental office or organization empowered by state law to give such
authorization), a “municipality” of a state to file a petition for relief in a bankruptcy court of the United
States if it is insolvent or unable to meet its debts as they mature, and it desires to effect a plan to adjust its
debt. Chapter 9 defines “municipality” as a “political subdivision or public agency or instrumentality of a
State.” Thus, for purposes of Chapter 9, except as may be limited by state law, the City would be
considered a “municipality.”

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Act prohibits the City from filing a petition for relief under
Chapter 9 so long as PICA has outstanding any bonds issued pursuant thereto. As of June 30, 2017, the
principal amount of PICA bonds outstanding is $213,945,000, and the final maturity date of such bonds is
June 15, 2023, which is approximately five years after the maturity date of the Notes.

The rights and remedies of Noteholders could be limited by other reorganization and insolvency
proceedings, and general principles of equity (whether asserted in a proceeding at law or in equity).
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CITY CASH MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES

General Fund Cash Flow

Because the receipt of revenues into the General Fund generally lags behind expenditures from the
General Fund during each Fiscal Year, the City issues notes in anticipation of General Fund revenues, such
as the Notes, and makes payments from the Consolidated Cash Account (described below) to finance its on-
going operations. The City has issued, or PICA has issued on behalf of the City, tax and revenue
anticipation notes in each Fiscal Year since Fiscal Year 1972. Each issue was repaid when due, prior to the
end of the respective Fiscal Year. The City issued $175 million of tax and revenue anticipation notes on
October 19, 2016, which matured and were paid in full on June 30, 2017.

The timing imbalance referred to above results from a number of factors, principally the following:
(i) real property taxes, business income and receipts taxes, and certain other taxes are not due until the latter
part of the Fiscal Year; and (ii) the City experiences lags in reimbursement from other governmental
entities for expenditures initially made by the City in connection with programs funded by other
governments.

Table 1 shows information related to the City’s tax and revenue anticipation notes issued in Fiscal
Years 2013-2017.

Table 1
City of Philadelphia
Notes Issued in Anticipation of Receipt of Income by General Fund
Fiscal Years 2013-2017
(Amounts in millions)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Total Authorized Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes(" $127.00  $100.00  $130.00  $175.00  $175.00
Maximum Amount Outstanding at any time during Fiscal Year $127.00  $100.00  $130.00  $175.00  $175.00
Amount Outstanding at end of Fiscal Year $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Maximum Amount Outstanding as a Percentage of General Fund Revenues 3.43% 2.63% 3.46% 439%  4.23%?

(1) Amount represents General Fund borrowing.
(2) Percentage based on estimated General Fund revenues in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan (as defined in APPENDIX A hereto).

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]



Consolidated Cash

The Act of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of June 25, 1919 (Pa. P.L. 581, No. 274,
Art. XVII, § 6) authorizes the City to make temporary inter-fund loans between certain operating and
capital funds. The City maintains a Consolidated Cash Account for the purpose of pooling the cash and
investments of all City funds, except those which, for legal or contractual reasons, cannot be commingled
(e.g., the Municipal Pension Fund, sinking funds, sinking fund reserves, funds of the Philadelphia Gas
Works, the Aviation Fund, the Water Fund, and certain other restricted purpose funds). A separate
accounting is maintained to record the equity of each member fund that participates in the Consolidated
Cash Account. For more information on the City’s management of the Consolidated Cash Account, see
APPENDIX A — “CITY CASH MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES — Consolidated Cash.”

Investment Practices

Cash balances in each of the City’s funds are managed to maintain daily liquidity to pay expenses,
and to make investments that preserve principal while striving to obtain the maximum rate of return.
Pursuant to the City Charter, the City Treasurer is the City official responsible for managing cash collected
into the City Treasury. The available cash balances in excess of daily expenses are placed in demand
accounts, swept into money market mutual funds, or used to make investments directed by professional
investment managers. These investments are held in segregated trust accounts at a separate financial
institution. Cash balances related to revenue bonds for water and sewer and the airport are directly
deposited and held separately in trust. A fiscal agent manages these cash balances in accordance with the
applicable bond documents and the investment practice is guided by administrative direction of the City
Treasurer per the Investment Committee and the Investment Policy (as described below). In addition,
certain operating cash deposits (such as Community Behavioral Health, Special Gas/County Liquid and
“911” surcharge) of the City are restricted by purpose and required to be segregated into accounts in
compliance with federal or Commonwealth reporting. Investment guidelines for the City are embodied in
§ 19-202 of the Philadelphia Code. For more information on the City’s investment guidelines and policies,
see APPENDIX A — “CITY CASH MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES — Investment Practices.”

Cash Flow Projections

Tables 2-5 set forth the City’s projected cash flow results for Fiscal Years 2017 and 2018, which
include projections as of June 30, 2017. Tables 2-5 were prepared by the City’s Office of the Director of
Finance, and for purposes of the projections include adjustments made by that office to take into account
revenues anticipated to be received and expenses scheduled to be paid or anticipated to be paid. As such, at
any point in time there may be a difference between actual operating cash on deposit and investments and
what the tables reflect as “Total Fund Equity.” For example, Table 3 shows a projected Total Fund Equity
as of June 30, 2017 of $375.9 million, while the City’s Treasury Operations show a bank balance on June
30, 2017, of approximately $227.3 million and an investment balance of approximately $217.0 million, for
an aggregate of approximately $444.3 million. In the context of how accurately these numbers reflect the
overall financial position of the City, the City does not believe that these differences are material.
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Office of the Director of Finance
Projections as of June 30, 2017

Table 2

Fiscal Year 2017 Cash Flows — Projections — General Fund

Amounts in Millions

Not Estimated
July 31 Aug 31 Sept 30 Oct 31 Nov 30 Dec 31 Jan 31 Feb28  March31 April30 May 31 June 30 Total Accrued Accrued Revenues
REVENUES
Real Estate Tax 7.8 9.5 6.1 7.0 7.3 14.4 48.9 281.2 160.9 234 14.9 10.0 591.3 8.2) 583.1
Total Wage, Earnings, Net Profits 109.9 131.7 110.1 125.7 114.5 96.7 157.2 107.9 133.1 1422 1293 113.2 1,471.6 (21.6) 1,450.0
Realty Transfer Tax 25.6 19.0 17.8 22.8 16.8 20.0 19.5 14.2 21.0 17.8 24.1 233 241.8 8.9) 2329
Sales Tax 25.1 27.3 11.7 11.8 13.8 11.9 11.3 15.2 11.4 11.1 13.6 19.2 1833 33 186.6
Business Income & Receipts Tax 1.9 59 11.6 16.2 4.0 145 12.7 0.2 55.8 281.6 454 8.2 458.0 (22.9) 435.1
Beverage Tax 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.9 6.2 7.0 6.5 6.9 325 7.2 39.7
Other Taxes 9.9 12.7 9.2 10.2 9.7 9.5 9.8 8.9 9.7 12.0 8.8 9.1 119.4 1.8 121.2
Locally Generated Non-tax 25.0 28.0 235 21.7 28.7 21.2 28.9 22.5 315 22.8 32.7 21.8 308.2 3.1 305.1
Total Other Governments 11.9 57.3 78.7 62.8 7.5 6.5 12.0 12.6 14.3 13.5 14.5 14.7 306.3 8.0 314.2
Total PICA Other Governments 29.7 33.8 31.8 17.8 313 39.0 31.8 25.5 50.3 40.7 40.4 13.3 385.4 9.3 394.7
Interfund Transfers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 28.1 28.1 47.3 75.4
Total Current Revenue 246.7 325.1 300.5 296.0 233.6 233.8 332.1 494.0 494.0 572.1 330.3 267.8 4,126.0 (35.1) 473  4,138.2
Collection of prior year(s) revenue 24.7 0.0 0.0 53 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.0
Other fund balance adjustments - - - - - - - - - - - - -
TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS 271.4 325.1 300.5 301.3 233.7 233.8 332.1 494.0 494.0 572.1 330.3 267.8 4,156.1
Vouchers Encum-  Estimated
July 31 Aug 31 Sept 30 Oct 31 Nov 30  Dec 31 Jan 31 Feb 28 March 31 April 30 May 31 June 30 Total Payable  brances Obligations
EXPENSES AND OBLIGATIONS
Payroll 72.3 178.4 118.0 122.1 127.0 120.8 120.8 103.8 160.1 119.3 132.1 115.9 1,490.6 96.7 35 1,590.8
Employee Benefits 57.1 435 53.1 47.0 433 42.4 46.1 48.8 50.5 50.3 49.1 57.0 588.2 18.9 0.5 607.6
Pension 3.7 (7.8) 4.5 60.4 6.3) 2.5) (7.0) 3.1 475.6 113.1 (2.0) 2.5) 626.0 25.0 651.0
Purchase of Services 38.2 349 64.9 97.6 46.0 76.9 57.8 423 73.6 67.3 83.7 51.6 734.9 243 128.2 887.5
Materials, Equipment 3.1 2.5 8.1 6.0 5.8 4.7 6.9 4.7 6.0 5.3 5.4 6.1 64.4 4.5 40.2 109.1
Contributions, Indemnities 13.9 2.3 11.9 6.2 2.0 14.1 7.7 2.8 10.4 4.8 107.5 2.7 186.4 3.1 189.4
Debt Service-Short Term 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 2.5 0.0 2.8 1.7 45
Debt Service-Long Term 923 0.5 0.0 0.0 13.2 8.5 229 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 1384 11.1 149.5
Interfund Charges 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.0 1.0 313 323
Advances & Misc. Pmts. / Labor Obligations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Current Year Appropriation 280.6 254.6 260.6 339.3 231.0 264.8 255.2 199.9 776.1 361.0 378.8 230.8 3,832.7 216.5 1724 42216
Prior Yr. Expenditures against Encumbrances 32.6 22.7 10.8 5.0 29 2.9 2.8 10.6 1.4 4.5 1.7 1.0 98.8
Prior Yr. Salaries & Vouchers Payable 63.3 (11.1) 57.6 21.7 (1.8) 10.4 (21.5) 14.1 7.6 (15.9)  (123.3) 136.7 137.8
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 376.5 266.2 329.0 366.0 232.1 278.2 236.5 224.7 785.1 349.6 257.1 368.5 4,069.3
Excess (Def) of Receipts over Disbursements (105.1) 58.9 (28.5) (64.6) 1.6 (44.4) 95.6 269.3 (291.1) 222.6 73.2 (100.7)
Opening Balance 4472 342.1 401.0 372.5 482.9 484.4 440.0 535.6 804.9 513.8 736.4 634.6
TRAN 0.0 0.0 0.0 175.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 (175.0) 0.0
CLOSING BALANCE 342.1 401.0 372.5 482.9 484.4 440.0 535.6 804.9 513.8 736.4 634.6 533.9
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Office of the Director of Finance
Projection as of June 30, 2017

Table 3

Fiscal Year 2017 Cash Flows — Projections — Consolidated Cash — All Funds

Amounts in Millions

July 31 Aug 31 Sept 30 Oct 31 Nov 30 Dec 31 Jan 31 Feb28 March31l April30 May31  June 30
General 342.1 401.0 372.5 482.9 484.4 440.0 535.6 804.9 513.8 736.4 634.6 533.9
Grants Revenue (123.7) (63.2) (55.9) (116.6)  (180.8)  (271.3) (246.3)  (299.3) (367.9) (353.6) (3104) (246.2)
Community Development 4.1 (3.49) 4.7 (1.6) 4.4) 5.4) (5.3) (8.3) 2.2) 2.6 54 (10.1)
Vehicle Rental Tax 6.4 7.0 1.6 2.1 2.6 3.0 34 3.7 4.1 4.5 4.9 5.4
Hospital Assessment Fund 11.2 26.5 34.0 12.6 12.5 15.1 14.3 13.5 20.0 13.7 413 14.1
Housing Trust Fund 25.9 26.8 27.7 28.7 29.4 30.1 30.0 30.3 30.7 31.0 31.9 31.0
Other Funds 8.7 9.0 7.8 7.9 7.9 7.6 7.5 7.5 7.0 7.2 7.1 7.8
TOTAL OPERATING FUNDS 266.5 403.7 383.1 416.0 351.6 219.1 339.0 552.4 205.5 441.7 414.7 336.0
Capital Improvement 114.2 114.6 105.2 98.5 89.6 78.6 71.0 61.5 544 51.3 41.8 30.3
Industrial & Commercial Dev. 5.1 5.1 54 54 54 54 5.4 5.4 9.6 9.6 9.6 9.6
TOTAL CAPITAL FUNDS 119.3 119.7 110.7 104.0 95.0 84.0 76:4 66.9 64.0 60.9 514 39.9
TOTAL FUND EQUITY 385.8 523.4 493.7 520.0 446.7 303.1 415.5 619.3 269.6 502.6 466.2 375.9
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Office of the Director of Finance
Projections as of September 30, 2017

Table 4

Fiscal Year 2018 Cash Flows — Projections — General Fund

Amounts in Millions

Not Estimated
July 31 Aug 31 Sept 30 Oct 31 Nov 30  Dec 31 Jan 31 Feb28  March31 April 30 May 31 June 30 Total Accrued Accrued  Revenues
REVENUES
Real Estate Tax 9.2 8.5 6.5 6.0 7.7 15.3 53.1 3715 123.5 29.0 12.7 8.4 651.5 651.5
Total Wage, Earnings, Net Profits 137.7 114.0 1153 1343 119.7 110.7 150.2 117.9 131.2 153.4 124.8 113.0 1,522.3 1,522.3
Realty Transfer Tax 383 29.0 20.8 27.5 17.2 17.9 16.9 13.1 18.9 19.5 19.0 213 259.6 (4.0) 255.6
Sales Tax 28.6 29.0 12.0 11.9 14.6 13.1 13.5 15.8 12.4 12.2 14.6 18.4 195.9 22 198.1
Business Income & Receipts Tax 6.9 6.9 16.4 14.9 2.6 8.3 13.1 6.2 532 248.0 67.3 8.3 4522 452.2
Beverage Tax 6.9 6.5 6.7 7.6 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 7.9 91.3 1.1 92.4
Other Taxes 10.2 9.5 12.2 10.3 9.8 9.3 9.2 11.3 7.8 15.4 10.6 9.5 125.0 125.0
Locally Generated Non-tax 243 29.4 214 30.7 21.6 20.5 253 24.6 28.3 23.0 27.3 26.4 302.9 302.9
Total Other Governments 22.9 523 77.9 59.9 17.5 6.4 6.8 13.3 13.5 9.5 11.9 15.0 307.0 9.7 316.6
Total PICA Other Governments 25.8 372 29.7 17.2 38.4 41.0 33.8 27.5 523 42.7 42.4 39.7 427.6 0.0 427.6
Interfund Transfers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 30.5 30.5 33.7 64.2
Total Current Revenue 310.7 3225 318.8 3203 257.2 250.6 329.7 609.2 449.1 560.7 338.6 298.4 4,365.8 9.0 33.7 4,408.4
Collection of prior year(s) revenue 40.9 0.2 12.5 (2.8) 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.8
Other fund balance adjustments - - - - - - - - - - - - -
TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS 351.6 322.6 3314 317.6 257.2 250.6 329.7 609.2 449.1 560.7 338.6 298.4 4,416.6
Vouchers Encum-  Estimated
July 31 Aug 31 Sept 30 Oct 31 Nov30 Dec3l Jan 31 Feb 28 March 31  April 30 May 31 June 30 Total Payable  brances Obligations
EXPENSES AND OBLIGATIONS
Payroll 69.7 172.3 1334 127.2 1359 124.4 124.4 124.4 173.5 124.4 136.0 128.2 1,573.9 73.7 35 1,651.1
Employee Benefits 45.8 36.2 65.6 337 53.1 48.5 48.5 48.5 67.9 48.5 53.1 50.0 599.4 16.1 0.5 616.0
Pension 3.7 6.5) 4.8 64.2 (6.3) (2.5) (7.0) (5.6) 511.9 95.0 3.1 (2.6) 646.0 343 680.2
Purchase of Services 42.6 50.8 76.3 89.1 833 67.1 60.0 63.5 79.5 80.5 59.9 78.6 831.2 23.8 81.8 936.8
Materials, Equipment 3.0 3.8 8.5 6.8 9.1 7.6 7.8 6.8 7.8 9.0 8.6 8.9 87.7 4.0 16.2 108.0
Contributions, Indemnities 14.3 5.0 10.2 8.8 9.8 33 44 5.5 11.9 5.7 106.5 10.6 196.0 196.0
Debt Service-Short Term 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.0 53 53
Debt Service-Long Term 96.1 0.5 0.0 0.6 0.0 13.2 8.3 21.3 0.5 0.0 0.0 11.4 152.1 152.1
Interfund Charges 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.1 1.8 0.0 0.1 0.9 59 10.5 25.6 36.0
Advances & Misc. Pmts. / Labor Obligations 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 50.9 50.9
Current Year Appropriation 275.5 262.2 298.9 3304 284.9 270.2 253.8 273.5 860.3 370.6 369.2 303.3 4,152.9 177.5 102.0 4,432.4
Prior Yr. Expenditures against Encumbrances 38.3 253 19.3 9.0 7.1 42 9.6 6.4 5.9 2.7 1.0 2.0 130.9
Prior Yr. Salaries & Vouchers Payable 77.4 (24.5) 9.9) 89.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1333
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 391.2 263.0 308.8 429.2 292.1 274.4 263.4 279.9 866.2 3733 370.2 305.3 4,417.1
Excess (Def) of Receipts over Disbursements (39.6) 59.6 226 (111.7) (34.8) (23.8) 66.3 3293 (417.2) 187.3 (31.6) (6.9)
Opening Balance 533.9 4943 553.9 576.5 464.8 555.0 531.2 597.5 926.7 509.6 696.9 540.3
TRAN 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 125.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0  (125.0) 0.0
CLOSING BALANCE 494.3 553.9 576.5 464.8 555.0 531.2 597.5 926.7 509.6 696.9 540.3 5334
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Fiscal Year 2018 Cash Flows — Projections — Consolidated Cash — All Funds

Office of the Director of Finance
Projection as of September 30, 2017

Table 5

Amounts in Millions

July 31 Aug 31 Sept 30 Oct 31 Nov 30 Dec 31 Jan 31 Feb28 March31l April30 May31l  June 30
General 4943 553.9 576.5 464.8 555.0 531.2 597.5 926.7 509.6 696.9 540.3 5334
Grants Revenue (58.0) 83.0 20.0 16.1 (154.5)  (213.8)  (179.6)  (199.8) (227.4) (236.8) (212.1) (1194)
Community Development (16.9) (15.1) (11.7) (11.8) (4.6) 3.5) (5.9) (4.6) (6.8) 3.4 (3.0) (6.1)
Vehicle Rental Tax 6.0 6.6 1.2 1.6 4.2 4.6 5.0 5.4 4.8 53 5.7 6.2
Hospital Assessment Fund 13.8 13.6 23.1 14.7 10.5 16.1 10.8 8.8 23.2 9.4 27.1 15.4
Housing Trust Fund 32.0 333 33.8 339 20.8 21.9 20.8 18.9 18.6 18.4 18.5 17.7
Other Funds 8.7 9.0 7.8 7.9 7.3 7.1 7.0 7.4 7.6 7.4 7.2 7.2
TOTAL OPERATING FUNDS 480.0 684.3 650.7 5274 438.7 363.6 455.8 762.9 329.7 497.2 383.8 454.4
Capital Improvement 28.4 297.8 279.8 267.5 252.0 240.5 225.0 209.5 198.0 186.5 171.0 159.5
Industrial & Commercial Dev. 9.8 9.8 9.8 9.8 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.4 44 43
TOTAL CAPITAL FUNDS 38.1 307.6 289.5 277.3 256.5 245.0 229:5 214.0 202.5 190.9 175.4 163.8
TOTAL FUND EQUITY 518.1 992.0 940.2 804.7 695.3 608.6 685.3 9717.0 532.2 688.1 559.2 618.2

14



TAX MATTERS
Federal

Co-Bond Counsel will deliver, concurrently with the issuance of the Notes, their opinions to the
effect that under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions, interest on the Notes is
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. Interest paid on the Notes will not be a
specific preference item for purposes of calculating individual or corporate alternative minimum taxable
income; however, interest on the Notes is included in the adjusted current earnings of corporations for
purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations. In addition, interest on the
Notes may be included in a foreign corporation’s effectively connected earnings and profits upon which
certain foreign corporations are required to pay the foreign branch profits tax imposed under Section 884
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

The Notes have been offered at a premium (“original issue premium”) over their principal amount.
For federal income tax purposes, original issue premium is amortizable periodically over the term of a
Note through reductions in the holder’s tax basis for the Note for determining taxable gain or loss from
sale or from redemption prior to maturity. Amortizable premium is accounted for as reducing the tax-
exempt interest on the Note rather than creating a deductible expense or loss. Prospective purchasers of
the Notes should consult their tax advisers for an explanation of the treatment of original issue premium.

The Code imposes various restrictions, conditions and requirements relating to the exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on obligations such as the Notes. Ongoing
requirements include, among other things, the provisions of Section 148 of the Code which prescribe
yield and other limits within which the proceeds of the Notes are to be invested and which may require
that certain excess earnings on investments made with the proceeds of the Notes be rebated on a periodic
basis to the United States. The City has made certain representations and undertaken certain agreements
and covenants in the Loan Authorization and its certificate of non-arbitrage and other federal tax matters
to be delivered concurrently with the issuance of the Notes designed to ensure compliance with the
applicable provisions of the Code. The inaccuracy of these representations or the failure on the part of
the City to comply with such covenants and agreements could result in the interest on the Notes being
included in the gross income of a holder for federal income tax purposes, in certain cases retroactive to
the date of original issuance of the Notes.

The opinions of Co-Bond Counsel assume the accuracy of these representations and the future
compliance by the City with its covenants and agreements. Moreover, Co-Bond Counsel have not
undertaken to evaluate, determine or inform any person, including any holder of the Notes, whether any
actions taken or not taken, events occurring or not occurring, or other matters that might come to the
attention of Co-Bond Counsel would adversely affect the value of, or tax status of the interest on, the
Notes.

Ownership of the Notes may result in collateral federal tax consequences to certain taxpayers,
including, without limitation, financial institutions, S corporations with excess net passive income,
property and casualty companies, individual recipients of social security or railroad retirement benefits
and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred indebtedness to purchase or carry the Notes. Co-
Bond Counsel will express no opinion with respect to these or any other collateral tax consequences of
the ownership of the Notes. The nature and extent of the tax benefit to a taxpayer of ownership of the
Notes will generally depend upon the particular nature of such taxpayer or such taxpayer’s own particular
circumstances, including other items of income or deduction. Accordingly, prospective purchasers of the
Notes should consult their tax advisers.
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There can be no assurance that currently existing or future legislative proposals by the United
States Congress limiting or further qualifying the excludability of interest on tax exempt obligations from
gross income for federal tax purposes, or changes in federal tax policy generally, will not adversely affect
the tax status of the interest on, or the market for, the Notes.

As of date of this Official Statement, legislation has been introduced in the United States Congress
which, if enacted, would, among other things, significantly change the federal income tax rates for
individuals and corporations, eliminate private activity bonds (including qualified 501(c)(3) bonds),
repeal the alternative minimum tax and eliminate advance refundings of tax-exempt bonds for tax years
beginning after December 31, 2017. These proposals, if passed and signed by the President of the United
States, may increase, reduce or otherwise change the financial benefits currently provided to certain
owners of state and local government bonds, including the Notes. There can be no assurance that this
introduced legislation will be adopted, and if adopted, which parts of the proposal will be incorporated
into final law, and if adopted after December 31, 2017, will not have retroactive effect.

Pennsylvania

Co-Bond Counsel will also each deliver an opinion to the effect that under existing law as enacted
and construed on the date of such opinion, the Notes are exempt from personal property taxes in
Pennsylvania, and interest on the Notes is exempt from Pennsylvania personal income tax and
Pennsylvania corporate net income tax. However, under the laws of the Commonwealth as presently
enacted and construed, any profits, gains or income derived from the sale, exchange or other disposition
of the Notes will be subject to Pennsylvania taxes within Pennsylvania.

The Notes and the interest thereon may be subject to state or local taxes in jurisdictions other than
the Commonwealth under applicable state or local tax laws.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF THE NOTES SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX
ADVISERS WITH RESPECT TO THE FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL INCOME TAX
CONSEQUENCES OF OWNERSHIP OF THE NOTES AND ANY CHANGES IN THE STATUS OF
PENDING OR PROPOSED TAX LEGISLATION.

NO LITIGATION

Upon delivery of the Notes, the City of Philadelphia Law Department will furnish an opinion, in
form satisfactory to Co-Bond Counsel and to the Underwriters, to the effect, among other things, that,
except for litigation which in the opinion of the City of Philadelphia Law Department is without merit and
except as disclosed in this Official Statement (including in “LITIGATION” in APPENDIX A hereto and in
Note 8 to the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR, “Contingencies — Primary Government — Claims and Litigation in
APPENDIX B hereto), (i) there is no litigation or other legal proceeding pending in any court or, to the best
of its knowledge, threatened in writing to restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Notes or
challenging the validity of the proceedings of the City with respect to the authorization, issuance, sale and
provision for payment of the Notes or in any way contesting the validity or enforceability of the Notes,
and (ii) there is no litigation or other legal proceeding pending in any court, or to the best of its
knowledge, threatened, which can reasonably be anticipated to result in a final unfavorable decision in a
magnitude or scope which would materially and adversely affect the financial condition or operations of
the City as a whole.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services have assigned the Notes
ratings of “MIG 1” and “SP-1+”, respectively.
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Such credit ratings reflect only the views of such credit rating agencies. An explanation of the
significance of any such credit rating may be obtained from the applicable credit rating agency.

A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities. There is no assurance that any
such credit rating will continue for any given period of time or that it will not be revised or withdrawn
entirely by such credit rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. Neither the City nor the
Underwriters have undertaken any responsibility to assure the maintenance of the rating. The City has
agreed, in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, to report actual rating changes on the Notes. See
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING” herein and APPENDIX D. Any downward change in or
withdrawal of such credit rating may have an adverse effect on the marketability or market price of the
Notes.

CERTAIN LEGAL MATTERS

The authorization, issuance, and sale of the Notes are subject to approval as to legality by
Dilworth Paxson LLP, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and Ahmad Zaffarese LLC, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, Co-Bond Counsel. The proposed form of opinion of Co-Bond Counsel is included herein
as APPENDIX C. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by the City of Philadelphia Law
Department, and for the Underwriters by their counsel, Saul Ewing Arnstein & Lehr LLP, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania. Hawkins Delafield & Wood LLP and the Law Office of Ann C. Lebowitz, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania, Co-Disclosure Counsel to the City, will deliver opinions to the City and the Underwriters
regarding certain matters.

UNDERWRITING

The Notes are being purchased by the Underwriters identified on the cover page hereof. The
Underwriters have agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions, to purchase the Notes from the City at
an aggregate purchase price of $125,359,664.74, which is equal to the principal amount of the Notes in
the amount of $125,000,000.00, plus original issue premium on the Notes of $473,750.00, less an
Underwriters’ discount of $114,085.26.

The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in
various activities, which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, advisory,
investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. Certain of the
Underwriters and their respective affiliates have, from time to time, performed and may in the future
perform, various investment or commercial banking services for the City for which they received or will
receive customary fees and expenses.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriters and their respective
affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or
related derivative securities) and financial instruments (which may include bank loans and/or credit
default swaps) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold
long and short positions in such securities and instruments. Such investment and securities activities may
involve securities and instruments of the City.

TD Securities (USA) LLC has entered into a negotiated dealer agreement (the “Dealer
Agreement”) with TD Ameritrade for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings, including the
Notes, at the original price. Pursuant to the Dealer Agreement, TD Ameritrade may purchase the Notes
from TD Securities (USA) LLC at the original issue prices less a negotiated portion of the selling
concession applicable to any of the Notes that TD Ameritrade sells.
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FINANCIAL ADVISORS

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and Phoenix Capital Partners, LLP,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, are acting as co-financial advisors (together, the “Financial Advisors”) to the
City in connection with the issuance of the Notes. The Financial Advisors have assisted in the
preparation of this Official Statement and in other matters relating to the planning, structuring and
issuance of the Notes. They have received and reviewed but have not independently verified information
in this Official Statement for accuracy or completeness (except, as to each Financial Advisor, the
information in this section). Investors should not draw any conclusions as to the suitability of the Notes
from, or base any investment decisions upon, the fact that the Financial Advisors have advised the City
with respect to the Notes. The Financial Advisors’ fees for this issue are contingent upon the sale and
issuance of the Notes.

The Financial Advisors are financial advisory and consulting organizations and not organizations
engaged in the business of underwriting, marketing or trading of municipal securities or any other
negotiable instruments.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING

In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with the requirements of Rule 15c¢2-12
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, the City (i) will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement with Digital Assurance
Certification, L.L.C., as dissemination agent for the benefit of the Registered Owners (as defined in such
agreement) of the Notes, to be dated the date of original delivery of and payment for the Notes, the form
of which is annexed hereto as APPENDIX D, and (ii) has provided the disclosure in the following
paragraphs.

During the previous five years, the City has failed on occasion to timely file event notices related
to certain changes to enhanced ratings assigned to bonds issued by or on behalf of the City (related to
changes to the credit quality of banks providing credit and liquidity enhancement or support for certain
variable rate bonds). In one other instance, the City timely filed notice of a rating change, but did not
associate the notice with all specific relevant outstanding obligations and filed the notice through
incorporation by reference of information in an offering document. The foregoing description of
instances of non-compliance by the City with its continuing disclosure undertakings should not be
construed as an acknowledgement by the City that any such instance was material.

In connection with the continuing disclosure annual filing for the City’s Gas Works Revenue
Bonds (the “Gas Works Revenue Bonds”) that was made in February 2016, certain annual financial
information that should have been included was not filed until August 2016. The late-filed information
was required by a continuing disclosure agreement that had been entered into in connection with the Gas
Works Revenue Bonds, Thirteenth Series (1998 General Ordinance) that were issued in August 2015.
The information that the City filed in February 2016 satisfied all prior continuing disclosure agreements
relating to its other Gas Works Revenue Bonds.

The City has reviewed and updated its disclosure policies and procedures to assist the City in
complying with its continuing disclosure undertakings in the future.

18



MISCELLANEOUS

This Official Statement is made available only in connection with the sale of the Notes and may
not be used in whole or in part for any other purpose. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a
contract or agreement between the City, the Underwriters and the purchasers or owners of any of the
Notes. Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not
expressly so stated, are intended merely as opinions and not as representations of fact. No representation
is made that any of the opinions or estimates will be realized. The information and expressions of opinion
herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any
sale made hereunder will, under any circumstances, create any implication that there is no change in the
affairs of the City since the date hereof.

The attached Appendices are integral parts of this Official Statement and should be read in their
entirety together with the foregoing statements.

The City makes no representations or warranties to investors as to the accuracy or timeliness of
any other information available on the City’s Investor Website or any other website maintained by the
City, nor any hyperlinks referenced therein.

The City has authorized the execution and distribution of this Official Statement.

THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA

By: /s/ Rob Dubow
Name: Rob Dubow
Title: Director of Finance
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THE GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA
Introduction

The City of Philadelphia (the “City” or “Philadelphia”) is located along the southeastern border of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commonwealth” or “Pennsylvania”). The City is the largest
city in the Commonwealth and the sixth largest city in the United States with approximately 1.57 million
residents (based on 2016 estimates). The City is also the center of the United States’ seventh largest
metropolitan statistical area, which is an 11-county area encompassing the City, Camden, NJ, and
Wilmington, DE and represents approximately 6.07 million residents (based on 2016 estimates).

The City benefits from its strategic geographical location, relative affordability, cultural and
recreational amenities, and its growing strength in key industries. The City is a business and personal
services center with strengths in professional services, such as insurance, law, finance, healthcare and
higher education, and leisure and hospitality. The cost of living in the City is relatively moderate
compared to other major metropolitan areas in the northeast United States. In addition, the City, as one of
the country’s education centers, offers the business community a large and diverse labor pool.

The University of Pennsylvania, Temple University, Drexel University, St. Joseph’s University,
La Salle University, and Community College of Philadelphia are certain of the well-known institutions of
higher education located in the City. There are also a number of other well-known colleges and
universities located near the City, notably including Villanova University, Bryn Mawr College, Haverford
College, Swarthmore College, Lincoln University, and the Camden Campus of Rutgers University,
among others.

The City is a center for health, education, research and science facilities. In the City, there are
more than 30 hospitals, including the Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia, Hospital of the University of
Pennsylvania, Hahnemann University Hospital, Einstein Medical Center-Philadelphia, and Temple
University Hospital, among others, and schools of medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, optometry, podiatry,
and veterinary medicine.

Tourism is important to the City and is driven by the City’s extraordinary historic and cultural
assets. The City’s Historic District includes Independence Hall, the Liberty Bell, Carpenters’ Hall, the
Betsy Ross House, and Elfreth’s Alley, the nation’s oldest residential street. The Parkway District
includes the Philadelphia Museum of Art, the Barnes Foundation, and the Rodin Museum. The Avenue
of the Arts, located along a mile-long section of South Broad Street between City Hall and Washington
Avenue, includes the Kimmel Center, the Academy of Music, and other performing arts venues. All of
the foregoing are key tourist attractions in the City.

History and Organization

The City was incorporated in 1789 by an Act of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth (the
“General Assembly”) (predecessors of the City under charters granted by William Penn in his capacity as
proprietor of the colony of Pennsylvania may date to as early as 1682). In 1854, the General Assembly,
by an act commonly referred to as the Consolidation Act: (i) made the City’s boundaries coterminous
with the boundaries of Philadelphia County (the same boundaries that exist today) (the “County”); (ii)
abolished all governments within these boundaries other than the City and the County; and (iii)
consolidated the legislative functions of the City and the County. Article 9, Section 13 of the
Pennsylvania Constitution abolished all county offices in the City, provides that the City performs all
functions of county government, and states that laws applicable to counties apply to the City.



Since 1952, the City has been governed under a Home Rule Charter authorized by the General
Assembly (First Class City Home Rule Act, Act of April 21, 1949, P.L. 665, Section 17) and adopted by
the voters of the City (as amended and supplemented, the “City Charter”). The City Charter provides,
among other things, for the election, organization, powers and duties of the legislative branch (the “City
Council”) and the executive and administrative branch, as well as the basic rules governing the City’s
fiscal and budgetary matters, contracts, procurement, property, and records. Under Article XII of the City
Charter, the School District of Philadelphia (the “School District”) operates as a separate and independent
home rule school district. Certain other constitutional provisions and Commonwealth statutes continue to
govern various aspects of the City’s affairs, notwithstanding the broad grant of powers of local self-
government in relation to municipal functions set forth in the First Class City Home Rule Act.

Under the City Charter, there are two principal governmental entities in the City: (i) the City,
which performs municipal and county functions; and (ii) the School District, which has boundaries
coterminous with the City and responsibility for all public primary and secondary education.

The court system in the City, consisting of Common Pleas and Municipal Courts, is part of the
Commonwealth judicial system. Although judges are paid by the Commonwealth, most other court costs
are paid by the City, with partial reimbursement from the Commonwealth.

Elected and Appointed Officials

The Mayor is elected for a term of four years and is eligible to be elected for no more than two
successive terms. Each of the seventeen members of City Council is also elected for a four-year term,
which runs concurrently with that of the Mayor. There is no limitation on the number of terms that may
be served by members of City Council. Of the members of City Council, ten are elected from districts
and seven are elected at-large. No more than five of the seven at-large candidates for City Council may
be nominated by any one party or political body. The District Attorney and the City Controller are
elected at the mid-point of the terms of the Mayor and City Council.

The City Controller’s responsibilities derive from the City Charter, various City ordinances and
state and federal statutes, and contractual arrangements with auditees. The City Controller must follow
Generally Accepted Government Auditing Standards, established by the federal Government
Accountability Office (formerly known as the General Accounting Office), and Generally Accepted
Auditing Standards, promulgated by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The City Controller post-audits and reports on the City’s and the School District’s
Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports (“CAFRs”), federal assistance received by the City, and the
performance of City departments. The City Controller also conducts a pre-audit program of City
expenditure documents required to be submitted for approval, such as invoices, payment vouchers,
purchase orders and contracts. Documents are selected for audit by category and statistical basis. The
Pre-Audit Division verifies that expenditures are authorized and accurate in accordance with the City
Charter and other pertinent legal and contractual requirements before any moneys are paid by the City
Treasurer. The Pre-Audit Technical Unit, consisting of auditing and engineering staff, inspects and audits
capital project design, construction and related expenditures. Other responsibilities of the City Controller
include investigation of allegations of fraud, preparation of economic reports, certification of the City’s
debt capacity and the capital nature and useful life of the capital projects, and opining to the Pennsylvania
Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority (“PICA”) on the reasonableness of the assumptions and
estimates in the City’s five-year financial plans.



Under the City Charter, the principal officers of the City’s government are the Managing Director
of the City (the “Managing Director”), the Director of Finance of the City (the “Director of Finance”), the
City Solicitor (the “City Solicitor”), the Director of Commerce (the “Director of Commerce”), the City
Representative (the “City Representative™), and the Director of Planning and Development (the “Director
of Planning and Development”). Under the City Charter, the Mayor appoints the Managing Director, the
Director of Finance, the Director of Commerce, the City Representative, and the Director of Planning and
Development. The Mayor, with the advice and consent of a majority of City Council, also appoints the
City Solicitor.

The Managing Director, in coordination with the senior officials of City departments and
agencies, is responsible for supervising the operating departments and agencies of the City that render the
City’s various municipal services. The Director of Commerce is charged with the responsibility of
promoting and developing commerce and industry. The City Representative is the Ceremonial
Representative of the City and especially of the Mayor. The City Representative is charged with the
responsibility of giving wide publicity to any items of interest reflecting the activities of the City and its
inhabitants, and for the marketing and promotion of the image of the City. The Director of Planning and
Development oversees the Department of Planning and Development, which includes three divisions: (i)
the Division of Development Services; (ii) the Division of Planning and Zoning; and (iii) the Division of
Housing and Community Development.

The City Solicitor is head of the Law Department and acts as legal advisor to the Mayor, City
Council, and all of the agencies of the City government. The City Solicitor is also responsible for: (i)
advising on legal matters pertaining to all of the City’s contracts and bonds; (ii) assisting City Council,
the Mayor, and City agencies in the preparation of ordinances for introduction in City Council; and (iii)
conducting litigation involving the City.

The Director of Finance is the chief financial and budget officer of the City and is selected from
three names submitted to the Mayor by a Finance Panel, which is established pursuant to the City Charter
and is comprised of the President of the Philadelphia Clearing House Association, the Chairman of the
Philadelphia Chapter of the Pennsylvania Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the Dean of the
Wharton School of Finance and Commerce of the University of Pennsylvania. Under Mayor Kenney’s
administration, the Director of Finance is responsible for the financial functions of the City, including: (i)
development of the annual operating budget, the capital budget, and capital program; (ii) the City’s
program for temporary and long-term borrowing; (iii) supervision of the operating budget’s execution;
(iv) the collection of revenues through the Department of Revenue; (v) the oversight of pension
administration as Chairperson of the Board of Pensions and Retirement; and (vi) the supervision of the
Office of Property Assessment. The Director of Finance is also responsible for the appointment and
supervision of the City Treasurer, whose office manages the City’s debt program and serves as the
disbursing agent for the distribution of checks and electronic payments from the City Treasury and the
management of cash resources.

The following are brief biographies of Mayor Kenney, his Chief of Staff, the Director of Finance,
and the City Treasurer.

James F. Kenney, Mayor. On November 3, 2015, James F. Kenney was elected as the City’s
99th Mayor and was sworn into office on January 4, 2016. Mayor Kenney is a lifelong resident of the
City and a graduate of La Salle University. In 1991, Mayor Kenney was elected to serve as a Democratic
City Councilman At-Large and was a member of City Council for 23 years.



Jane Slusser, Chief of Staff. Ms. Slusser was the campaign manager for Mayor Kenney’s
mayoral campaign. Previously, Ms. Slusser was Organizing Director at Equality Pennsylvania and led
Human Rights Campaign’s Americans for Workplace Opportunity statewide campaign in Pennsylvania.
In 2008 and 2012, Ms. Slusser worked on President Obama’s campaigns in South Philadelphia and
Northeastern Pennsylvania. Ms. Slusser is a graduate of Barnard College.

Rob Dubow, Director of Finance. Mr. Dubow has served as Director of Finance since being
appointed on January 7, 2008. Prior to that appointment, Mr. Dubow was the Executive Director of
PICA. He has also served as Executive Deputy Budget Secretary of the Commonwealth, from 2004 to
2005, and as Budget Director for the City, from 2000 to 2004.

Rasheia Johnson, City Treasurer. Ms. Johnson was appointed as City Treasurer on January 19,
2016. Ms. Johnson has over 15 years of experience in government and public finance. In public finance,
she has worked in the capacities of investment banker, financial advisor, and issuer officer, including
positions at Siebert Brandford Shank, Loop Capital Markets, and Public Financial Management, and as
Assistant to the Director of Finance for Debt Management for the City.

Government Services

Municipal services provided by the City include: (i) police and fire protection; (ii) health care;
(iii) certain welfare programs; (iv) construction and maintenance of local streets, highways, and bridges;
(v) trash collection, disposal and recycling; (vi) provision for recreational programs and facilities; (vii)
maintenance and operation of the water and wastewater systems (the “Water and Wastewater Systems”);
(viii) acquisition and maintenance of City real and personal property, including vehicles; (ix) maintenance
of building codes and regulation of licenses and permits; (x) maintenance of records; (xi) collection of
taxes and revenues; (xii) purchase of supplies and equipment; (xiii) construction and maintenance of
airport facilities (the “Airport System”); and (xiv) maintenance of a prison system. The City maintains
enterprise funds — the Water Fund and the Aviation Fund — for each of the Water and Wastewater
Systems and the Airport System.

The City owns the assets that comprise the Philadelphia Gas Works (“PGW” or the “Gas
Works”). PGW serves residential, commercial, and industrial customers in the City. PGW is operated by
Philadelphia Facilities Management Corporation (“PFMC”), a non-profit corporation specifically
organized to manage and operate PGW for the benefit of the City. For more information on PGW, see
“PGW PENSION PLAN,” “PGW OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS,” “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY —
PGW Annual Payments,” and “LITIGATION — PGW,” among others.

Local Government Agencies

There are a number of governmental authorities and quasi-governmental non-profit corporations
that also provide services within the City. Certain of these entities are comprised of governing boards, the
members of which are either appointed or nominated, in whole or part, by the Mayor, while others are
independent of the Mayor’s appointment or recommendation.

Mayoral-Appointed or Nominated Agencies

Philadelphia Industrial Development Corporation and Philadelphia Authority for
Industrial Development. The Philadelphia Industrial Development Corporation (“PIDC”) and the
Philadelphia Authority for Industrial Development (“PAID”), along with the City’s Commerce
Department, coordinate the City’s efforts to maintain an attractive business environment, attract new
businesses to the City, and retain existing businesses. PIDC manages PAID’s activities through a



management agreement. Of the 30 members of the board of PIDC, eight are City officers or officials (the
Mayor, the Managing Director, the Finance Director, the Commerce Director, the Director of Planning
and Development, the City Solicitor, and two members of City Council), nine members are designated by
the President of the Chamber of Commerce of Greater Philadelphia (the “Chamber of Commerce”), and
the remaining 13 members are jointly designated by the Chamber of Commerce and the Commerce
Director. The five-member board of PAID is appointed by the Mayor.

Philadelphia Municipal Authority. The Philadelphia Municipal Authority (formerly the
Equipment Leasing Authority of Philadelphia) (“PMA™) was originally established for the purpose of
buying equipment and vehicles to be leased to the City. PMA’s powers have been expanded to include
any project authorized under applicable law that is specifically authorized by ordinance of City Council.
PMA is governed by a five-member board appointed by City Council from nominations made by the
Mayor.

Philadelphia Energy Authority. The Philadelphia Energy Authority (“PEA”) was established
by the City and incorporated in 2011 for the purpose of facilitating and developing energy generation
projects, facilitating and developing energy efficiency projects, the purchase or facilitation of energy
supply and consumer energy education. PEA is authorized to participate in projects on behalf of the City,
other government agencies, institutions and businesses. PEA is governed by a five-member board
appointed by City Council from four nominations made by the Mayor and one nomination from City
Council.

Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority. The Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority (formerly
known as the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Philadelphia) (the “PRA”), supported by federal
funds through the City’s Community Development Block Grant Fund and by Commonwealth and local
funds, is responsible for the redevelopment of the City’s blighted areas. PRA is governed by a five-
member board appointed by the Mayor.

Philadelphia Land Bank. The Philadelphia Land Bank (the “PLB”) was created in December
2013 with a mission to return vacant and tax delinquent property to productive reuse. The PLB is an
independent agency formed under the authority of City ordinance and Pennsylvania law. The PLB has an
11-member board of directors, of which five are appointed by the Mayor and five are appointed by City
Council. The final board member is appointed by a majority vote of the other board members. The City
provides funds for its operations.

Philadelphia Housing Authority. The Philadelphia Housing Authority (the “PHA”) is a public
body organized pursuant to the Housing Authorities Law of the Commonwealth and is neither a
department nor an agency of the City. PHA is the fourth largest public housing authority in the United
States and is responsible for developing and managing low and moderate income rental units and limited
amounts of for-sale housing in the City. PHA is also responsible for administering rental subsidies to
landlords who rent their units to housing tenants qualified by PHA for such housing assistance payments.
PHA is governed by a nine-member Board of Commissioners, all of whom are appointed by the Mayor
with the approval of a majority of the members of City Council. The terms of the Commissioners are
concurrent with the term of the appointing Mayor. Two of the members of the Board are required to be
PHA residents.

Hospitals and Higher Education Facilities Authority of Philadelphia. The Hospitals and
Higher Education Facilities Authority of Philadelphia (the ‘“Hospitals Authority”) assists non-profit
hospitals by financing hospital construction projects. The City does not own or operate any hospitals.
The powers of the Hospitals Authority also permit the financing of construction of buildings and facilities
for certain colleges and universities and other health care facilities and nursing homes. The Hospitals



Authority is governed by a five-member board appointed by City Council from nominations made by the
Mayor.

Southeastern Pennsylvania Transportation Authority. The Southeastern Pennsylvania
Transportation Authority (“SEPTA”), which is supported by transit revenues and federal,
Commonwealth, and local funds, is responsible for developing and operating a comprehensive and
coordinated public transportation system in the southeastern Pennsylvania region. Two of the 15
members of SEPTA’s board are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by City Council. For more
information on SEPTA, see “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — City Payments to SEPTA.”

Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority. The Pennsylvania Convention Center Authority
(the “Convention Center Authority”) constructed and maintains, manages, and operates the Pennsylvania
Convention Center, which opened on June 25, 1993. The Pennsylvania Convention Center is owned by
the Commonwealth and leased to the Convention Center Authority. An expansion of the Pennsylvania
Convention Center was completed in March 2011. This expansion enlarged the Pennsylvania Convention
Center to approximately 2,300,000 square feet with the largest contiguous exhibit space in the Northeast,
the largest convention center ballroom in the East and the ability to host large tradeshows or two major
conventions simultaneously.

Of the 15 members of the board of the Convention Center Authority, two are appointed by the
Mayor and one by each of the President and Minority Leader of City Council. The Director of Finance is
an ex-officio member of the Board with no voting rights. The Commonwealth, the City and the
Convention Center Authority have entered into an operating agreement with respect to the operation and
financing of the Pennsylvania Convention Center. In January 2014, SMG began managing and operating
the Pennsylvania Convention Center, instituting a number of measures intended to reduce and control
show costs and improve customer service. For more information on the Convention Center Authority, see
“EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — City Payments to Convention Center Authority.”

The School District. The School District was established, pursuant to the First Class City Home
Rule Education Act, by the Educational Supplement to the City Charter as a separate and independent
home rule school district to provide free public education to the City’s residents. Under the City Charter,
the School District is governed by the Board of Education of the School District of Philadelphia (the
“Board of Education”). During a period of distress following a declaration of financial distress by the
Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth, all of the powers and duties of the Board of Education
granted under the Public School Code of 1949, as amended (the “School Code”), or any other law are
suspended and all of such powers and duties are vested in the School Reform Commission (the “School
Reform Commission”) created pursuant to the School Code. The School Reform Commission is granted
all of the powers and duties of the Board of Education by the School Code, as well as all the powers and
duties of a board of control under the School Code. The School Reform Commission is responsible for
the operation, management, and educational program of the School District during such period. It is also
responsible for financial matters related to the School District. The School District was declared
distressed by the Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth pursuant to the School Code, effective
December 22, 2001, and such declaration continues to be in effect.

The School Code provides that the members of the Board of Education continue to serve during
the time the School District is governed by the School Reform Commission, and that the establishment of
the School Reform Commission may not interfere with the regular selection of the members of the Board
of Education. The School Code authorizes the School Reform Commission to delegate duties to the
Board of Education if it so chooses. There has been no sitting Board of Education for many years. Two
of the five members of the School Reform Commission are appointed by the Mayor and three by the
Governor of the Commonwealth (the “Governor”), subject to confirmation by the Pennsylvania Senate.



Under the City Charter, the School District’s governing body is required to levy taxes annually,
within the limits and upon the subjects authorized by the General Assembly or City Council, in amounts
sufficient to provide for operating expenses, debt service charges, and for the costs of any other services
incidental to the operation of public schools. The School District has no independent power to authorize
school taxes. Certain financial information regarding the School District is included in the City’s CAFR.

Except during a period of distress following a declaration of financial distress by the Secretary of
Education of the Commonwealth, as described above, the Board of Education consists of nine members
appointed by the Mayor from a list supplied by an Educational Nominating Panel established in
accordance with provisions set forth in the City Charter.

The School District is part of the Commonwealth system of public education. In a number of
matters, including the incurrence of short-term and long-term debt, the School District is governed by the
laws of the Commonwealth. @ The School District is a separate political subdivision of the
Commonwealth, and the City has no property interest in or claim on any revenues or property of the
School District.

On November 2, 2017, the Mayor proposed that the School Reform Commission vote to
recommend that the Commonwealth’s Secretary of Education declare an end to distress and dissolve the
School Reform Commission effective June 30, 2018. On November 16, 2017, the School Reform
Commission approved a resolution to dissolve and is expected to deliver a certified copy of such
resolution to the Commonwealth’s Secretary of Education for review and approval.

If the School Reform Commission is dissolved, the School District will again be governed by the
Board of Education. Under existing law, the Mayor appoints all members of such Board. The Mayor
believes that such governance will best achieve accountability, assure adequate resources and strong
leadership for the School District, and strengthen the collaboration between the School District and City.

The City’s direct contribution to the School District from the General Fund is estimated to be
approximately $104.3 million in Fiscal Year 2018, not including funding from taxes levied by the School
District and authorized by City Council. Return of the School District to Mayoral control is not expected
to affect the Commonwealth contribution amount, the City’s direct contribution amount, or City or
School District revenues in Fiscal Year 2018.

For more information on the School District, see “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — City Payments
to School District” and Table 21.

Non-Mayoral-Appointed or Nominated Agencies

PICA. PICA was created by the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority Act for
Cities of the First Class (the “PICA Act”) in 1991 to provide financial assistance to cities of the first class,
and it continues in existence for a period not exceeding one year after all of its liabilities, including the
PICA Bonds (as defined herein), have been fully paid and discharged. The City is the only city of the
first class in the Commonwealth. The Governor, the President pro tempore of the Pennsylvania Senate,
the Minority Leader of the Pennsylvania Senate, the Speaker of the Pennsylvania House of
Representatives, and the Minority Leader of the Pennsylvania House of Representatives each appoints
one voting member of PICA’s board. The Secretary of the Budget of the Commonwealth and the
Director of Finance of the City serve as ex officio members of PICA’s board with no voting rights.

In January 1992, the City and PICA entered into an Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement
(the “PICA Agreement”), pursuant to which PICA agreed to issue bonds from time to time, at the request



of the City, for the purpose of funding, among other things, deficits in the General Fund and a debt
service reserve. See “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds.”

Under the PICA Act and for so long as any PICA Bonds are outstanding, the City is required to
submit to PICA: (i) a five-year financial plan on an annual basis; and (ii) quarterly financial reports, each
as further described below under “DISCUSSION OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS — Five-Year Plans of the
City” and “— Quarterly Reporting to PICA.” Under the PICA Act, at such time when no PICA Bonds are
outstanding, the City will no longer be required to prepare such annual financial plans or quarterly
reports. See “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds” for the current final stated maturities of outstanding
PICA Bonds.

The PICA Act and the PICA Agreement provide PICA with certain financial and oversight
functions. PICA has the power to exercise certain advisory and review procedures with respect to the
City’s financial affairs, including the power to review and approve the five-year financial plans prepared
by the City, and to certify non-compliance by the City with the then-existing five-year plan. PICA is also
required to certify non-compliance if, among other things, no approved five-year plan is in place or if the
City has failed to file mandatory revisions to an approved five-year plan. Under the PICA Act, any such
certification of non-compliance would, upon certification by PICA, require the Secretary of the Budget of
the Commonwealth to withhold funds due to the City from the Commonwealth or any of its agencies
(including, with certain exceptions, all grants, loans, entitlements, and payments payable to the City by
the Commonwealth, including payment of the portion of the PICA Tax, as further described under “DEBT
OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds” below, otherwise payable to the City).

Philadelphia Parking Authority. The Philadelphia Parking Authority (the “PPA”™) is
responsible for: (i) the construction and operation of parking facilities in the City and at Philadelphia
International Airport (“PHL”); and (ii) enforcement of on-street parking regulations. The members of the
PPA’s board are appointed by the Governor, with certain nominations from the General Assembly. For
more information on the PPA, see “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Philadelphia Parking Authority Revenues.”

DISCUSSION OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
Principal Operations

The major financial operations of the City are conducted through the General Fund. In addition
to the General Fund, operations of the City are conducted through two other major governmental funds
and 19 non-major governmental funds. The City operates on a July 1 to June 30 fiscal year (“Fiscal
Year”) and reports on all the funds of the City, as well as its component units, in the City’s CAFR.
PMA’s and PICA’s financial statements are blended with the City’s statements. The financial statements
for PGW, PRA, the PPA, the School District, the Community College of Philadelphia, the Community
Behavioral Health, Inc., the Delaware River Waterfront Corporation, and PAID are presented discretely.

Fund Accounting

Funds are groupings of activities that enable the City to maintain control over resources that have
been segregated for particular purposes or objectives. All of the funds of the City can be divided into
three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds. The governmental funds are used to account for the financial activity of
the City’s basic services, such as: general government; economic and neighborhood development; public
health, welfare and safety; cultural and recreational; and streets, highways and sanitation. The funds’
financial activities focus on a short-term view of the inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well




as on the balances of spendable resources available at the end of the Fiscal Year. The financial
information presented for the governmental funds is useful in evaluating the City’s short-term financing
requirements.

The City maintains 22 individual governmental funds. The City’s CAFRs, including the City’s
CAFR for Fiscal Year 2016 (the “Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR”), present data separately for the General Fund,
Grants Revenue Fund, and Health Choices Behavioral Health Fund, which are considered to be major
funds. Data for the remaining 19 funds are combined into a single aggregated presentation.

Proprietary Funds. The proprietary funds are used to account for the financial activity of the
City’s operations for which customers are charged a user fee; they provide both a long- and short-term
view of financial information. The City maintains three enterprise funds that are a type of proprietary
fund — airport, water and wastewater operations, and industrial land bank.

Fiduciary Funds. The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employees’ pension plans. It is also
responsible for PGW’s employees’ retirement reserve assets. Both of these fiduciary activities are
reported in the City’s CAFRs, including the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR, as separate financial statements of
fiduciary net assets and changes in fiduciary net assets.

See “CITY FINANCES AND FINANCIAL PROCEDURES” for a further description of these
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary funds.

Budget Procedure

At least 90 days before the end of the Fiscal Year, the operating budget for the next Fiscal Year is
prepared by the Mayor and submitted to City Council for adoption. The budget, as adopted, must be
balanced and provide for discharging any estimated deficit from the current Fiscal Year and make
appropriations for all items to be funded with City revenues. The Mayor’s budgetary estimates of
revenues for the ensuing Fiscal Year and projection of surplus or deficit for the current Fiscal Year may
not be altered by City Council. Not later than the passage of the operating budget ordinance, City Council
must enact such revenue measures as will, in the opinion of the Mayor, yield sufficient revenues to
balance the budget.

At least 30 days before the end of the Fiscal Year, City Council must adopt by ordinance an
operating budget and a capital budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year and a capital program for the six
ensuing Fiscal Years. If the Mayor disapproves the bills, he must return them to City Council with the
reasons for his disapproval at the first meeting thereof held not less than ten days after he receives such
bills. If the Mayor does not return the bills within the time required, they become law without his
approval. If City Council passes the bills by a vote of two-thirds of all of its members within seven days
after the bills have been returned with the Mayor’s disapproval, they become law without his approval.
While the City Charter requires that City Council adopt the ordinances for the operating and capital
budgets at least 30 days before the end of the Fiscal Year, in practice, such ordinances are often adopted
after such deadline, but before the end of such Fiscal Year. For example, the City’s Fiscal Year 2018
operating budget ordinance was presented to City Council on March 2, 2017, approved by City Council
on June 15, 2017, and signed by the Mayor on June 21, 2017. There is no practical consequence to
adopting the budget ordinances after the deadline in the City Charter, but before the end of the Fiscal
Year.

The capital program is prepared annually by the City Planning Commission to present the capital
expenditures planned for each of the six ensuing Fiscal Years, including the estimated total cost of each
project and the sources of funding (local, state, federal, and private) estimated to be required to finance



each project. The capital program is reviewed by the Mayor and transmitted to City Council for adoption
with his recommendation thereon. The Capital Program ordinance for Fiscal Years 2018-2023 (the
“Fiscal Year 2018-2023 Adopted Capital Program”) was approved by City Council on June 15, 2017, and
signed by the Mayor on June 21, 2017.

The capital budget ordinance, authorizing in detail the capital expenditures to be made or incurred
in the ensuing Fiscal Year from City Council appropriated funds, is adopted by City Council concurrently
with the capital program. The capital budget must be in full conformity with that part of the capital
program applicable to the Fiscal Year that it covers.

(3

For information on the City’s Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget (as defined below), see “—
Current Financial Information — Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year
Plan” herein. For information on the City’s capital program, see “CITY CAPITAL PROGRAM” herein.

Budget Stabilization Reserve

In April 2011, the City adopted an amendment to the City Charter that established the “Budget
Stabilization Reserve.” The City Charter provides that the annual operating budget ordinance is required
to provide for appropriations to a Budget Stabilization Reserve, to be created and maintained by the
Director of Finance as a separate fund, which may not be commingled with any other funds of the City.
Appropriations to the Budget Stabilization Reserve are required to be made each Fiscal Year if the
projected General Fund balance for the upcoming Fiscal Year equals or exceeds three percent of General
Fund appropriations for such Fiscal Year. City Council can appropriate additional amounts to the Budget
Stabilization Reserve by ordinance, no later than at the time of passage of the annual operating budget
ordinance and only upon recommendation of the Mayor. Total appropriations to the Budget Stabilization
Reserve are subject to a limit of five percent of General Fund appropriations. Amounts in the Budget
Stabilization Reserve from the prior Fiscal Years, including any investment earnings certified by the
Director of Finance, are to remain on deposit therein.

Since the establishment of the Budget Stabilization Reserve, no annual operating budget
ordinance has included a provision to fund the Budget Stabilization Reserve because the conditions that
would require the funding of such reserve have not been met.

Annual Financial Reports

The City is required by the City Charter to issue, within 120 days after the close of each Fiscal
Year, a statement as of the end of the Fiscal Year showing the balances in all funds of the City, the
amounts of the City’s known liabilities, and such other information as is necessary to furnish a true
picture of the City’s financial condition (the “Annual Financial Reports”). The Annual Financial Reports,
which are released on or about October 28 of each year, are intended to meet these requirements and are
unaudited. As described above, the audited financial statements of the City are contained in its CAFR,
which is published at a later date. The Annual Financial Reports contain financial statements for all City
governmental funds and blended component units presented on the modified accrual basis. The
proprietary and fiduciary funds are presented on the full accrual basis. They also contain budgetary
comparison schedules for those funds that are subject to an annual budget. The financial statements of the
City’s discretely presented component units that are available as of the date of the Annual Financial
Reports are also presented. Historically, the results for General Fund fund balance have not materially
changed between the Annual Financial Reports and the CAFRs.



The Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2017 was released on October 27, 2017 (the “FY
2017 AFR (Unaudited)”). The City’s CAFR for Fiscal Year 2017 is expected to be filed with the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) as soon as practicable after delivery of such report
(expected to be no later than February 25, 2018). See “CITY FINANCES AND FINANCIAL PROCEDURES —
Current City Disclosure Practices.”

Five-Year Plans of the City

The PICA Act requires the City to annually prepare a financial plan that includes projected
revenues and expenditures of the principal operating funds of the City for five Fiscal Years consisting of
the current Fiscal Year and the subsequent four Fiscal Years. Each five-year plan, which must be
approved by PICA, is required to, among other things, eliminate any projected deficits, balance the Fiscal
Year budgets and provide procedures to avoid fiscal emergencies. For information on the Revised
Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan (as defined below), see “— Current Financial Information — Fiscal Year
2018 Adopted Budget and Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan.”

Quarterly Reporting to PICA

The PICA Act requires the City to prepare and submit quarterly reports to PICA so that PICA
may determine whether the City is in compliance with the then-current five-year plan. Each quarterly
report is required to describe actual or current estimates of revenues, expenditures, and cash flows
compared to budgeted revenues, expenditures, and cash flows by covered funds for each month in the
previous quarter and for the year-to-date period from the beginning of the then-current Fiscal Year of the
City to the last day of the fiscal quarter or month, as the case may be, just ended. Each such report is
required to explain any variance existing as of such last day.

Under the PICA Agreement, a “variance” is deemed to have occurred as of the end of a reporting
period if (i) a net adverse change in the fund balance of a covered fund (i.e., a principal operating fund) of
more than 1% of the revenues budgeted for such fund for that Fiscal Year is reasonably projected to
occur, such projection to be calculated from the beginning of the Fiscal Year for the entire Fiscal Year, or
(i) the actual net cash flows of the City for a covered fund are reasonably projected to be less than 95%
of the net cash flows of the City for such covered fund for that Fiscal Year originally forecast at the time
of adoption of the budget, such projection to be calculated from the beginning of the Fiscal Year for the
entire Fiscal Year.

PICA may not take any action with respect to the City for variances if the City: (i) provides a
written explanation of the variance that PICA deems reasonable; (ii) proposes remedial action that PICA
believes will restore overall compliance with the then-current five-year plan; (iii) provides information in
the immediately succeeding quarterly financial report demonstrating to the reasonable satisfaction of
PICA that the City is taking remedial action and otherwise complying with the then-current five-year
plan; and (iv) submits monthly supplemental reports until it regains compliance with the then-current
five-year plan.

PICA last declared a variance in February 2009 and that variance was cured. A failure by the
City to explain or remedy a variance would, upon certification by PICA, require the Secretary of the
Budget of the Commonwealth to withhold funds due to the City from the Commonwealth or any of its
agencies (including, with certain exceptions, all grants, loans, entitlements and payments payable to the
City by the Commonwealth, including payment of the portion of the PICA Tax, as further described
under “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds” below, otherwise payable to the City). The City uses its
Quarterly City Manager’s Reports to satisfy the quarterly reporting requirement to PICA. Such reports
are released within 45 days following the end of the applicable quarter and the most recent versions of



such reports are available on the City’s Investor Website (as defined herein). The most recent Quarterly
City Manager’s Report is the report for the period ending September 30, 2017, which was released on
November 15, 2017 (the “First Quarter QCMR”). The next Quarterly City Manager’s Report will be the
report for the period ending December 31, 2017, and is expected to be released on or about February 15,
2018.

Summary of Operations

The following table presents the summary of operations for the General Fund for Fiscal Years
2013-2017 and budgeted amounts and current estimates for Fiscal Year 2018. For a description of the
legally enacted basis on which the City’s budgetary process accounts for certain transactions, see “CITY
FINANCES AND FINANCIAL PROCEDURES — Budgetary Accounting Practices.” “Current Estimate,” as
used in the tables and text below, refers (except as otherwise indicated) to the most recently revised
estimates for Fiscal Year 2018, which were published by the City on November 15, 2017, as part of the
First Quarter QCMR. Elsewhere in this APPENDIX A, the “Current Estimate” for Fiscal Year 2017 is
derived from the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan and is noted as such where applicable.
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Table 1
General Fund
Summary of Operations (Legal Basis)
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®-®

Unaudited Adopted Current
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget Estimate
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018
Revenues
Real Property Taxes® 540.5 526.4 536.4 571.6 587.1 651.5 651.5
Wage and Earnings Tax 1,221.5 1,261.6 1,325.8 1,373.0 1,448.9 1,464.6 1,492.7
Net Profits Tax 19.2 16.3 21.2 254 223 29.7 29.6
Business Income and Receipts Tax 450.9 461.7 438.2 474.2 417.5 489.9 4522
Sales Tax® 257.6 263.1 149.5 169.4 188.4 198.1 198.1
Other Taxes® 243.7 266.9 305.9 353.0 367.7 372.2 380.6
Philadelphia Beverage Tax® 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 39.5 924 924
Total Taxes 2.733.5 2,795.9 2,771.0 2,966.6 30714 3,298.3 3,297.1
Locally Generated Non-Tax Revenue 266.2 301.8 294.4 291.0 309.5 307.1 302.9
Revenue from Other Governments
Net PICA Taxes Remitted to the City!” 314.0 318.7 346.5 383.4 409.5 419.2 427.6
Other Revenue from Other Governments® 337.5 3473 302.8 305.6 307.7 316.3 316.6
Total Revenue from Other Governments 651.5 666.0 649.3 689.1 717.2 735.5 744.3
Receipts from Other City Funds 46.8 42.0 39.0 42.3 60.1 64.2 64.2
Total Revenue 3,698.0 3.805.6 3,759.8 3,989.0 4,158.2 4.405.1 4.408.4
Obligations/Appropriations
Personal Services 1,362.4 1,450.6 1,508.7 1,562.6 1,589.0 1,628.9 1,651.1
Purchase of Services® 757.8 787.6 810.6 822.2 851.4 935.1 936.8
Materials, Supplies and Equipment 85.4 88.8 90.6 92.1 94.4 105.7 108.0
Employee Benefits 1,119.1 1,194.1 1,099.5 1,181.312  1241.0 1,307.809  1,296.20%
Indemnities, Contributions, and Refunds"? 138.3 208.6 150.7 192.7 186.6 196.0 196.0
City Debt Service!') 118.9 122.5 132.0 132.1 140.9 157.3 157.3
Payments to Other City Funds 31.5 34.4 39.4 32.8 36.5 36.0 36.0
Advances & Miscellaneous Payments / Labor Reserve 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 20.09 0.0
Advances & Miscellaneous Payme 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.919 50.919
Total Obligations/Appropriations 3.613.3 3.886.6 3.831.5 4,015.8 4.139.8 4.437.7 44324
Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the Year 84.7 (80.9) (71.7) (26.8) 18.4 (32.6) (24.0)
Net Adjustments — Prior Year 254 26.1 21.1 23.6 22.5 19.5 19.5
Cumulative Fund Balance Prior Year 146.8 256.9 202.1 151.5 1483 88.617 189.20M
Cumulative Adjusted Year End Fund Balance (Deficit) 256.9 202.1 151.5 1483 189.207 75.5 184.8
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Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited) and the First Quarter QCMR. For Fiscal Year 2018
(Adopted Budget), the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget. For Fiscal Year 2018 (Current Estimate), the First Quarter QCMR.

Figures may not sum due to rounding.

The amount for Fiscal Year 2013 reflects a 3.6% increase in the Real Estate Tax rate. The amounts for Fiscal Year 2014 and thereafter reflect a reduction in the Real Estate Tax rate, but
also an increase in the assessed value of all taxable real property resulting from a citywide property reassessment. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Real Property Taxes Assessment and
Collection.”

The amounts for Fiscal Years 2013-2014 reflect a 1% increase in the City Sales Tax effective October 8, 2009, which expired June 30, 2014. Fiscal Year 2015 figures include remaining
1% City Sales Tax, an additional $15,000,000 for debt service, plus any amounts designated for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

Includes Amusement Tax, Real Property Transfer Tax, Parking Lot Tax, Smokeless Tobacco Tax and miscellaneous taxes.

The Philadelphia Beverage Tax (as defined herein) taxes the distribution of certain beverages at 1.5 cents per ounce and became effective January 1, 2017. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY —
Other Taxes” for a discussion of litigation relating to the Philadelphia Beverage Tax.

For a detailed breakdown of “Net PICA Taxes Remitted to the City,” see Table 43. Such figures reflect revenues received by the City from the PICA Tax of 1.50%, the proceeds of which
are remitted to PICA for payment of debt service on PICA bonds and PICA expenses. After paying debt service and expenses, net proceeds from the tax are remitted to the City as
Revenue from Other Governments. See “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds.”

For a detailed breakdown of “Other Revenue from Other Governments,” see Table 12. “Other Revenue from Other Governments” includes state gaming revenues.

Includes debt service on lease and service agreement financings.

Includes contributions to the School District. See also Table 21 and the accompanying text herein.

Includes debt service on General Obligation Debt (as defined herein) and tax and revenue anticipation notes; excludes debt service on PICA bonds and lease and service agreement
financings.

Includes $9.7 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

Includes $19.2 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

Assumes $24.0 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

The Labor Reserve is set aside for the potential costs of anticipated new labor agreements with certain of the City’s municipal unions. See “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — Overview of
City Employees.”

The Federal Funding Reserve is set aside to address certain federal funding that may become unavailable as a result of cuts in the federal budget or the implementation of other federal
policies that may affect federal funding for the City.

In the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget, the City projected that Fiscal Year 2017 would end with a General Fund balance of $88.6 million. In the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited), the City
reported that Fiscal Year 2017 ended with a General Fund balance of $189.2 million. Such number has been included as the “Cumulative Fund Balance Prior Year” in the First Quarter
QCMR.
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Current Financial Information

Table 2 below shows General Fund balances for Fiscal Year 2016, unaudited actual results for
Fiscal Year 2017, and budgeted amounts and current estimates for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 2

General Fund — Fund Balance Summary
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)®

Fiscal Year 2018
Fiscal Year 2016 Fiscal Year 2017 Fiscal Year 2018 Current
Actual® Unaudited Actual® Adopted Budget® Estimate®
(June 30, 2016) (October 27, 2017) (June 21, 2017) (November 15, 2017)
REVENUES
Taxes $2,966,648 $3,071,422© $3,298,332© $3,297,081©
Locally Generated Non — Tax Revenues 290,990 309,481 307,058 302,888
Revenue from Other Governments 689,076 717,229 735,524 744,257
Revenues from Other Funds of City 42,253 60,072 64,191 64,191
Total Revenue $3,988,967 $4,158,204 $4,405,105 $4,408.417
OBLIGATIONS / APPROPRIATIONS
Personal Services 1,562,628 1,589,003 1,628,903 1,651,079
Personal Services — Employee Benefits 1,181,265 1,240,989 1,307,799 1,296,249
Purchase of Services® 822,159 851,447 935,078 936,835
Materials, Supplies, and Equipment 92,086 94,408 105,678 107,957
Contributions, Indemnities, and Taxes 192,729 186,559 196,010 196,010
Debt Service® 132,089 140,893 157,322 157,322
Payments to Other Funds 32,839 36,493 36,026 36,026
Advances & Miscellaneous Payments 0 0 70,8930 50,8930
Total Obligations / Appropriations $4,015,795 $4,139,792 $4,437,709 $4,432,371
Operating Surplus (Deficit) (26,828) 18,412 (32,604) (23,954)
OPERATIONS IN RESPECT TO
PRIOR FISCAL YEARS
Net Adjustments — Prior Years 23.612 22,516 19,500 19,500
Operating Surplus/(Deficit) & Prior Year Adj. (3,216) 0 (13,104) (4,454)
Prior Year Fund Balance 151,531 148,315 88.596(12) 189,243(12)
Year End Fund Balance $148,315 $189,243"> $75,492 $184,789
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©
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Figures may not sum due to rounding.

From the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.

From the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited).

From the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget.

From the First Quarter QCMR.

For Fiscal Year 2017, assumes $39.5 million in revenue from the Philadelphia Beverage Tax. For Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and Fiscal Year 2018
Current Estimate, assumes $92.4 million in revenue from such tax. The Philadelphia Beverage Tax taxes the distribution of certain beverages at 1.5 cents per
ounce and became effective January 1, 2017. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Other Taxes” for a discussion of litigation relating to the Philadelphia Beverage Tax.
For Fiscal Year 2016 Actual, includes $9.7 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. For Fiscal Year 2017, includes $19.2 million
from such tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. For Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and Fiscal Year 2018 Current Estimate, assumes $24.0 million
from such tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

Includes debt service on lease and service agreement financings.

Includes debt service on General Obligation Debt (as defined herein) and tax and revenue anticipation notes; excludes debt service on PICA bonds and lease and
service agreement financings.

Includes (i) $20.0 million for the Labor Reserve, which is set aside for the potential costs of anticipated new labor agreements with certain of the City’s municipal
unions (see “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — Overview of City Employees™), and (ii) $50.9 million for the Federal Funding Reserve, which is set aside to address
certain federal funding that may become unavailable as a result of cuts in the federal budget or the implementation of other federal policies that may affect federal
funding for the City.

Includes $50.9 million for the Federal Funding Reserve, which is set aside to address certain federal funding that may become unavailable as a result of cuts in the
federal budget or the implementation of other federal policies that may affect federal funding for the City.

In the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget, the City projected that Fiscal Year 2017 would end with a General Fund balance of $88.596 million. In the FY 2017
AFR (Unaudited), the City reported that Fiscal Year 2017 ended with a General Fund balance of $189.243 million. Such number has been included as the “Prior
Year Fund Balance” in the First Quarter QCMR.



The following discussion of the unaudited actual results for Fiscal Year 2017, the Fiscal Year
2018 Adopted Budget, the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, and the First Quarter QCMR, as
applicable, is based, in part, on projections and forward-looking statements related to Fiscal Years
2017 and 2018. No assurance can be given that the applicable budget estimates and forward-looking
statements will be realized. The accuracy of such budget estimates and forward-looking statements
cannot be verified until after the close of the applicable Fiscal Year and the completion of the related
audit.

Fiscal Year 2017 Unaudited Actual Results. The unaudited actual results for Fiscal Year 2017
are derived from information included in the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited).

In the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited), the City reported that Fiscal Year 2017 ended with a General
Fund balance of $189.2 million, approximately $100.6 million higher than estimated in the Revised
Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan.

Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. On March 2, 2017,
Mayor Kenney submitted his proposed Fiscal Year 2018 budget to City Council, along with the proposed
five-year plan for Fiscal Years 2018-2022. On June 15, 2017, City Council approved the Fiscal Year
2018 operating budget ordinance, which was signed by the Mayor on June 21, 2017 (the “Fiscal Year
2018 Adopted Budget”).

Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. On June 19, 2017, the City submitted to PICA its FY
2018-2022 Five Year Financial Plan Per Council Approved Budget (the “Original Twenty-Sixth Five-
Year Plan”). In the Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, the City set forth certain priorities, including:
(i) protecting the City’s most vulnerable populations; (ii) increasing public safety in all neighborhoods;
(ii1) ensuring City government runs efficiently and effectively; (iv) improving economic opportunities for
City residents; (v) making progress on initiatives funded by the Philadelphia Beverage Tax; and (vi)
improving the fiscal health of the City with a focus on program-based budgeting and General Fund
balance.

The Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan also included (i) a $200.0 million Labor Reserve (the
“Labor Reserve”) for potential costs of anticipated new labor agreements with certain of the City’s
municipal unions (see “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — Overview of City Employees™), and (ii) a $274.6
million Federal Funding Reserve (the “Federal Funding Reserve”) to address certain federal funding that
may become unavailable as a result of cuts in the federal budget or the implementation of other federal
policies that may affect federal funding for the City.

On July 18, 2017, PICA approved the Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. PICA staff, in
recommending that PICA approve the Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, noted that the revenue and
expenditure projections presented in the Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan were [quoting from the
PICA Act] “based on reasonable and appropriate assumptions and methods of estimation . . . consistently
applied.” The PICA staff report concluded that “PICA is confident that the [Original Twenty-Sixth Five-
Year Plan] is based on reasonable assumptions, which will ultimately result in positive fund balances over
each of the five years presented” in the Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. The PICA report did,
however, note that there are certain risk factors present, which include: (i) labor costs that are likely to
exceed projections; (ii) the possibility of a decline in economic growth; (iii) rising pension costs; (iv)
accelerating cost growth in employee health benefits; and (v) Business Income and Receipts Tax
(“BIRT”) volatility. The PICA staff report also highlighted certain other financial concerns that could
impact the City’s financial condition, including, among others, low General Fund balance and the
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financial stability of the School District (which is projected to have a budget deficit of nearly $1.0 billion
by Fiscal Year 2022).

New Labor Agreement. On August 15, 2017, a labor arbitration panel awarded FOP Lodge No. 5
a new three-year contract (the “FOP Lodge No. 5 Labor Contract”) reflecting annual raises ranging from
3.25% to 3.75%, resulting in a projected aggregate cost to the City of approximately $247.5 million
during Fiscal Years 2018-2022. As set forth above in Tables 1 and 2 in APPENDIX A, at footnotes 15 and
10, respectively, the City included $20 million of the Labor Reserve in the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted
Budget. Additionally, as part of the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget, the City included a Federal
Funding Reserve of approximately $50.9 million and projected a year-end General Fund balance of
approximately $75.5 million for Fiscal Year 2018. For Fiscal Year 2018, the City has determined that the
impact of the FOP Lodge No. 5 Labor Contract is an additional cost of approximately $18.8 million.

Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. On September 5, 2017, the City submitted to PICA its FY
2018-2022 Five Year Financial Plan as Revised (the “Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan”’). While the
Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan includes adjustments to reflect the FOP Lodge No. 5 Labor
Contract, much of the information included in the Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan was unchanged.
PICA approved the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan on September 19, 2017.

PICA staff, in recommending that PICA approve the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan,
noted that the revenue and expenditure projections presented in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan
were [quoting from the PICA Act] “based on reasonable and appropriate assumptions and methods of
estimation . . . consistently applied.” The PICA staff report concluded that “despite lowered [General
Fund] balances in four of the five years presented in the [Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan], PICA is
confident that the [Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan] is based on reasonable assumptions.” In the
PICA staff report, PICA continued to stress the risk factors that were identified in its approval of the
Original Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan (as described above).

For Fiscal Years 2019-2022, the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan projects that the City will
end such Fiscal Years with General Fund balances (on the legally enacted basis) of $76.9 million (Fiscal
Year 2019), $29.4 million (Fiscal Year 2020), $31.0 million (Fiscal Year 2021), and $75.9 million (Fiscal
Year 2022). The City continues to face uncertainty regarding the pace of economic growth. The
estimated General Fund balances in Fiscal Years 2019-2022, which are low, could lead to financial risk.

Fiscal Year 2018 Current Estimate. The current estimate for Fiscal Year 2018 is derived from
information included in the First Quarter QCMR.

As noted above, in the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited), the City reported that Fiscal Year 2017 ended
with a General Fund balance of $189.2 million, approximately $100.6 million higher than estimated in the
Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. For Fiscal Year 2018, the First Quarter QCMR projects that the
City will end such Fiscal Year with a General Fund balance (on the legally enacted basis) of $184.8
million, approximately $107.5 million higher than estimated in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan.

Such higher than anticipated General Fund balance is mostly due to a higher ending General Fund
balance from Fiscal Year 2017. Although this is positive for the City’s fiscal situation, many of the
factors that caused the better than anticipated performance in Fiscal Year 2017 are unlikely to recur,
including (i) savings in health care costs, which could be impacted by potential changes at the federal
level; (ii) lower debt service costs; and (iii) reserved expenditures associated with the Philadelphia
Beverage Tax litigation, which are expected to be spent when the litigation related to such tax is resolved.
See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Other Taxes” for a discussion of such litigation. The projected General
Fund balance for Fiscal Year 2018 is also higher than previous estimates due to the inclusion of certain
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budget reductions and updated revenue projections. The City faces many anticipated challenges that
could impact its finances and such challenges are expected to be addressed during the budget process for
Fiscal Year 2019.

For more information on the City’s annual budget process under the City Charter and the five-
year financial plans and quarterly reporting required under the PICA Act, see “— Budget Procedure,”
“— Five-Year Plans of the City,” and “— Quarterly Reporting to PICA,” above.

CITY FINANCES AND FINANCIAL PROCEDURES

Except as otherwise noted, the financial statements, tables, statistics, and other information shown
below have been prepared by the Office of the Director of Finance and can be reconciled to the financial
statements in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR and notes therein. The Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR was prepared
by the Office of the Director of Finance in conformance with guidelines adopted by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ audit guide,
Audits of State and Local Government Units.

General

Governmental funds account for their activities using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both
measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal
period. Expenditures are generally recorded when a liability is incurred, as in the case of full accrual
accounting. Debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and
claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due; however, those expenditures may be
accrued if they are to be liquidated with available resources.

Imposed non-exchange revenues, such as real estate taxes, are recognized when the enforceable
legal claim arises and the resources are available. Derived tax revenues, such as wage, BIRT, net profits
and earnings taxes, are recognized when the underlying exchange transaction has occurred and the
resources are available. Grant revenues are recognized when all the applicable eligibility requirements
have been met and the resources are available. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable
and available only when cash is received by the City.

Revenue that is considered to be program revenue includes: (i) charges to customers or applicants
for goods received, services rendered or privileges provided; (ii) operating grants and contributions; and
(iii) capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues
rather than as program specific revenues; therefore, all taxes are considered general revenues.

The City’s financial statements reflect the following three funds as major Governmental Funds:

e The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources
of the general government, except those required to be accounted for in other funds.

e The Health Choices Behavioral Health Fund accounts for resources received from the
Commonwealth. These resources are restricted to providing managed behavioral health care
to residents of the City.



e The Grants Revenue Fund accounts for the resources received from various federal,
Commonwealth, and private grantor agencies. The resources are restricted to accomplishing
the various objectives of the grantor agencies.

In Fiscal Year 2012, the City transferred the majority of the Department of Human Services
(“DHS”) revenues and obligations to the Grants Revenue Fund.

The City also reports on permanent funds, which are used to account for resources legally held in
trust for use by the park and library systems of the City. There are legal restrictions on the resources of
the permanent funds that require the principal to remain intact, while only the earnings may be used for
the programs.

The City reports on the following fiduciary funds:

e The Municipal Pension Fund accumulates resources to provide pension benefit payments to
qualified employees of the City and certain other quasi-governmental organizations.

e The Philadelphia Gas Works Retirement Reserve Fund accounts for contributions made by
PGW to provide pension benefit payments to its qualified employees under its pension plan.
For more information on the PGW Pension Plan (as defined herein), see “PGW PENSION
PLAN.”

o The Escrow Fund accounts for funds held in escrow for various purposes.

e The Employees Health & Welfare Fund accounts for funds deducted from employees’
salaries for payment to various organizations.

e The Departmental Custodial Accounts account for funds held in custody by various
departments of the City.

The City reports on the following major proprietary funds:

o The Water Fund accounts for the activities related to the operation of the Water and
Wastewater Systems.

e The Aviation Fund accounts for the activities of the Airport System.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering
goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of
the Water Fund are charges for water and sewer service. The principal operating revenues of the Aviation
Fund are charges for the use of the City’s airports. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.

Current City Disclosure Practices

It is the City’s practice to file its CAFR, which contains the audited combined financial
statements of the City, in addition to certain other information, such as the City’s bond ratings and
information about upcoming debt issuances, with the MSRB as soon as practicable after delivery of such
report. For bonds issued in calendar year 2015 and after, the annual filing deadline is February 28; for



bonds issued prior to calendar year 2015, the annual filing deadline is 240 days after the end of the
respective Fiscal Year, being February 25. The Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR was filed with the MSRB on
February 24, 2017, through the MSRB’s Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system. The
Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR is attached hereto as APPENDIX B.

A wide variety of information concerning the City is available from publications and websites of
the City and others, including the City’s investor information website at http://www.phila.gov/investor
(the “City’s Investor Website”). Any such information that is inconsistent with the information set forth
in this Official Statement should be disregarded. No such information is a part of or incorporated into this
Official Statement.

Independent Audit and Opinion of the City Controller

The City Controller has examined and expressed opinions on the basic financial statements of the
City contained in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR. The City Controller has not participated in the preparation
of this Official Statement nor in the preparation of the budget estimates and projections and cash flow
statements and forecasts set forth in various tables contained in this Official Statement. Consequently, the
City Controller expresses no opinion with respect to any of the data contained in this Official Statement
other than what is contained in the basic financial statements of the City in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.

Budgetary Accounting Practices

The City’s budgetary process accounts for certain transactions on a basis other than generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). In accordance with the City Charter, the City has formally
established budgetary accounting control for its operating and capital improvement funds.

The operating funds of the City, consisting of the General Fund, nine Special Revenue Funds
(County Liquid Fuels Tax, Special Gasoline Tax, Health Choices Behavioral Health, Hotel Room Rental
Tax, Grants Revenue, Community Development, Car Rental Tax, Acute Care Hospital Assessment and
Housing Trust Funds) and two Enterprise Funds (Water and Aviation Funds), are subject to annual
operating budgets adopted by City Council. These budgets appropriate funds for all City departments,
boards and commissions by major class of expenditure within each department. Major classes are defined
as: (i) personal services; (ii) purchase of services; (iii) materials and supplies; (iv) equipment; (V)
contributions, indemnities, and taxes; (vi) debt service; (vii) payments to other funds; and (viii) advances
and other miscellaneous payments. The appropriation amounts for each fund are supported by revenue
estimates and take into account the elimination of accumulated deficits and the re-appropriation of
accumulated surpluses to the extent necessary. All transfers between major classes (except for materials
and supplies and equipment, which are appropriated together) must have City Council approval.
Appropriations that are not expended or encumbered at year-end are lapsed.

The City’s capital budget is adopted annually by City Council. The capital budget is appropriated
by project for each department. Requests to transfer appropriations between projects must be approved
by City Council. Any appropriations that are not obligated at year-end are either lapsed or carried
forward to the next Fiscal Year.

Schedules prepared on the legally enacted basis differ from the GAAP basis in that both
expenditures and encumbrances are applied against the current budget, adjustments affecting activity
budgeted in prior years are accounted for through fund balance or as reduction of expenditures and certain
interfund transfers and reimbursements are budgeted as revenues and expenditures. The primary
difference between the GAAP and legal (budgetary) fund balance is due to the timing of recognizing the
BIRT. The legal basis recognizes BIRT revenues in the Fiscal Year they are collected. The GAAP basis
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requires the City to recognize the BIRT revenues (which are primarily paid in April) for the calendar year
in which the BIRT taxes are due, requiring the City to defer a portion of the April payment into the next
Fiscal Year. For more information on BIRT, see “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Business Income and
Receipts Tax.”

REVENUES OF THE CITY
General

Prior to 1939, the City relied heavily on the real estate tax as the mainstay of its revenue system.
In 1932, the General Assembly adopted an act (commonly referred to as the Sterling Act) under which the
City is permitted to levy any tax that was not specifically pre-empted by the Commonwealth. Acting
under the Sterling Act and other Pennsylvania legislation, the City has taken various steps over the years
to reduce its reliance on real property taxes as a source of income, including: (i) enacting the wage,
earnings, and net profits tax in 1939; (ii) introducing a sewer service charge to make the sewage treatment
system self-sustaining after 1945; (iii) requiring under the City Charter that the water, sewer, and other
utility systems be fully self-sustaining; (iv) enacting the Mercantile License Tax (a gross receipts tax on
business done within the City) in 1952, which was replaced as of the commencement of Fiscal Year 1985
by the Business Privilege Tax (renamed the Business Income and Receipts Tax in May 2012), and (v)
enacting the City Sales Tax (as defined herein) for City general revenue purposes effective beginning in
Fiscal Year 1992.

Major Revenue Sources

The City derives its revenues primarily from various taxes, non-tax revenues, and receipts from
other governments. See Table 3 for General Fund tax revenues for Fiscal Years 2013-2017, as well as the
budgeted amounts and current estimates for Fiscal Year 2018. The following discussion of the City’s
revenues does not take into account revenues in the non-debt related funds. The tax rates for Fiscal Years
2013 through 2016 are contained in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.

Table 3 provides a detailed breakdown of the “Total Taxes” line from Table 1 above. Table 3
does not include “Revenues from Other Governments,” which consists of “Net PICA Taxes Remitted to
the City” and “Other Revenue from Other Governments.” “Net PICA Taxes Remitted to the City” is set
forth in Table 1 and a detailed breakdown of such revenues is shown in Table 43. “Other Revenue from
Other Governments” is set forth in Table 1 and a detailed breakdown of such revenues is shown in Table
12.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Table 3
General Fund Tax Revenues
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
(Amounts in Millions of USD) ():®-®

Unaudited Adopted  Current

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget  Estimate
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018

Real Property Taxes®
Current $504.2 $483.9 $493.1 $521.2 $542.9 $602.1 $602.1
Prior 36.3 42.5 434 50.4 44.2 49.3 49.3
Total $540.5% $526.4 $536.4 $571.6 $587.1 $651.5 $651.5
Wage and Earnings Tax‘®
Current $1,219.5 $1,255.9 $1,318.8 $1,364.6  $1,440.6 $1,457.4 $1,485.5
Prior 2.0 5.7 7.1 8.4 8.3 7.2 7.2
Total $1.221.5 $1,261.6 $1,325.8 $1,373.0  $1,4489 $1,464.6 $1,492.7
Business Taxes
Business Income and Receipts Tax
Current & Prior $450.9 $461.7 $438.2 $474.2 $417.5 $489.9 $452.2
Net Profits Tax
Current $17.2 $13.2 $14.7 $23.3 $25.3 $26.6 -
Prior 1.9 3.1 6.5 2.1 (3.0) 3.1 -
Subtotal Net Profits Tax $19.2 $16.3 $21.2 $25.4 $22.3 $29.7 $29.6
Total Business and Net Profits Taxes $470.1 $478.0 $459.4 $499.6 $439.8 $519.6 $481.8
Other Taxes
Sales and Use Tax© $257.6 $263.1 $149.5 $169.4 $188.4 $198.1 $198.1
Amusement Tax 19.1 20.0 19.0 19.4 20.6 22.1 22.1
Real Property Transfer Tax 148.0 168.1 203.4 237.3 2473 2429 255.6
Parking Taxes 73.3 75.1 79.7 92.7 96.1 103.7 99.5
Other Taxes 3.4 3.7 3.8 3.6 3.8 3.4 3.4
Subtotal Other Taxes $501.3 $530.0 $455.4 $522.4 $556.1 $570.3 $578.7
Philadelphia Beverage Tax? 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 39.5 92.4 92.4

TOTAL TAXES $2.733.5 $2,7959 $2,777.0 $2,966.6  $3,071.4 $3.2983 $3.,297.1

M Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the FY 2017 AFR
(Unaudited). For Fiscal Year 2018 (Adopted Budget), the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget. For Fiscal Year 2018 (Current
Estimate), the First Quarter QCMR.

@ See Table 7 in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR for tax rates.

®  Figures may not sum due to rounding.

@ The amount for Fiscal Year 2013 reflects a 3.6% increase in the Real Estate Tax rate. The amounts for Fiscal Year 2014 and
thereafter reflect a reduction in the Real Estate Tax rate, but also an increase in the assessed value of all taxable real property
resulting from a citywide property reassessment. See “— Real Property Taxes Assessment and Collection.”

©®  Does not include the PICA Tax of 1.50%, the proceeds of which are remitted to PICA for payment of debt service on PICA
Bonds and PICA expenses. After paying debt service and expenses, net proceeds from the tax are remitted to the City as
Revenue from Other Governments. See “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds” for a description of the PICA Tax.

©  The amounts for Fiscal Years 2013-2014 reflect a 1% increase in the City Sales Tax effective October 8, 2009, which expired
June 30, 2014. For Fiscal Years 2015-2018, figures include the remaining 1% City Sales Tax, an additional $15,000,000 for
debt service, plus any amounts designated for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “— Sales and Use Tax.”

(™ The Philadelphia Beverage Tax taxes the distribution of certain beverages at 1.5 cents per ounce and became effective January 1,
2017. See “— Other Taxes” for a discussion of litigation relating to the Philadelphia Beverage Tax.
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Wage, Earnings, and Net Profits Taxes

The largest tax revenue source (comprising more than 45% of all tax revenues in Fiscal Year
2016) is the wage, earnings and net profits tax. The wage and earnings tax is collected from all
employees working within City limits, and all City residents regardless of work location. The net profits
tax is collected on the net profits from the operation of a trade, business, profession, enterprise or other
activity conducted by individuals, partnerships, associations or estates and trusts within the City limits.
The following table sets forth the resident and non-resident wage, earnings and net profits tax rates for
Fiscal Years 2013-2018, the annual wage, earnings and net profits tax receipts in Fiscal Years 2013-2017
and the budgeted amount and current estimate of such receipts for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 4
Summary of Wage, Earnings and Net Profits Tax Rates and Receipts
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)®

Annual Wage, Earnings and Net Profits

Resident Wage, Earnings Non-Resident Wage, Earnings Tax Receipts (including PICA Tax)
Fiscal Year  and Net Profits Tax Rates® and Net Profits Tax Rates (Amounts in Millions of USD)®

2013 3.9280% 3.4985% $1,617.2 (Actual)

2014 3.9240% 3.4950% $1,662.3 (Actual)

2015 3.9200% 3.4915% $1,755.5 (Actual)

2016 3.9102% 3.4828% $1,842.9 (Actual)

2017 3.9004% 3.4741% $1,940.4 (Unaudited Actual)

2018 3.8907% 3.4654% $1,969.5 (Adopted Budget)

$2,005.9 (Current Estimate)

() See Table 7 in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR for tax rates.

@ Includes PICA Tax. See “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds” for a description of the PICA Tax.

®  Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for the City’s annual wage, earnings, and net profits and the City’s Quarterly City Manager’s Reports
for gross PICA Tax (see first column in Table 43). For Fiscal Year 2017, the First Quarter QCMR. For Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted
Budget and the First Quarter QCMR.

Commonwealth funding from gaming revenues is mandated by statute to be used to reduce the
resident and nonresident wage tax rate. Gaming revenues have averaged approximately $86.3 million in
Fiscal Years 2013-2016. For Fiscal Year 2017, the unaudited actual amount of gaming revenues is $86.3
million. For Fiscal Year 2018, the budgeted amount and current estimate of gaming revenues is $86.3
million. The wage tax rates in such Fiscal Years reflect a rate reduction due to these revenues.

See “— Proposed Tax Rate Changes” herein, for information regarding proposed wage and
earnings tax rate reductions commencing in Fiscal Year 2018 under the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year
Plan.

In a 2015 decision by the Supreme Court of the United States (Comptroliler of the Treasury of
Maryland v. Wynne, 135 S. Ct. 1787 (2015)), a state’s failure to provide certain credits against its
personal income tax was held to have violated the dormant Commerce Clause of the United States
Constitution. Such personal income tax was applied to income earned outside of the state of residency,
and residents were not given a credit for income taxes paid to the state where such income was earned,
resulting, in the circumstances presented, in taxing income earned interstate at a rate higher than income
earned intrastate. The City does not provide a credit to resident taxpayers against their respective wage,
earnings, and net profits tax liabilities for similar taxes paid to another jurisdiction. For 2016 and 2017,
the City has paid approximately $414,000 to resident taxpayers in connection with this matter.
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Business Income and Receipts Tax

In 1984, the Commonwealth passed legislation known as The First Class City Business Tax
Reform Act of 1984, authorizing City Council to impose a business tax measured by gross receipts, net
income or the combination of the two. The same year, City Council by ordinance repealed the Mercantile
License Tax and the General Business Tax and imposed the Business Privilege Tax. As of May 1, 2012,
the Business Privilege Tax was renamed the Business Income and Receipts Tax (the “BIRT”). Rental
activities are usually considered to be business activities. Every estate or trust (whether the fiduciary is an
individual or a corporation) must file a BIRT return if the estate or trust is engaged in any business or
activity for profit within the City.

The BIRT allows for particular allocations and tax computations for regulated industries, public
utilities, manufacturers, wholesalers and retailers. There are also credit programs where meeting the
requirement of the program allows for a credit against the BIRT. All persons subject to both the BIRT
and the net profits tax are entitled to apply a credit of 60% of the net income portion of their BIRT
liability against what is due on the net profits tax to the maximum of the net profits tax liability for that
tax year.

In November 2011, legislation was enacted to halt a previously enacted program of reducing the
gross receipts portion of the BIRT and to commence reductions in the net income portion of the BIRT to
take effect in tax year 2014 with changes phasing in through tax year 2023. The following table reflects
such changes and provides a summary of BIRT rates for tax years 2012-2023. Future scheduled
reductions in the net income portion of the BIRT remain subject to amendment by action of City Council
and the Mayor.

Table 5
Summary of Business Income and Receipts Tax Rates
Tax Year Gross Receipts Net Income
2012 1.415 mills 6.45%
2013 1.415 mills 6.45%
2014 1.415 mills 6.43%
2015 1.415 mills 6.41%
2016 1.415 mills 6.39%
2017 1.415 mills 6.35%
2018 1.415 mills 6.30%
2019 1.415 mills 6.25%
2020 1.415 mills 6.20%
2021 1.415 mills 6.15%
2022 1.415 mills 6.10%
2023 1.415 mills 6.00%

In addition, the 2011 legislation incorporated several changes intended to help small and medium
sized businesses and lower costs associated with starting a new business in order to stimulate new
business formation and increase employment in the City, including the following: (i) the Commercial
Activity License fee for all businesses was eliminated in 2014; (ii) business taxes for the first two years of
operations for all new businesses with at least three employees in their first year and six employees in
their second year were eliminated beginning in 2012; and (iii) across the board exclusions on the gross
receipts portion of the BIRT were provided for all businesses phased in over a three-year period
beginning in 2014 and eventually excluding the first $100,000 of gross receipts, along with proportional
reductions in the net income portion of the BIRT. The legislation also provides for implementation of
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single sales factor apportionment in 2015, which enables businesses to pay BIRT based solely on sales in
the City, rather than on property or payroll.

Real Property Taxes Assessment and Collection

A tax is levied on the assessed value of all taxable residential and commercial real property
located within the City’s boundaries (the “Real Estate Tax”) as assessed by the Office of Property
Assessment (“OPA”) and collected by the Department of Revenue. Real Estate Taxes are allocated to the
City and the School District with the millage split between the two taxes changing over the years. Real
Estate Taxes are levied on a calendar year basis. Bills are sent in December for the following year and
payments are due March 31. A discount of 1% is available for taxpayers who pay their Real Estate Taxes
on or before the last day of February.

Beginning in 2010, the City significantly changed the system used for assessing Real Estate Tax
in Philadelphia. On May 18, 2010, Philadelphia voters approved an amendment to the City Charter that
split the assessment and appeals functions, moving assessment functions into City government into a new
agency, OPA, and creating an independent board of appeals, replacing the Board of Revision of Taxes
(“BRT”), which previously combined both functions. OPA formally took over responsibility for
assessments in October 2010. However, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled on September 20, 2010,
that without an amendment to state law, the City did not have the authority to replace the BRT in its
capacity as an existing appeals board. Therefore, the BRT remains in place as the property assessment
appeals board; but the separation of the appeals function from the assessment function, which removed an
inherent conflict and was a key goal of the legislation, remains in place. The BRT is an independent,
seven-member board appointed by the Board of Judges of the Philadelphia Common Pleas Court.

For tax year 2014, under the Actual Value Initiative (“AVI”), all 579,000 properties in
Philadelphia were reassessed at their actual market value by OPA, replacing outdated values and
inequities within the system. As the new total assessed value of all properties more accurately reflected
the market in Philadelphia, the total assessment grew substantially. As a result, the Mayor and City
Council significantly reduced the tax rate to ensure that the reassessment resulted in the collection of
approximately the same amount of current year revenue as the prior year (the rates are shown in Table 6
below). Moreover, in order to make the tax bills more understandable, AVI removed the complicated
fractional system. Prior to AVI, tax bills were calculated by multiplying the certified market value by an
established predetermined ratio (“EPR”) multiplied by the tax rate. The last applicable EPR was 32%.

The changes in the system had implications for most property owners in the City. Under the old
assessment system, some properties were valued closer to their actual value than other properties.
Properties that had been valued closer to their actual value saw relatively smaller increases in assessments
and when those assessment changes were coupled with the much lower Real Estate Tax rate, they
produced tax decreases. On the other hand, properties that were relatively undervalued saw tax increases,
a small number of which were substantial.

In order to mitigate the hardship that could be created by those large increases, the ordinance
imposing the new Real Estate Tax rates included a homestead exemption of $30,000 for all primary
residential owner-occupants. Alternative programs are also available to reduce Real Estate Tax bills for
homeowners, including the Longtime Owner-Occupant Program (LOOP) to provide relief to longtime
owners with large increases and the ten-year tax abatement. In addition to the homestead exemption, the
City has also instituted several other property tax relief programs for taxpayers.
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The Real Estate Tax rates for tax years 2012-2018 are set forth in Table 6 below:

Table 6
Real Estate Tax Rates and Allocations
Tax Year City School District Total
2012 4.1230% 5.3090% 9.4320%
2013 4.4620% 5.3090% 9.7710%
2014m 0.6018% 0.7382% 1.3400%
2015M 0.6018% 0.7382% 1.3400%
20160 0.6317% 0.7681% 1.3998%
2017M 0.6317% 0.7681% 1.3998%
2018M 0.6317% 0.7681% 1.3998%

@ The reduction of the Real Estate Tax rates from tax year 2013 to tax year 2014 and succeeding tax
years reflects the City’s Actual Value Initiative.

For Fiscal Year 2016, the actual amount of Real Estate Tax revenue for the City was $521.2
million (excluding delinquent collections). For Fiscal Year 2017, the unaudited actual amount of Real
Estate Tax revenue for the City is $542.9 million (excluding delinquent collections). For Fiscal Year
2018, the budgeted amount and current estimate of Real Estate Tax revenue for the City is $602.1 million
(excluding delinquent collections). See Table 3 above.

Table 7 shows the assessed values of properties used for tax year 2016 and 2017 Real Estate
Taxes (both of which reflect the effect of AVI). Under AVI, the OPA certifies the market values by
March 31 of the prior year (that is, for tax year 2016, the OPA certified the market values on March 31,
2015). Taxpayers base their appeals on the certified market values, and therefore, the assessed values are
adjusted as the appeals are finalized. For budgetary purposes, the OPA provides an updated table to the
Office of the Director of Finance in December, from which tax rates are proposed.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Category
Residential

Residential
Residential

Total

Hotels and Apartments
Hotels and Apartments
Hotels and Apartments
Total

Store with Dwelling
Store with Dwelling
Store with Dwelling
Total

Commercial
Commercial
Commercial

Total

Industrial
Industrial
Industrial

Total

Vacant Land
Vacant Land
Vacant Land
Total

Grand Total

Table 7

Certified Property Values for Tax Years 2017 and 2018

Tax Year 2017*

Taxable Assessed

Tax Status
Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

* Certified Market Value as of 3/31/2016
** Based on revised market values for tax year 2017, as of 4/11/2017, the revised assessed value is $138,276,358,121 (based on

581,919 parcels).

Assessed Value

$27,239,032,724
5,656,888,300
35.439.456.377

Yalue
$27,239,032,724
1,584,639,283
27.462.644,199

$68,335,377.401

$11,309,938,300

$56,286,316.206

$11,309,938,300

2,732,361,800 781,802,004
3,144.407,300 1,009.817.435
$17,186,707.400  $13,101,557,739

$2,654,179,000

$2,654,179,000

113,049,600 49,070,436
410,214,200 295.454.160
$3,177,442,800 $2,998,703,596

$13,987,005,400

$13,987,005,400

2,474,106,400 787,638,368
24.712,736.300 430,585,920
$41,173,848,100  $15,205,22
$2,654,419300  $2,654,419,300
292,220,700 49,509,849
499.667.800 28.545.270
$3.446,307.800 $2.732,474.419

$1,397,808,735
42,839,500
1,921,166,000

$3,361,814,235

$136,681,497,736™
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$1,397,808,735
117,908
18,996,099

$1,416,922,742

$91,741,204,390

Number
Exempt Assessed of

Value Parcels
$0 227,596
4,072,249,017 13,906
7.976.812,178 231,790
$12,049,061,195 473,292
$0 21,819
1,950,559,796 768
2,134.,589.865 4.629
4 149,661 27,216
$0 12,611
63,979,164 211
114,760,040 1,830
$178,739,204 14,652
$0 9,873
1,686,468,032 426
24,282.150,380 4,358
2 18,412 14,657
$0 3,960
242,710,851 107
471,122,530 291
§713,833,381 4,358
$0 33,804
42,721,592 35
1,902,169.901 11.898
$1,944,891,493 45,737
$44,940,293,346 579,912



Category
Residential

Residential
Residential

Total

Hotels and Apartments
Hotels and Apartments
Hotels and Apartments

Total

Store with Dwelling
Store with Dwelling
Store with Dwelling
Total

Commercial
Commercial
Commercial

Total

Industrial
Industrial
Industrial

Total

Vacant Land
Vacant Land
Vacant Land
Total

Grand Total

Tax Status
Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

Fully Taxable
Abatement

Exemption

* Certified Market Value as of 3/31/2017.

Tax Year 2018*

Taxable Assessed Exempt Assessed Number of

Assessed Value Value Value Parcels
$28,834,307,863 $28,834,307,863 $0 233,860
5,583,248,300 1,573,935,559 4,009,312,741 13,061
34.743.873.838 26.942.483.841 7.801,389.997 227.450
$69,161,430,001 $57,350,727,263 $11.810,702,738 474,371
$15,522,233,388 $15,522,233,388 $0 21,960
4,433,514,680 1,479,167,632 2,954,347,048 850
3.817,077,100 1,169,583.571 2,647.493.529 4.584
$23,772,825.168 $18.170,984.591 $5,601.840.577 27,394
$3,104,975,030 $3,104,975,030 $0 12,830
155,607,400 69,866,381 85,741,019 224
416,206,725 293,689,072 122,517,653 1.686
$3,676,789,155 $3,468,530,483 $208,258,672 $14,740
$18,081,041,646 $18,081,041,646 $0 9,143
3,078,093,570 934,704,280 2,143,389,290 366
25.512,090.455 662,684,636 24.849.405,819 4,237
$46,671,225.671 $19.678,430.562 $26,992,795.109 $13.746
$3,378,308,625 $3,378,308,625 $0 4,240
693,382,830 397,776,002 295,606,828 89
583,057,900 34.885.062 548,172,838 202
$4,654,749,355 $3,810,969,689 $843,779,666 $4,531
$2,449,227,090 $2,449,227,090 $0 32,970
99,963,900 0 99,963,900 36
2,509.072,725 60,071,559 2.449.001.,166 12,345
$5,058.263,715 $2,509.298,649 $2,548,965.066 45,351
$152.995,283.065 $104,988,941,237 $48,006,341.828 380,133
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As part of the transition to the new assessment system, OPA set up a new process called a first
level review, where a taxpayer could request an administrative review of its assessment notice prior to
launching a formal appeal with the BRT. The BRT has the authority, following a formal appeal, to either
increase or decrease the property valuations contained in the return of the assessors in order that such
valuations conform with law. After all changes in property assessments, and after all assessment appeals,
assessments are certified and the results provided to the Department of Revenue.

On October 24, 2012, the Governor approved Act 160 (“Act 160”), which permits downward
adjustments to School District property tax and use and occupancy tax rates, solely to offset the higher
assessed values anticipated under AVI, and only to the extent the yield from such lower rates is no lower
than the highest tax yield in the previous three years. Act 160 permits such adjustment for the
reassessment year and the two years thereafter. Act 160 also precludes the School District from using its
direct authority to levy real estate taxes, separately granted by the General Assembly of the
Commonwealth, but only to the extent the City authorizes School District real estate taxes yielding an
amount not lower than total real estate taxes yielded in the year prior to the year of the revision of
assessments, adjusted to account for increases in assessed value since the first year of revision.

In 2014, City Council passed legislation intended to ease the transition to AVI, which provided,
for tax year 2014 only, that residential and commercial property owners who appeal their new property
assessments need only pay the prior year’s amount of Real Estate Tax and (if applicable) use and
occupancy tax, pending the assessment appeal. Interest and penalties would not accrue on the additional
2014 tax liability during the appeal, whether or not the appeal is ultimately successful.

For tax year 2017, OPA revised the assessed values of over 450,000 parcels throughout the City
as part of its reassessment.

For tax year 2018, OPA revised the assessed values of over 60,000 parcels throughout the City as
part of its reassessment. In September 2017, the owners of multiple commercial properties in the City
filed a lawsuit against the City in the Court of Common Pleas. The plaintiffs in such matter have alleged
that OPA violated the uniformity clause of the Pennsylvania Constitution in reassessing commercial
properties and not residential properties for tax year 2018. The plaintiffs are seeking declaratory relief, an
injunction, and an order directing OPA to recertify their properties at tax year 2017 values. The City
intends to defend this lawsuit. If plaintiffs were to succeed in this matter, the City expects that any relief
would only be granted prospectively, not resulting in the refund of any money. The Real Estate Taxes
associated with the increase of the taxable assessed values for the properties in question is more than
$14.9 million. For more general information on judgments and settlements on claims against the City, see
“LITIGATION.”

OPA plans to conduct a comprehensive reassessment of all properties in the City for tax year
2019 and each year thereafter.

Since 2010, the City has pursued a number of initiatives to improve the collection of Real Estate
Taxes, including (i) prompt correspondence with taxpayers with overdue Real Estate Taxes, (ii) using
outside collection firms to collect overdue Real Estate Taxes, (iii) sequestration of delinquent properties
occupied by commercial tenants, and (iv) tax lien sales.
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See Table 8 below for data with respect to Real Estate Taxes levied from 2012 to 2016 and
collected by the City from January 1, 2012 to June 30, 2016. See Table 9 for the assessed property values
of the City’s principal taxable assessed parcels in 2017. See Table 10 for the 2017 market and assessed
values of the ten highest valued taxable real properties in the City, as well as the amounts and duration of
Real Estate Tax abatements with respect to such properties.

Table 8
City of Philadelphia

Real Property Taxes Levied and Collected
For the Calendar Years 2012-2016
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®-®

Taxes Levied  Taxes Levied  Collections in Percentage Total Percentage
Based on Based on the Calendar Collectedin  Collections in  Collections to  Collected to
Calendar Original Adjusted Year of the Calendar Subsequent Date: All Date: All
Year Assessment®  Assessment® Levy© Year of Levy Years®- © Years® Years®
2012 $508.6 $491.1 $459.2 93.5% $22.7 $481.9 98.1%
2013 $554.0 $537.7 $505.6 94.0% $22.8 $528.4 98.3%
2014 $553.2 $515.4 $482.1 93.5% $21.2 $503.3 97.7%
2015 $547.4 $519.1 $489.1 94.2% $10.9 $500.0 96.3%
2016 $569.9 $552.7 $502.6 90.9% N/A $502.6 90.9%

O]
()

3)
)

(%)

(6)

Source: Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.
Real Estate Taxes are levied by the City and the School District. While this table reflects City General Fund Real Estate
Tax revenues exclusively, the School District Real Estate Tax collection rates are the same.
Taxes are levied on a calendar year basis. They are due on March 31.
Adjustments include assessment appeals, a 1% discount for payment in full by February 28, the senior citizen tax discount,

and the tax increment financing return of tax paid.
Includes payments from capitalization charges. This capitalization occurs one time, after the end of the first year of the

levy, on any unpaid balances.
For calendar year 2016, the data shown reflects collections through June 30, 2016. For earlier calendar years, the data

shown reflects collections through December 31 of the respective year.
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Table 9
Principal Taxable Assessed Parcels — 2017
(Amounts in Millions of USD)

2017
Percentage
of Total
Taxpayer Assessment®  Assessments
HUB Properties Trust $265.7 0.27%
Nine Penn Center Associates 232.6 0.24
Phila Liberty Place ELP 207.7 0.21
Philadelphia Market Street 203.7 0.21
Commerce Square Partners 178.2 0.18
Maguire / Thomas 170.1 0.17
SRI Eleven 1818 Market L 170.0 0.17
Franklin Mills Associates 163.2 0.17
Brandywine Operating 156.7 0.16
1700 Market Street Associates 142.4 0.15
Total $1.890.3 1.93%

Total Taxable Assessments 98,129.7

Source: City of Philadelphia, Office of Property Assessment.

M Figures may not sum due to rounding.

@ Assessment Values rounded to the nearest $100,000 and only include the largest assessed
property for each taxpayer, additional properties owned by the same taxpayer are not included.

& Total 2017 Taxable Assessment as of March 31, 2016.

Table 10
Ten Largest Certified Market and Assessment Values of Tax-Abated Properties
Certified Values for 2017
(Amounts in Millions of USD)’®

Total Exempt

2017 Certified Total Taxable Total Exempt Through

Location Market Value  Assessment Assessment Assessment Tax Year
1701 John F Kennedy Blvd. $212.5 $212.5 $9.1 $203.4 2017
1001-99 Delaware Ave. $158.4 $158.4 $46.8 $111.6 2020
1500-30 Spring Garden St. $138.7 $138.7 $106.0 $32.7 2020
1900-24 Arch St. $85.8 $85.8 $2.2 $83.6 2025
1338-48 Chestnut St. Unit 2 $80.0 $80.0 $57.1 $22.9 2017
819-41 Chestnut St. $76.8 $76.8 $72.6 $4.1 2024
2116 Chestnut St. $72.5 $72.5 $1.4 $71.1 2023
3400L Lancaster Ave. $69.7 $69.7 $0.0 $69.7 2025
2026-58 Market St. $65.0 $65.0 $8.4 $56.6 2023
1601 N 15t St. $64.2 $64.2 $0.5 $63.7 2017

Source: City of Philadelphia, Office of Property Assessment.

() Figures may not sum due to rounding.
@ Certified Values as of 3/31/2016.
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Sales and Use Tax

Pursuant to the authorization granted by the Commonwealth under the PICA Act, the City
adopted a 1% sales and use tax (the “City Sales Tax”) for City general revenue purposes effective
beginning in Fiscal Year 1992. It is imposed in addition to, and on the same basis as, the
Commonwealth’s sales and use tax. Vendors are required to pay City Sales Taxes to the Commonwealth
Department of Revenue together with the Commonwealth sales and use tax. The State Treasurer deposits
the collections of City Sales Taxes in a special fund and disburses the collections, including any
investment income earned thereon, less administrative fees of the Commonwealth Department of
Revenue, to the City on a monthly basis.

The City’s budgets for Fiscal Years 2010-2014 provided for an increase in the City Sales Tax rate
to 2%, as authorized by the Commonwealth effective October 8, 2009, through June 30, 2014. In July
2013, the Commonwealth authorized the implementation of a new, permanent 1% increase in the City
Sales Tax rate effective July 1, 2014, which was adopted by the City on June 12, 2014 and became
effective on July 1, 2014. Under the reauthorized City Sales Tax, the first $120 million collected from
such additional 1% is distributed to the School District. For Fiscal Years 2015-2018, the General
Assembly has also authorized the City to use the next $15 million of City Sales Tax revenues from such
additional 1% collected in such Fiscal Years for the payment of debt service on obligations issued by the
City for the benefit of the School District. Following any such debt service payments, that remaining
portion of the City Sales Tax revenues from such additional 1% distributed to the City is required to be
used exclusively in accordance with Act 205 (as defined herein) and deposited to the Municipal Pension
Fund.

In October 2014, the City, through PAID, issued $57.5 million in bonds to fund a portion of the
School District’s operating deficit for Fiscal Year 2015 and refund certain outstanding bonds that funded
a portion of the Fiscal Year 2014 operating deficit. The debt service on such bonds is approximately $15
million annually through Fiscal Year 2018 and the City expects to continue paying its obligations with
respect to such bonds with a combination of proceeds from the City Sales Tax revenues and other General
Fund revenues. Such City Sales Tax revenues are not pledged to the holders of such bonds. Such
funding by the City of a portion of the School District’s operating deficits for Fiscal Years 2014-2015,
and the related payment of debt service, does not require a comparable increase in grants by the City to
the School District in subsequent Fiscal Years. See “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — City Payments to
School District” and the paragraphs that follow Table 21.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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The following table sets forth the City Sales Taxes collected in Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and the
budgeted amount and current estimate for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 11
Summary of City Sales Tax Collections
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®

Fiscal Year City Sales Tax Collections
2013 (Actual) $257.6
2014 (Actual) $263.1
2015 (Actual) $149.5®
2016 (Actual) $169.4%
2017 (Unaudited Actual) $188.4@
2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate) $198.1®

M Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the FY 2017 AFR
(Unaudited). For Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and the First Quarter QCMR.

@ Net collections estimated to be distributed to the City from the first 1% City Sales Tax and following the distribution of $120
million of revenues from the second 1% City Sales Tax to the School District, as described above.

Other Taxes

The City also collects real property transfer taxes, parking taxes, an amusement tax, a valet
parking tax, an outdoor advertising tax, a smokeless tobacco tax, the Philadelphia Beverage Tax (see
below), and other miscellaneous taxes.

In June 2016, City Council passed the Philadelphia Beverage Tax (Chapter 19-4100 of the
Philadelphia Code) (the “Philadelphia Beverage Tax”). On October 31, 2016, the Department of Revenue
adopted regulations for the Philadelphia Beverage Tax. The Philadelphia Beverage Tax taxes the
distribution of certain beverages at 1.5 cents per ounce and became effective January 1, 2017.

The Philadelphia Beverage Tax is deposited into the General Fund, and with the additional
revenue, the City has budgeted additional funds for pre-Kindergarten, community schools, and debt
service for improvements to parks, playgrounds, recreation centers, and libraries. In the FY 2017 AFR
(Unaudited), the City reported that it collected approximately $39.5 million in revenues from the
Philadelphia Beverage Tax for Fiscal Year 2017. In the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, the City
projects for Fiscal Years 2018-2022 that it will collect approximately (i) $92.4 million (Fiscal Year 2018),
(i1) $92.5 million (Fiscal Year 2019), (iii) $92.6 million (Fiscal Year 2020), (iv) $92.1 million (Fiscal
Year 2021), and (v) $91.7 million (Fiscal Year 2022) in revenues from the Philadelphia Beverage Tax in
such Fiscal Years.

To date, the City has reserved a portion of the revenues it has collected from the Philadelphia
Beverage Tax while the litigation related thereto (as described below) is ongoing. The City expects to
spend such revenues when such litigation is resolved.

On September 14, 2016, a lawsuit challenging the Philadelphia Beverage Tax was filed by the
American Beverage Association and other co-plaintiffs in the Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas —
Trial Division — Civil. On December 19, 2016, the Court of Common Pleas dismissed the complaint in its
entirety. The plaintiffs appealed this ruling. On June 14, 2017, the Commonwealth Court of
Pennsylvania, which is one of the Commonwealth’s intermediate appellate courts, upheld the decision of
the Court of Common Pleas. The plaintiffs have petitioned the Pennsylvania Supreme Court to review
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this decision. The decision to grant or deny any such petition is at the discretion of the Pennsylvania
Supreme Court. Such petition is pending. For more general information on judgments and settlements on
claims against the City, see “LITIGATION.”

Improved Collection Initiative

The City is pursuing a multifaceted strategy designed to improve collections of various taxes
while decreasing delinquencies. Key compliance strategies continue to include revocation of commercial
licenses and sequestration and tax lien sales, among others.

In addition to compliance efforts, the City has launched two projects — one to implement
technology solutions for its cashiering and payments processing systems and another to develop an
integrated data warehouse and case management system. These initiatives are designed to improve
operational efficiencies and drive compliance efforts by providing tools currently unavailable to the City.

Other Locally Generated Non-Tax Revenues

These revenues include license fees and permit sales, traffic fines and parking meter receipts,
court related fees, stadium revenues, interest earnings and other miscellaneous charges and revenues of
the City.

Revenue from Other Governments

The following table presents revenues received from other governmental jurisdictions for Fiscal
Years 2013-2017, the budgeted amounts and current estimate for Fiscal Year 2018, and the percentage
such revenues represent in the General Fund. The table does not reflect substantial amounts of revenues
from other governments received by the Grants Revenue Fund, Community Development Fund, and other
operating and capital funds of the City.

Table 12
Revenue from Other Governmental Jurisdictions
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
@, 2),3)

(Dollar Amounts in Millions of USD)
Percentage of

Federal Other General Fund
Fiscal Year Commonwealth® Government Governments® Total Revenues
2013 (Actual) $233.6 $39.7 $64.2 $337.5 9.1%
2014 (Actual) $255.3 $31.0 $61.0 $347.3 9.1%
2015 (Actual) $212.7 $30.1 $60.0 $302.8 8.1%
2016 (Actual) $223.7 $29.7 $52.3 $305.6 7.7%
2017 (Unaudited Actual) - - - $307.7 7.4%
2018 (Adopted Budget) $221.4 $35.6 $59.3 $316.3 7.2%
2018 (Current Estimate) - - - $316.6 7.2%

M Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited). For Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year
2018 Adopted Budget, the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, and the First Quarter QCMR. A breakdown of revenues from the Commonwealth, the federal government,
and other governments is not available in the FY 2017 AFR (Unaudited) or the First Quarter QCMR.

@ Figures may not sum due to rounding.

@ Does not include the PICA Tax.

@ Such revenues are for health, welfare, court, and various other specified purposes.

) Such revenues primarily consist of payments from PGW, parking fines and fees from PPA, and other authorized adjustments.
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Proposals to Reduce Federal and/or State Funding

Sanctuary City. The following discussion of Senate Bill 10 and the Executive Order (each as
defined below) addresses proposed state legislation and a federal policy that may affect certain funding
for the City. The City is monitoring Senate Bill 10 and the Executive Order and the potential impact, if
any, such initiatives may have on City funding. Table 12 above presents certain revenues received
firom other governmental jurisdictions, including the Commonwealth and the federal government, and
the percentage such revenues represent in the General Fund.

Commonwealth Funding. Senate Bill No. 10, Session of 2017, was passed by the Pennsylvania
State Senate on February 7, 2017 (“Senate Bill 10”). Senate Bill 10 has been referred to the Judiciary
Committee of the Pennsylvania House of Representatives.

Senate Bill 10 proposes to amend certain provisions of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes, in
matters addressing municipalities of refuge and the eligibility of such municipalities to receive certain
Commonwealth funding, among other things. In such bill, a “municipality of refuge” is defined as “a
municipality that permits, requires or requests the release of an individual in the custody of the law
enforcement agency of the municipality notwithstanding the existence of a United States Immigration and
Customs Enforcement civil immigration detainer request for the individual.”

Under Senate Bill 10, the governing body of any municipality is prohibited from adopting “a rule,
order, ordinance or policy which prohibits the enforcement of a Federal law or the laws of [the]
Commonwealth, pertaining to an immigrant or immigrations.” The bill also provides that, with certain
exceptions, “a law enforcement agency or municipality that refuses to enforce an immigration order shall
not be eligible for any [S]tate grant.” Under the bill, in order to be eligible to receive State grant funds, a
municipality is required to certify to State agencies and departments offering such grants that it is not a
municipality of refuge and is otherwise in compliance with the provisions of the bill. Senate Bill 10 also
provides for certain exceptions to governmental immunity for municipalities of refuge.

The City estimates that in Fiscal Year 2016 it received a total of approximately $1.7 billion from
the Commonwealth, including: (i) nondiscretionary funding (e.g., funds the City is required to spend for
the protection of children in the child welfare system); (ii) formulaic funding (e.g., reimbursement by the
Commonwealth to the City for carrying out duties the Commonwealth wants the City to provide); and
(ii1) discretionary funding.

As of the date of this Official Statement, no further action has been taken on Senate Bill 10 and
there is no indication of when any action on this legislation will be taken by the Pennsylvania House of
Representatives. In addition, it is unclear what Commonwealth funding would be affected by Senate Bill
10. Accordingly, at this time, the City does not have sufficient information on the potential impact, if
any, on any Commonwealth funding that may be withheld as a result of Senate Bill 10.

Federal Government Funding. On January 25, 2017, President Trump issued “Executive Order —
Enhancing Public Safety in the Interior of the United States,” which aims to address certain immigration
policies of the administration relating to “sanctuary jurisdictions,” among other things (the “Executive
Order”). The Executive Order states, in part, that the policy of the executive branch will be to “ensure
that jurisdictions that fail to comply with applicable Federal law do not receive Federal funds, except as
mandated by law.” The Executive Order further provides that:

In furtherance of [such] policy, the Attorney General and the Secretary

[of Homeland Security (the “Secretary™)], in their discretion and to the
extent consistent with law, shall ensure that jurisdictions that willfully
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refuse to comply with 8 U.S.C. 1373 (sanctuary jurisdictions) are not
eligible to receive Federal grants, except as deemed necessary for law
enforcement purposes by the Attorney General or the Secretary. The
Secretary has the authority to designate, in his discretion and to the
extent consistent with law, a jurisdiction as a sanctuary jurisdiction. The
Attorney General shall take appropriate enforcement action against any
entity that violates 8 U.S.C. 1373, or which has in effect a statute, policy,
or practice that prevents or hinders the enforcement of Federal law.

The practical import of this Executive Order is unclear. The Executive Order raises many
questions of law regarding the attachment of the above policies to federal funding and has been
challenged in judicial proceedings, including a lawsuit brought by the City (as described below). The
United States Department of Justice (the “Department of Justice”) has indicated in such proceedings that
certain law enforcement-related federal grants could potentially be impacted by the Executive Order.

In April 2017, the Department of Justice sent a letter to nine cities, including the City, reminding
them they had until the end of June to certify their compliance with certain immigration-related federal
laws or risk having grants withheld or be barred from receiving future federal grants. In June 2017, the
City sent a letter to the Department of Justice indicating that its local policies did not violate any
immigration-related federal laws. In October 2017, the Department of Justice sent another letter to the
City disagreeing with such conclusion and restating its position that federal grants may be withheld if the
City does not become compliant with federal law. The City responded to such letter, again asserting its
compliance. The City identified an annual law enforcement federal grant in the amount of approximately
$1.7 million that could potentially have been withheld as a result of this Executive Order and filed for an
injunction in the Federal Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania seeking to enjoin the Department
of Justice from withholding such grant funds. On November 15, 2017, the court issued its decision and
preliminarily enjoined the Department of Justice and the Attorney General from withholding the grant
funds.

Revenues from City-Owned Systems

In addition to taxes, the City realizes revenues through the operation of various City-owned
systems, such as the Water and Wastewater Systems and PGW. The City has issued revenue bonds with
respect to the Water and Wastewater Systems and PGW to be paid solely from and secured by a pledge of
the respective revenues of these systems. The revenues of the Water and Wastewater Systems and PGW
are not legally available for payment of other obligations of the City until, on an annual basis, all revenue
bond debt service requirements and covenants relating to those bonds have been satisfied, and then only
in a limited amount and upon satisfaction of certain other conditions.

Water Fund. The revenues of the Philadelphia Water Department (the “Water Department”) are
required to be segregated from other funds of the City. Under the City’s Restated General Water and
Wastewater Revenue Bond Ordinance of 1989 (the “Water Ordinance”), an annual transfer may be made
from the Water Fund to the City’s General Fund in an amount not to exceed the lesser of (i) all Net
Reserve Earnings and (ii) $4,994,000. “Net Reserve Earnings” means the amount of interest earnings
during the Fiscal Year on amounts in the Debt Reserve Account and Subordinated Bond Fund, each as
defined in the Water Ordinance. The following table shows the amounts transferred from the Water Fund
to the General Fund for Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the current estimate for Fiscal Year 2017, and the
budgeted amount and current estimate for Fiscal Year 2018.
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Table 13
Transfers from Water Fund to General Fund (Excess Interest on Sinking Fund Reserve)
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Current Estimate), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)"

Fiscal Year Amount Transferred
2013 (Actual) $560,156
2014 (Actual) $400,364
2015 (Actual) $745,585
2016 (Actual) $1,555,702
2017 (Current Estimate) $900,000?
2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate) $1,000,000?

M Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s Supplemental Report of Revenues & Obligations for such Fiscal Years.
For Fiscal Year 2017, the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan. For Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted
Budget and the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan.

@ For Fiscal Years 2017 and 2018, the Water Department has budgeted $1,200,000 and $1,500,000, respectively, as its
transfer from the Water Fund to the General Fund. Historically, the Water Department’s budgeted amount is greater than
the figure included in the City’s operating budget.

The City also budgets for certain transfers from the Water Fund to the General Fund related to
services performed and costs borne by the General Fund. For Fiscal Year 2018, the City has budgeted
$9,046,000 for such transfers.

PGW. The revenues of PGW are required to be segregated from other funds of the City.
Payments for debt service on PGW bonds are made directly by PGW. PGW is required to make an
annual payment of $18 million to the General Fund. The Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget includes such
$18 million annual payment to the General Fund from PGW for such Fiscal Year. In certain past Fiscal
Years, the City granted back to PGW such annual payments. For more information on PGW, see “THE
GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Government Services.”

Philadelphia Parking Authority Revenues

The PPA was established by City ordinance pursuant to the Pennsylvania Parking Authority Law
(P.L. 458, No. 208 (June 5, 1947)). Various statutes, ordinances, and contracts authorize PPA to plan,
design, acquire, hold, construct, improve, maintain and operate, own or lease land and facilities for
parking in the City, including such facilities at PHL, and to administer the City’s on-street parking
program.

PPA owns and operates five parking garages and a number of surface parking lots at PHL. The
land on which these garages and surface lots are located is leased from the City, acting through the
Division of Aviation, pursuant to a lease expiring in 2030 (the “Lease Agreement”). The Lease
Agreement provides for payment of rent to the City, which is equal to gross receipts less operating
expense, debt service on PPA’s bonds issued to finance improvements at PHL and reimbursement to PPA
for capital expenditures and prior year operating deficits relating to its operations at PHL, if any.

One component of the operating expenses is PPA’s administrative costs. In 1999, at the request
of the FAA, PPA and the City entered into a letter agreement (the “FAA Letter Agreement”), which
contained a formula for calculating PPA’s administrative costs and capped such administrative costs at
28% of PPA’s total administrative costs for all of its cost centers. PPA owns and/or operates parking
facilities at a number of locations in the City in addition to those at PHL. These parking facilities are
revenue centers for purposes of the FAA Letter Agreement. According to PPA’s audited financial
statements, as filed with the City, PPA has been in compliance with the FAA Letter Agreement since its
execution.
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On-street parking revenues are administered and collected on behalf of the City by the PPA.
Pursuant to Pennsylvania law, PPA is to transmit these revenues to the City, net of any actual expenses
incurred in the administration of the on-street parking system in accordance with the PPA’s approved
budget, provided that, should such net revenues exceed a designated threshold, any excess above that
threshold is to be transmitted to the School District. Pursuant to Act 84 of 2012, the effect of which
commenced in Fiscal Year 2015, the threshold, which was previously set at $25 million, was set at $35
million, including a mandatory escalator to take into account increases in revenues. The following table
presents payments received by the City from PPA for on-street parking for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and
the budgeted amount and current estimate for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 14
PPA On-Street Parking Payments to the City
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)®
(Amounts in Millions of USD)

Payments to

Fiscal Year the City
2013 (Actual) $36.5
2014 (Actual) $37.7
2015 (Actual) $38.1
2016 (Actual) $33.7
2017 (Unaudited Actual) $39.9
2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate) $38.8

o Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s Supplemental Report of Revenues &
Obligations for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the First Quarter QCMR. For
Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and the First Quarter QCMR.

Proposed Tax Rate Changes

The Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan includes reductions in both the resident and non-
resident wage and earnings tax. The following table details rates under the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-
Year Plan.

Table 15
Changes in Wage and Earnings Tax Rates®

Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan

Resident Wage and Non-Resident Wage and

Earnings Earnings

Fiscal Year Tax Rates® Tax Rates
2017 3.9004% 3.4741%
2018 3.8907% 3.4654%
2019 3.8420% 3.4221%
2020 3.7844% 3.3707%
2021 3.7276% 3.3202%
2022 3.6997% 3.2953%

(" Source: The Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan.
@ Includes PICA Tax. See “DEBT OF THE CITY — PICA Bonds” for a description of the PICA Tax.

Under the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, receipts from the Wage and Earnings Tax are
estimated to grow at a rate of 3.68% in Fiscal Year 2017, 3.41% in Fiscal Year 2018, 3.78% in Fiscal
Year 2019, 3.62% in Fiscal Year 2020, 3.56% in Fiscal Year 2021, and 3.59% in Fiscal Year 2022.
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EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY

Three of the principal City expenditures are for personal services (including pensions and other
employee benefits), purchase of services (including payments to SEPTA), and debt service. The
expenditures for personal services and purchase of services are addressed below under this caption; debt
service is addressed below under “DEBT OF THE CITY.”

Personal Services (Personnel)

As of June 30, 2017, the City employed 27,459 full-time employees, representing approximately
4.13% of employees in Philadelphia (approximately 665,036 employees, according to non-seasonally
adjusted data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics). Of these full-time public employees, the salaries of
21,610 were paid from the General Fund. Additional sources of funding for full-time City employees
include the Grants Revenue Fund, the Water Fund, and the Aviation Fund, as well as grants and
contributions from other governments. Activities funded through such grants and contributions are not
undertaken if funding is not received. The following table sets forth the number of filled, full-time
positions of the City as of the dates indicated.

Table 16
Filled, Full-Time Positions'": ®

June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

General Fund
Police 7,193 7,095 7,061 6,942 6,986
Fire 2,125 2,053 2,150 2,316 2,281
Courts 1,909 1,866 1,842 1,839 1,856
Prisons 2,248 2,268 2,286 2,289 2,277
Streets 1,690 1,684 1,664 1,676 1,702
Public Health 673 659 653 653 687
Human Services 377 382 395 449 385
All Other 4,710 4.984 5.115 5,263 5,436
Total — General Fund 20,925 20,991 21,166 21,427 21,610
Other Funds 5.547 5,657 5,626 5,615 5,849
Total — All Funds 26,472 26,648 26,792 27,042 27,459

(" Source: Table P-1 in the City’s Quarterly City Manager’s Reports.
@ Table 16 does not include seasonal or temporary employees.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Overview of City Employees

The wages and benefits of City employees vary not only by position, but also by whether the
employees are represented by a union and, if so, which union. Employee wages and benefits may also be
impacted by whether the employee is subject to the civil service system or exempt from those rules. Thus,
City employees may be broken down into three major categories for purposes of understanding how their
wages and benefits are determined: (i) employees who are not subject to the civil service system (“exempt
employees”); (ii) employees who fall under the civil service system but are not represented by a union
(“non-represented employees™); and (iii) employees who are subject to the civil service system and are
represented by a union (“union employees”).

As of June 30, 2017, the City’s 22,841 unionized employees, representing approximately 83.2%
of the City’s employees, were represented by the City’s four municipal unions: (i) Fraternal Order of
Police (“FOP”) Lodge No. 5; (ii) IAFF Local 22; (iii) AFSCME DC 33; and (iv) American Federation of
State, County and Municipal Employees District Council 47 (“AFSCME DC 477).

In July 2016, a collective bargaining agreement was reached with AFSCME DC 33, which
provides for pension reforms coupled with salary increases, lump sum payments for health care, and a
one-time bonus. This collective bargaining agreement was ratified on August 19, 2016. The costs of
such agreement, along with the cost of the wage reopener with IAFF Local 22, were included in the City’s
modified FY 2017-2021 Five Year Financial Plan Per Council Approved Budget, dated August 8, 2016,
and approved by PICA on August 31, 2016. Such plan also provides additional resources for
compensation changes for other unionized and non-unionized employees.

On June 30, 2017, the labor agreements for FOP Lodge No. 5, IAFF Local 22, and AFSCME
DC 47 expired. On August 15, 2017, a labor arbitration panel awarded FOP Lodge No. 5 a new three-
year contract reflecting annual raises ranging from 3.25% to 3.75%, resulting in a projected aggregate
cost to the City of approximately $247.5 million during Fiscal Years 2018-2022. The costs of such
agreement were included in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, dated September 5, 2017, and
approved by PICA on September 19, 2017.

The arbitration process with IAFF Local 22 and the negotiations with AFSCME DC 47 relating to
their respective new labor agreements are ongoing.

For more information on the current status of the interest arbitration awards that have been issued
for, and contract settlements reached with, the City’s major labor organizations, as well as changes that
have been made for non-represented employees, see Table 18.

Collective bargaining with respect to the wages, hours and other terms and conditions of
employment of union employees, other than uniformed employees of the Police Department and the Fire
Department, is governed by the Public Employee Relations Act (Pa. P.L. 563, No. 195 (1970)) (“PERA™).
PERA requires the City and the unions to negotiate in good faith to attempt to reach agreement on new
contract terms and, if an impasse exists after such negotiations, to mediate through the Commonwealth
Bureau of Mediation. Once the mediation procedures have been satisfied, and if no collective bargaining
agreement has been reached, most employees covered by PERA are permitted to strike. Certain
employees, however, including employees of the Sheriff’s Office and the Register of Wills represented by
the FOP, corrections officers represented by AFSCME DC 33, and employees of the First Judicial District
represented by AFSCME DC 47, are not permitted to strike under PERA. These employees must submit
any impasse to binding interest arbitration once the mediation procedures have been satisfied. PERA
permits parties at an impasse, which are not required to submit to binding interest arbitration, to do so
voluntarily. Provisions of an interest arbitration award issued under PERA that require legislative action
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are considered advisory only and the legislative body is permitted to meet, consider, and reject those
provisions.

Uniformed employees of the Police Department and the Fire Department bargain under the
Policemen and Firemen Collective Bargaining Act (Pa. P.L. 237, No. 111 (1968)) (“Act 111”), which
provides for final and binding interest arbitration to resolve collective bargaining impasses and prohibits
these employees from striking. Interest arbitration under Act 111 operates similarly to interest arbitration
under PERA, but City Council is not permitted to reject the portions of an interest arbitration award that
require legislative action. To the contrary, City Council is required to pass any legislation necessary to
implement the award unless doing so would violate state or federal law. Thus, the arbitration panel has
significant, although not limitless, power to issue an award on mandatory subjects of bargaining. As with
interest arbitration under PERA, the arbitration panel cannot issue an award on a matter that is one of
inherent managerial policy. In addition to the grounds available to challenge a PERA interest arbitration
award on appeal, the PICA Act requires an Act 111 interest arbitration panel to, among other things, give
substantial weight to the City’s five-year plan and ability to pay for the cost of the award without
negatively impacting services, and gives the City the right to appeal the award to the Court of Common
Pleas if it believes the panel has failed to meet these responsibilities. If the arbitration panel fails to do so
or, among other things, if it awards wages or benefits that exceed what is assumed in the most-recent five-
year plan without substantial evidence in the record demonstrating that the City can afford these increases
without adversely impacting service levels, the Court of Common Pleas is required to vacate the
arbitration award and remand it to the arbitration panel.

Overview of Employee Benefits

The City provides various pension, life insurance, and health benefits for its employees. The
benefits offered depend on the employee’s union status and bargaining unit, if applicable. General Fund
employee benefit expenditures for Fiscal Years 2013 through 2018 are shown in the following table.

Table 17
General Fund Employee Benefit Expenditures
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual) and 2017-2018 (Projected)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Pension Contribution® $618.94 $646.4@ $558.3 $622.1® $651.0 $680.2(19
Health®

Payments under City-administered plan 76.4 75.6 75.5 72.5 81.9 ---

Payments under union-administered plans® 286.8 333.8 319.1 339.0 366.2 i

Total Health 363.2 409.4 394.6 411.5 448.1 457.5
Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) Taxes©® 64.7 67.5 71.2 71.7 75.4 76.1
Other™? 72.3 70.8 75.6 76.0 84.1 85.1
Total $1,119.1 $1,194.1 $1,099.5 $1,181.3 $1,258.6 $1,298.9

@ Source: From the City’s five-year financial plans, except for “Payments under City-administered plan,” which was provided by the City, Department of
Human Resources. Figures may not sum due to rounding.

@ Includes debt service on Pension Bonds (as defined herein) and the Commonwealth contributions to the Municipal Pension Fund. See Tables 29 and 30.

& This breakdown of “Health” between “Payments under City-administered plan” and “Payments under union-administered plans” is an estimate of actual
expenses. The City records the actual health expenses in one line item, which corresponds to the figures in “Total Health.”

@ Includes repayment of deferred contributions. See Table 29.

® AFSCME DC 33 receives a per member per month amount of $1,194 from the City.

©  Includes payments of social security and Medicare taxes.

™ Includes payments for unemployment compensation, employee disability, group life, group legal, tool allowance, and flex cash payments.

®  Includes $9.7 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

©  Assumes $18.3 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

(19 Assumes $24.0 million from City Sales Tax revenues for the Municipal Pension Fund. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”
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Each of the City’s four municipal unions sponsors its own health plan that provides medical,
prescription, dental and optical benefits to participating employees and eligible retirees through trusts on
which the City has varying degrees of minority representation. Exempt and non-represented employees,
along with represented employees of the Register of Wills and employees represented by AFSCME DC
33 who have chosen not to become members of the union’s healthcare plan, receive health benefits
through a plan sponsored and administered by the City. Each of the plans provides different benefits
determined by the plan sponsor or through collective bargaining. To provide health care coverage, the
City pays a negotiated monthly premium for employees covered by the union contract for AFSCME DC
33 and is self-insured for all other eligible employees. Aside from AFSCME DC 33, the City is
responsible for the actual health care cost that is invoiced to the City’s unions by their respective vendors.
The actual cost can be a combination of self-insured claim expenses, premiums, ancillary services and
administrative expenses. In addition, employees who satisfy the eligibility criteria receive five years of
health benefits after their retirement. See “OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS” below. These benefits
are determined and administered by the plan in which the employee participated at the time of his or her
retirement. As reflected in Table 17, the health payments under the City-administered plan have been
relatively constant; the health payments for the union-sponsored plans have increased substantially since
Fiscal Year 2013. Other employee benefits, including life insurance and paid leave, are similarly
determined by the respective collective bargaining agreements and City policies and Civil Service
Regulations. Employees also participate in the Municipal Pension Plan. See “PENSION SYSTEM” below.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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Overview of Current Labor Situation

Table 18 summarizes the current status of the interest arbitration awards that have been issued for, and contract settlements reached with,
the City’s major labor organizations, as well as changes that have been made for non-represented employees. It also provides a brief summary of
pension reforms that have occurred since 2009.

Table 18
Status of Arbitration Awards and Labor Contract Settlements
Authorized
Number of Full-
Time Citywide Status of Arbitration
Employees Award
Organization Represented” or Contract Settlement Wage Increases Pension Reforms®

FOP Lodge No. 5 6,457 Three-year contract e 3.25% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2018. e Employees in Plan 87 hired before 1/1/10 pay 5% of salary
(Police Department) effective July 1, 2017 e 3.50% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2019. e Employees hired on or after 1/1/10 elect to either enter Plan 87 and pay 6% of salary or enter Plan 10

through June 30, 2020 e 3.75% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2020. e Beginning 7/1/17 and 7/1/18, current employees pay an additional .92% of salary

awarded by arbitration ¢ Employees hired on or after 7/1/17 will be required to pay an additional 2.5% of salary

panel on August 15,2017
FOP Lodge No. 5 373 Three-year contract e 2.5% increase for Fiscal Year 2015. o Sheriff’s Office:
(Sheriff’s Office effective July 1, 2014 o 3.0% increase for Fiscal Year 2016. o Employees in Plan 87 hired before 1/1/12 pay 30% of normal cost
and Register of through June 30, 2017 e 3.25% increase for Fiscal Year 2017. o Employees hired on or after 1/1/12 elect to enter Plan 87 and pay 50% of normal cost or enter Plan
Wills) awarded by arbitration o Register of Wills employees receive same 10

panel on April 16, 2015 wage package as AFSCME DC 33. e Register of Wills:

e Employees in Plan 87 hired before 1/1/12 pay 30% of normal cost
e Employees hired on or after 1/1/12 participate in Plan 10

IAFF Local 22 2,407 Four-year contract e 3% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2014 and e Employees in Plan 87 hired before 7/2/12 pay 5% of salary

effective July 1, 2013 2015. e Employees hired on or after 7/2/12 elect to enter Plan 87 and pay 6% of salary or enter Plan 10

through June 30, 2017 o 3.25% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2016.

awarded by arbitration e 3.25 % pay increase for Fiscal Year 2017.

panel on January 9, 2015;

arbitration process on

new labor agreement is

ongoing.
AFSCME DC 33 7,409 Four-year contract term ® 3.0% pay increase effective July 1, 2016. e Tiered contribution system for current employees under which employees who have higher salaries pay a

effective July 1, 2016 o 3.0% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2018 higher percent of their salaries as contributions to the pension fund

through June 30, 2020 e 2.5% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2019. e Mandatory stacked hybrid plan for new hires under which employees receive a defined benefit pension

(ratified on August 19, e 3.0% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2020. for their first $50,000 of earnings and a defined contribution pension for earnings above $50,000

2016) e Plan 10 closed to new enrollment for members of DC33 but remains unchanged for other employee

groups

e Once fully implemented, such employees in Plan 10 are expected to receive a letter indicating that they
have 90 days to make an irrevocable election to opt into the stacked-hybrid

e DROP (as defined below) interest rate decreases from 4.5% to the rate on the one year treasury effective
January 1 of each year (currently 0.65%) for participants not currently enrolled or eligible to enroll

(™ From data provided by the Mayor’s Office of Labor Relations as of June 30, 2017.
@ “Plan 87 and “Plan 10” referenced in this column are described in Table 19. Plan 10 is mandatory for newly-hired employees of the Register of Wills and was mandatory for employees covered by the Correctional Officers
arbitration award who are now covered by the same pension provisions as other employees of AFSCME DC 33.
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Organization
AFSCME DC 33,
Local 159
Correctional
Officers

AFSCME DC 47

AFSCME DC 47
Local 810
Court Employees

Non-Represented
Employees

Authorized
Number of Full-
Time Citywide
Employees

Represented"
2,164

3,548

483

1,129

Status of Arbitration Award
or Contract Settlement
Three-year contract effective
July 1, 2014 through June 30,
2017 awarded by arbitration
panel on March 23,2015

Contract term from July 1, 2009
through June 30, 2017 ratified
on March 5, 2014; negotiations
on new labor agreement are
ongoing.

Agreement ratified August 13,
2014 on economic terms for July
1, 2014 through June 30, 2016;
a one-year agreement for July 1,
2016-June 30,2017 was also
ratified in Fiscal Year 2017,
negotiations on new labor
agreement are ongoing.

Changes for non-represented
employees

Wage Increases

3% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2015.

3.25% pay increase for Fiscal Years
2016 and 2017.

$600 equity adjustment to base wages
on January 1, 2016.

3.5% pay increase effective April 4,
2014.

2.5% pay increase for Fiscal Year
2016.

3% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2017.

2.5% pay increase for Fiscal Year
2015.
2.5% pay increase for Fiscal Year
2016.

3% pay increase for Fiscal Year 2017.

2.5% pay increase effective October
1,2012.

3.5% non-represented pay increase
effective April 1, 2014.

2.5% non-represented pay increase
for Fiscal Year 2016.

(M From data provided by the Mayor’s Office of Labor Relations as of June 30, 2017.

@)

arbitration award who are now covered by the same pension provisions as other employees of AFSCME DC 33.
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Pension Reforms®

Tiered contribution system for current employees under which employees who have higher
salaries pay a higher percent of their salaries as contributions to the pension fund

Mandatory stacked hybrid plan for new hires under which employees receive a defined benefit
pension for their first $50,000 of earnings and a defined contribution pension for earnings above
$50,000

Plan 10 closed to new enrollment for members of DC33 but remains unchanged for other
employee groups

Once fully implemented, such employees in Plan 10 are expected to receive a letter indicating that
they have 90 days to make an irrevocable election to opt into the stacked-hybrid

DROP interest rate decreases from 4.5% to the rate on the one year treasury effective January 1 of
each year (currently 0.65%) for participants not currently enrolled or eligible to enroll

Employees in Plan 87 hired before 3/5/14 pay 30% of normal cost plus an additional 0.5% of pay
in 2015 and an additional 0.5% of pay in 2016 (for a total of an additional 1% of pay by 1/1/16)
Employees hired on or after 3/5/14 may elect to enter Plan 87 and pay an additional 1% of pay
over what others in Plan 87 pay or enter Plan 10

DROP interest rate decreases from 4.5% to the rate on the one year treasury effective January 1 of
each year (currently 0.65%) for participants not currently enrolled or eligible to enroll

Employees in Plan 87 hired before 3/5/14 pay 30% of normal cost plus an additional 0.5% of pay
in 2015 and an additional 0.5% of pay in 2016 (for a total of an additional 1% of pay by 1/1/16)
Employees hired on or after 11/14/14 may elect to enter Plan 87 and pay an additional 1% of pay
over what others in Plan 87 pay or enter Plan 10

DROP interest rate decreases from 4.5% to the rate on the one year treasury effective January 1 of
each year (currently 0.65%) for participants not currently enrolled or eligible to enroll

Employees in Plan 87 hired before 5/14/14 for non-represented civil service and before 11/14/14
for non-represented non-civil service pay 30% of normal cost plus an additional 0.5% of pay in
2015 and an additional 0.5% of pay in 2016 (for a total of an additional 1% of pay by 1/1/16)
Employees hired on or after dates above may elect to enter Plan 87 and pay an additional 1% of
pay over what others in Plan 87 pay or enter Plan 10

DROP interest rate decreases from 4.5% to the rate on the one year treasury effective January 1 of
each year (currently 0.65%) for participants not currently enrolled or eligible to enroll

“Plan 87 and “Plan 10” referenced in this column are described in Table 19. Plan 10 is mandatory for newly-hired employees of the Register of Wills and was mandatory for employees covered by the Correctional Officers



Certain features of the 1987 Plan (“Plan 87”) and the 2010 Plan (“Plan 10”) are summarized
below. Plan 87 is solely a defined benefit plan. Plan 10 is a “hybrid” plan that includes both a defined
benefit and a defined contribution component. A more comprehensive summary of each plan is included
as Appendix D of the July 1, 2016 Valuation (as defined herein). See “PENSION SYSTEM” below.

Table 19

Summary of Key Aspects of Plan 87 and Plan 10

Normal Average Final
Retirement Compensation Defined Benefit —
Plan 87 Eligibility (“AFC”) Retirement Benefits Multiplier
Municipal (Plan Y) Age 60 and 10 Average of three e (2.2% x AFC x years of service up to 10 years) plus

Police and Fire

Elected Official (Plan L)

years of credited
service

Age 50 and 10
years of credited
service

Age 55 and 10

highest calendar or
anniversary years

Average of two
highest calendar or
anniversary years

Average of three

(2.0% x AFC x numbers of years in excess of 10
years), subject to a maximum of 100% of AFC

® (2.2% x AFC x years of service up to 20 years) plus

(2.0% x AFC x numbers of years in excess of 20
years), subject to a maximum of 100% of AFC

3.5% x AFC x years of service, subject to a

years of credited  highest calendar or maximum of 100% of AFC
service® anniversary years
Normal Average Final
Retirement Compensation Defined Benefit —
Plan 10 Eligibility (“AFC”) Retirement Benefits Multiplier
Municipal® Age 60 and 10 Average of five 1.25% x AFC x years of service up to 20 years

Police and Fire

years of credited
service

Age 50 and 10
years of credited
service

highest calendar or
anniversary years

Average of five
highest calendar or
anniversary years

1.75% x AFC x years of service up to 20 years

Defined Contribution

The City matches employee contributions at a 50%
rate, with the total City match not to exceed 1.5% of
compensation for each year.

After five years of credited service, the full amount
in the account is distributed to the employee when
he or she separates from City service.

The right to the portion of the account attributable
to City contributions does not vest until the
completion of five years of credited service.

() Five years of credited service for those who make additional contributions. See “PENSION SYSTEM — Pension System; Pension Board —

Membership.”

@ The lesser of two full terms or eight years of credited service for those elected officials who make additional contributions. See “PENSION
SYSTEM — Pension System; Pension Board — Membership.”

3 Under Plan 10 (Municipal), pension contributions freeze after 20 years. At such time and for each subsequent year, the employee’s
pension payments remain fixed and the employee may no longer make pension contributions.
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As part of the new collective bargaining agreement for AFSCME DC 33, the City and AFSCME
DC 33 have agreed on a new, stacked hybrid pension plan for new municipal employees represented by
AFSCME DC 33 (“Plan 16”). Plan 16 includes a defined benefit and defined contribution component.
The defined benefit is applied to annual earnings up to $50,000. Employees with annual salaries over
$50,000 may voluntarily participate in the defined contribution portion. The City will match a portion of
an eligible employee’s voluntary contributions up to a cap of 1.5% of annual compensation. Current
municipal employees represented by AFSCME DC 33 will pay a tiered employee pension contribution
rate based on their pay range. Starting at an annual salary of $45,000, the tiered structure is progressive
so that higher earning employees will contribute at a higher rate.

Purchase of Services

The following table shows the City’s major purchase of services, which represents one of the
major classes of expenditures from the General Fund. Table 20 shows contracted costs of the City for
Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amounts and current estimates for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 20
Purchase of Services in the General Fund
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®- @

Unaudited  Adopted Current

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget Estimate
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018

Human Services® $67.5 $76.3 $77.3 $75.3 $75.7 $77.4 $76.3
Public Health 63.0 60.5 59.4 64.9 70.7 70.7 70.7
Public Property® 139.5 140.7 148.8 155.0 158.5 161.6 161.6
Streets® 40.5 48.3 47.6 51.9 46.2 49.7 48.6
First Judicial District 16.5 15.8 17.1 17.7 - - -
Licenses & Inspections 7.1 10.1 10.0 10.4 - - -
Homeless Services® 34.2 36.9 36.6 37.1 - - -
Prisons 105.4 105.8 101.6 104.9 - - -
All Other® 284.1 293.2 312.2 305.0 500.4 575.7 579.6
Total $757.8 $787.6  $810.6  $822.2 $851.4 $935.1 $936.8

(" Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s Supplemental Report of Revenues & Obligations for
such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Years 2017-2018, the First Quarter QCMR. The detailed breakdown of
the other subcategories for Fiscal Years 2017 and 2018 will be available upon the release of the City’s
Supplemental Report of Revenues & Obligations for such Fiscal Years.

@ Includes payments for care of dependent and delinquent children.

3 Includes payments for SEPTA, space rentals, and utilities.

@ Includes solid waste disposal costs.

) Includes homeless shelter and boarding home payments.

© Includes the Convention Center subsidy, payments for vehicle leasing, and debt service on lease and
service agreement financings, among other things.

(@ Figures may not sum due to rounding.
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City Payments to School District

In each Fiscal Year since Fiscal Year 1996, the City has made an annual grant of at least $15
million to the School District. Pursuant to negotiations with the Commonwealth to address the School
District’s then current and future educational and fiscal situation, the Mayor and City Council agreed to
provide the School District with an additional $20 million annual grant beginning in Fiscal Year 2002.
The following table presents the City’s payments to the School District from the General Fund for Fiscal
Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amount and current estimate for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 21
City Payments to School District
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®

Adopted
Budget
and
Unaudited Current
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Estimate
2013® 20149 2015 2016 2017 2018
City Payments to School District $68.9 $114.1 $69.1 $104.2 $104.3 $104.3

(M Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the FY 2017
AFR (Unaudited). For Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and the First Quarter QCMR.

@ The City’s contribution included a budgeted contribution of $48.9 million and an additional contribution of $20
million, which was derived from an increase in the Real Estate Tax rate.

® TIn Fiscal Year 2014, the City’s contribution included a budgeted contribution of $69.1 million and an additional
$45.1 million one-time contribution that was passed through from the Commonwealth.

In Fiscal Year 2014, the City also issued, through PAID, $27.3 million of bonds for the benefit of
the School District. In Fiscal Year 2015, the City issued, through PAID, $57.5 million of bonds for the
benefit of the School District and to refund the bonds issued in Fiscal Year 2014. The bond proceeds paid
to the School District are not subject to the maintenance of effort described below.

The City’s adopted Fiscal Year 2016 budget included a property tax increase and parking tax
increase to benefit the School District in amounts of $25 million and $10 million, respectively, which are
included in the $104.2 million for Fiscal Year 2016 and the $104.3 million for Fiscal Year 2017 reflected
in Table 21 above. Both the $25 million and the $10 million are City revenues collected by the City and
then granted to the School District. Each year in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan reflects these
increases in tax revenues, as well as the related expense of the grant to the School District; therefore,
these amounts are already part of the City’s General Fund balance calculation.

Section 696 of the School Code imposes on the City a maintenance of effort obligation with
respect to the School District. For so long as the School District remains subject to a declaration of
“distress” by the Secretary of Education, the City is obligated to continue (i) paying over to the School
District each year an amount at least equal to the amount paid over to the School District in the previous
year and (ii) authorizing for the School District tax rates at least equal to the rates of taxation authorized
by the City for the School District in the previous year. The School District was declared distressed
effective December 22, 2001, and such declaration continues to be in effect. See “THE GOVERNMENT OF
THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Local Government Agencies — Mayoral-Appointed or Nominated Agencies
— The School District.”

For a discussion of changes and proposed changes in the funding provided by the City to the
School District, see “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.” For a discussion of the transition to

A-46



AVI, see “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Real Property Taxes Assessment and Collection.” For a discussion
of the Mayor’s proposal to return governance of the School District to a Board of Education appointed by
the Mayor, see “THE GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Local Government Agencies —
Mayoral-Appointed or Nominated Agencies — The School District,” above.

City Payments to SEPTA

SEPTA operates a public transportation system within the City and Bucks, Chester, Delaware,
and Montgomery counties. SEPTA’s operating budget is supported by federal, Commonwealth, and local
subsidies, including payments from the City. The following table presents the City’s payments to SEPTA
from the General Fund for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amount and current estimate for
Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 22
City Payments to SEPTA
Fiscal Years 2013-2016 (Actual), 2017 (Unaudited Actual), and 2018 (Adopted Budget and Current Estimate)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)(

Adopted
Budget
and
Unaudited Current
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Estimate
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
City Payment to SEPTA  $65.2 $66.0 $70.4 $74.2 $79.7 $82.7

(M Sources: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017,
the First Quarter QCMR. For Fiscal Year 2018, the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and the First
Quarter QCMR.

The City budgets operating subsidies each Fiscal Year to match the estimated operating subsidies
of the Commonwealth under Act 89. The state operating subsidy is funded through the Pennsylvania
Public Transportation Trust Fund as created by Act 44 of 2007, amended by Act 89 of 2013. The local
match requirement for Fiscal Years 2017-2022 has been calculated to match state operating subsidies. In
addition, local matching funds must be appropriated each Fiscal Year in which state funds are received in
order for SEPTA to receive the full allocation of state funds. The Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan
projects annual operating subsidy payments to SEPTA from the City will increase to $99.7 million by
Fiscal Year 2022.

City Payments to Convention Center Authority

In connection with the financing of the expansion to the Pennsylvania Convention Center and the
refinancing of debt for the original Pennsylvania Convention Center construction, the Commonwealth, the
City, and the Convention Center Authority entered into an operating agreement in 2010 (the “Convention
Center Operating Agreement”). The Convention Center Operating Agreement provides for the operation
of the Convention Center by the Convention Center Authority and includes an annual service fee of
$15,000,000 from the City to the Convention Center Authority in each Fiscal Year through Fiscal Year
2040.

As authorized by ordinance, the City has agreed to pay to the Convention Center Authority on a

monthly basis a certain percentage of hotel room taxes and hospitality promotion taxes collected during
the term of the Convention Center Operating Agreement. The remaining percentages of such taxes are
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paid to the City’s tourism and marketing agencies. The General Fund does not retain any portion of the
proceeds of the hotel room rental tax or the hospitality promotion tax.

PENSION SYSTEM

The amounts and percentages set forth under this heading relating to the City’s pension system,
including, for example, actuarial liabilities and funded ratios, are based upon numerous demographic
and economic assumptions, including the investment return rates, inflation rates, salary increase rates,
post-retirement mortality, active member mortality, rates of retirement, etc. The reader is cautioned to
review and carefully consider the assumptions set forth in the documents that are cited as the sources for
the information in this section. In addition, the reader is cautioned that such sources and the underlying
assumptions speak as of their respective dates, and are subject to changes, any of which could cause a
significant change in the unfunded actuarial liability.

Overview

The City faces significant ongoing financial challenges in meeting its pension obligations,
including an unfunded actuarial liability (“UAL”) of approximately $6.1 billion as of July 1, 2016. In
Fiscal Year 2016, the City’s contribution to the Municipal Pension Fund was approximately $660.2
million, of which the General Fund’s share (including the Commonwealth contribution) was $512.2
million. See Table 29. The City’s aggregate pension costs (consisting of payments to the Municipal
Pension Fund and debt service on the Pension Bonds (as defined herein)) have increased from
approximately 10.15% of the City’s General Fund budget to approximately 13.93% of the General Fund
budget from Fiscal Years 2007 to 2016. See Table 31. As reflected in the Funded Ratio chart following
Table 28, the funded ratio of the Municipal Pension Plan was 50.0% on July 1, 1997 (at which time the
UAL was approximately $2.7 billion), and was 44.8% on July 1, 2016.

The decline in the Municipal Pension System’s funded status and the net growth of the unfunded
liability is the product of a number of factors, including the following:

e The declines in the equity markets in 2000-2001 and in 2008-2009. See Table 24 and the
Funded Ratio chart below Table 28.

e A reduction in the assumed rate of return, from 9.00% in 2004 to 7.70% effective July 1,
2016. Although the gradual reductions in the assumed rates of return reflected in Table 24
are considered a prudent response to experience studies, by reducing the assumed return in
the measurement of the actuarial liabilities, it serves to increase the UAL from what it
otherwise would have been.

e Adopting more conservative mortality rates in response to experience studies performed by
the Municipal Pension Plan actuary.

e The Municipal Pension Plan is a mature system, which means the number of members
making contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan is less than the number of retirees and
other beneficiaries receiving payments from the Municipal Pension Plan, by approximately
9,500. As a result, the aggregate of member contributions and the City’s contributions are
less than the amount of benefits and refunds payable in any particular year, with the result
that investment income must be relied upon to meet such difference before such income can
contribute to an increase in the Municipal Pension System’s assets growth. See Table 26.

A-48



e The determination by the City, commencing in Fiscal Year 2005, to fund in accordance with
the “minimum municipal obligation” (“MMO”), as permitted and as defined by Pennsylvania
law, in lieu of the City Funding Policy (as defined herein), resulted in the City contributing
less than otherwise would have been contributed. See below, “— Funding Requirements;
Funding Standards.”

e Revising, in Fiscal Year 2009, in accordance with Pennsylvania law, the period over which
the UAL was being amortized, such that the UAL as of July 1, 2009 was “fresh started” to be
amortized over a 30 year period ending June 30, 2039. In addition, changes were made to the
periods over which actuarial gains and losses and assumption changes were amortized under
Pennsylvania law. See “UAL and its Calculation — Actuarial Valuations.”

The City has taken a number of steps to address the funding of the Municipal Pension Plan,
including the following:

e Reducing the assumed rate of return on a gradual and consistent basis, which results in the
City making larger annual contributions. See Table 24 below.

e Adopting more conservative mortality rates in response to experience studies performed by
the Municipal Pension Plan actuary.

e In conjunction with the revisions to the amortization periods that occurred in Fiscal Year
2009, changing from a level percent of pay amortization schedule to a level dollar amount
schedule. This results in producing payments that ensure that a portion of principal on the
UAL is paid each year.

e Funding consistently an amount greater than the MMO (subject to the authorized deferrals for
Fiscal Years 2010 and 2011 described below).

e Negotiating collective bargaining agreements by which additional contributions are being
made (and will be made) by certain current (and future) members and by which benefits will
be capped for certain future members of the Municipal Pension Plan. See Table 18.

e Securing additional funding, including funds required to be deposited by the City to the
Municipal Pension Fund from its share of future sales tax revenue.

This “Overview” is intended to highlight certain of the principal factors that led to the pension
system’s current funded status, and significant steps the City and the Pension Board have taken to address
the underfunding. The reader is cautioned to review with care the more detailed information presented
below under this caption, “PENSION SYSTEM.”

Pension System; Pension Board

The City maintains two defined-benefit pension programs: (i) the Municipal Pension Plan, a
single employer plan, which provides benefits to police officers, firefighters, non-uniformed employees,
and non-represented appointed and elected officials, and (ii) the PGW Pension Plan, a single employer
plan, which provides benefits to PGW employees. The Municipal Pension Plan is administered through
18 separate benefit structures, the funding for which is accounted for on a consolidated basis by the
Municipal Pension Fund. The 18 benefit structures establish for their respective members different
contribution levels, retirement ages, etc., but all assets are available to pay benefits to all members of the
Municipal Pension Plan. The Municipal Pension Plan is a mature plan, initially established in 1915, with
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investment assets that totaled approximately $4.4 billion as of June 30, 2016. The Municipal Pension
Plan has approximately 28,300 members who make contributions to the plan, and provides benefits to
approximately 37,800 retirees and other beneficiaries.

PGW is principally a gas distribution facility owned by the City. For accounting presentation
purposes, PGW is a component unit of the City and follows accounting rules as they apply to proprietary
fund-type activities. The PGW Pension Plan is funded with contributions by PGW to such plan, which
are treated as an operating expense of PGW, and such plan is not otherwise addressed under the caption
“PENSION SYSTEM.” See “PGW PENSION PLAN” below.

Contributions are made by the City to the Municipal Pension Fund from: (i) the City’s General
Fund; (ii) funds that are received by the City from the Commonwealth for deposit into the Municipal
Pension Fund; and (iii) various City inter-fund transfers, representing amounts contributed, or reimbursed,
to the City’s General Fund for pensions from the City’s Water Fund, Aviation Fund, and certain other
City funds or agencies. See Table 29. In addition to such City (employer) contribution, the other
principal additions to the Municipal Pension Fund are: (i) member (employee) contributions; (ii) interest
and dividend income; (iii) net appreciation in asset values; and (iv) net realized gains on the sale of
investments. See Table 26 below. An additional source of funding is that portion of the 1% Sales Tax
rate increase that is required under Pennsylvania law to be deposited to the Municipal Pension Fund. See
“REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax.”

The City of Philadelphia Board of Pensions and Retirement (the ‘“Pension Board”) was
established by the City Charter to administer “a comprehensive, fair and actuarially sound pension and
retirement system covering all officers and employees of the City.” The City Charter provides that the
Pension Board “shall consist of the Director of Finance, who shall be its chairman, the Managing
Director, the City Controller, the City Solicitor, the Personnel Director and four other persons who shall
be elected to serve on the Board by the employees in the civil service in such manner as shall be
determined by the Board.” In addition, there is one non-voting member on the Pension Board, who is
appointed by the President of City Council. An Executive Director, together with a staff of 73 personnel,
administers the day-to-day activities of the retirement system, providing services to approximately 66,200
members.

The Municipal Pension Plan, the Municipal Pension Fund, and the Pension Board are for
convenience sometimes collectively referred to under this caption as the “Municipal Retirement System.”

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Membership. The following table shows the membership totals for the Municipal Pension Plan,
as of July 1, 2016 and as compared to July 1, 2015.

Table 23
Municipal Pension Plan — Membership Totals

July 1, 2016 July 1, 2015 % Change
Actives 28,308 27,951 1.3%
Terminated Vesteds 1,248 1,334 -6.4%
Disabled 4,005 4,016 -0.3%
Retirees 22,412 22,245 0.8%
Beneficiaries 8,567 8,566 0.0%
Deferred Retirement Option Plan (“DROP”) 1,614 1,784 -9.5%
Total City Members 66,154 65,896 0.4%
Annual Salaries $1,676,548,962 $1,597,848,869 4.9%
Average Salary per Active Member $59,225 $57,166 3.6%
Annual Retirement Allowances $741,828,339 $719,580,951 3.1%
Average Retirement Allowances $21,205 $20,662 2.6%

Source:  July 1, 2016 Valuation.

As shown in Table 23, total membership in the Municipal Pension Plan increased by 0.4%, or
from 65,896 to 66,154 members, from July 1, 2015 to July 1, 2016, including an increase of 1.3% in
active members from 27,951 to 28,308 (who were contributing to the Municipal Pension Fund). Of the
66,154 members, 37,846 were retirees, beneficiaries, disabled, and other members (who were
withdrawing from, or not contributing to, the Municipal Pension Fund).

Subject to the exceptions otherwise described in this paragraph, employees and officials become
vested in the Municipal Pension Plan upon the completion of ten years of service. Employees and
appointed officials who hold positions that are exempt from civil service and who are not entitled to be
represented by a union, and who were hired before January 13, 1999, may elect accelerated vesting after
five years of service in return for payment of a higher employee contribution than if the vesting period
were ten years. Such employees and officials hired after January 13, 1999, become vested after five years
of service and pay a higher employee contribution than if the vesting period were ten years. Elected
officials become vested in the Municipal Pension Plan once they complete service equal to the lesser of
two full terms in their elected office or eight years and pay a higher contribution than if the vesting period
were ten years. Elected officials pay an additional employee contribution for the full cost of the
additional benefits they may receive over those of general municipal employees. Upon retirement,
employees and officials may receive up to 100% of their average final compensation depending upon
their years of credited service and the plan in which they participate.

All City employees participate in the U.S. Social Security retirement system except for uniformed
Police and uniformed Fire employees.

Certain membership information relating to the City’s municipal retirement system provided by
the Pension Board is set forth in Appendix A to the July 1, 2016 Actuarial Valuation Report (the “July 1,
2016 Valuation”) and includes as of July 1, 2016, among other information, active and non-active
member data by plan, age/service distribution for active participants and average salary for all plans, and
age and benefit distributions for non-active member data.
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Funding Requirements; Funding Standards

City Charter. The City Charter establishes the “actuarially sound” standard quoted above. Case
law has interpreted “actuarially sound” as used in the City Charter to require the funding of two
components: (i) “normal cost” (as defined below) and (ii) interest on the UAL. (Dombrowski v. City of
Philadelphia, 431 Pa. 199, 245 A.2d 238 (1968)).

Pennsylvania Law. The Municipal Pension Plan Funding Standard and Recovery Act (Pa. P.L.
1005, No. 205 (1984)) (“Act 205”), applies to all municipal pension plans in Pennsylvania,
“[n]otwithstanding any provision of law, municipal ordinance, municipal resolution, municipal charter,
pension plan agreement or pension plan contract to the contrary . . ..” Act 205 provides that the annual
financial requirements of the Municipal Pension Plan are: (i) the normal cost; (ii) administrative expense
requirements; and (iii) an amortization contribution requirement. In addition, Act 205 requires that the
MMO be payable to the Municipal Pension Fund from City revenues, and that the City shall provide for
the full amount of the MMO in its annual budget. The MMO is defined as “the financial requirements of
the pension plan reduced by . . . the amount of any member contributions anticipated as receivable for the
following year.” Act 205 further provides that the City has a “duty to fund its municipal pension plan,”
and the failure to provide for the MMO in its budget, or to pay the full amount of the MMO, may be
remedied by the institution of legal proceedings for mandamus.

In accordance with Pennsylvania law and Act 205, the City uses the entry age normal actuarial
funding method, whereby “normal cost” (associated with active employees only) is the present value of
the benefits that the City expects to become payable in the future distributed evenly as a percent of
expected payroll from the age of first entry into the plan to the expected age at retirement. The City’s
share of such normal cost (to which the City adds the Plan’s administrative expenses) is reduced by
member contributions. The term “level” means that the contribution rate for the normal cost, expressed as
a percentage of active member payroll, is expected to remain relatively level over time.

The City has budgeted and paid at least the full MMO amount since such requirement was
established, and more specifically, prior to Fiscal Year 2005 the City had been contributing to the
Municipal Pension Plan the greater amount as calculated pursuant to the City Funding Policy which was
implemented before Act 205 was effective, as described below. Payment of the MMO is a condition for
receipt of the Commonwealth contribution to the Municipal Pension Fund. See Table 29.

Act 205 was amended in 2009 by Pa. P.L. 396, No. 44 (“Act 44”) to authorize the City to: (i)
“fresh start” the amortization of the UAL as of July 1, 2009 by a level annual dollar amount over 30 years
ending June 30, 2039; and (ii) revise the amortization periods for actuarial gains and losses and
assumption changes in accordance with Act 44, as described below under “UAL and its Calculation —
Actuarial Valuations.” In addition, Act 44 authorized the City to defer, and the City did defer, $150
million of the MMO otherwise payable in Fiscal Year 2010, and $80 million of the MMO otherwise
payable in Fiscal Year 2011, subject to repayment of the deferred amounts by June 30, 2014. The City
repaid the aggregate deferred amount of $230 million, together with interest at the then-assumed interest
rate of 8.25%, in Fiscal Year 2013. See Table 29. Because the final amortization date is fixed, if all
actuarial assumptions are achieved, the unfunded liability would decline to zero as of the final
amortization date. To the extent future experience differs from the assumptions used to establish the 30-
year fixed amortization payment schedule, new amortization bases attributable to a particular year’s
difference would be established and amortized over their own 20-year schedule.

GASB; City Funding Policy. Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement
No. 27, “Accounting for Pensions by State and Local Governmental Employers” (“GASB 27”), applied to
the City for Fiscal Years beginning prior to July 1, 2014. For the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2014,

A-52



GASB Statement No. 68 (“GASB 68), which amends GASB 27 in several significant respects, applies.
GASB 27 defined an “annual required contribution” (“ARC”) as that amount sufficient to pay (i) the
normal cost and (ii) the amortization of UAL, and provides that the maximum acceptable amortization
period is 30 years (for the initial 10 years of implementation, 1996-2006, a 40-year amortization period
was permitted). GASB 27 did not establish funding requirements for the City but rather was an
accounting and financial reporting standard. GASB 68 does not require the calculation of an ARC but
does require the City to include as a liability on its balance sheet the City’s “net pension liability,” as
defined by GASB 68. The City has been funding the Municipal Pension Fund since Fiscal Year 2003
based on the MMO (at a minimum), including the deferral permitted by Act 44. See Table 29 below.

The City, prior to Fiscal Year 2005, had been funding the Municipal Pension Fund in accordance
with what the City referred to as the “City Funding Policy.” That reference was used and continues to be
used in the Actuarial Reports. Under the City Funding Policy, the UAL as of July 1, 1985 was to be
amortized over 34 years ending June 30, 2019, with payments increasing at 3.3% per year, the assumed
payroll growth. Other changes in the actuarial liability were amortized in level-dollar payments over
various periods as prescribed in Act 205. In 1999, the City issued pension funding bonds, the proceeds of
which were deposited directly into the Municipal Pension Fund to pay down its UAL. See “Annual
Contributions — Annual Debt Service Payments on the Pension Bonds” below.

Revenue Recognition Policy. The City follows a policy (the “Revenue Recognition Policy™) to
contribute each year to the Municipal Pension Fund an amount in excess of the MMO. The determination
for such additional funding is based on not including (i) the portion of the amounts generated by the
increase in the Sales Tax rate that became effective on July 1, 2014 and are required by Act 205 to be
deposited to the Municipal Pension Fund (see “Revenues of the City — Sales and Use Tax”), and (ii)
contributions to be made by City employees that are under Plan 16 (described above in the text that
immediately follows Table 19) in the actuarial asset value when determining the annual contribution
obligation.

The amounts projected by the City in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five Year Plan to be deposited
from Sales Tax revenue into the Municipal Pension Fund, for the six Fiscal Years 2017-2022,
respectively, are as follows: $18.3 million; $24.0 million; $44.6 million; $49.9 million; $54.9 million;
and $59.8 million. (These revenue estimates reflect updates made since the data cutoff for performing the
July 1, 2016 Valuation. Compare to the amounts under “Sales Tax Contribution” in the first table under
the subsection “Actuarial Projections of Funded Status.”)

UAL and its Calculation

According to the July 1, 2016 Valuation, the funded ratio (the valuation of assets available for
benefits to total actuarial liability) of the Municipal Pension Fund as of July 1, 2016 was 44.8% and the
Municipal Pension Fund had an unfunded actuarial liability (“UAL”) of $6.089 billion. The UAL is the
difference between total actuarial liability ($11.025 billion as of July 1, 2016) and the actuarial value of
assets ($4.936 billion as of July 1, 2016).

Key Actuarial Assumptions. In accordance with Act 205, the actuarial assumptions must be, in
the judgment of both Cheiron (the independent consulting actuary for the Municipal Pension Fund) and
the City, “the best available estimate of future occurrences in the case of each assumption.” The assumed
investment return rate used in the July 1, 2016 Valuation was 7.70% a year (which includes an inflation
assumption of 2.75%), net of administrative expenses, compounded annually. For the prior actuarial
valuation, the assumed investment return rate was 7.75%. See Table 24 for the assumed rates of return
for Fiscal Years 2007 to 2016. The 7.75% was used to establish the MMO payment for Fiscal Year 2017;
7.70% will be used to establish the MMO payment for Fiscal Year 2018.
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Other key actuarial assumptions in the July 1, 2016 Valuation include the following: (i) total
annual payroll growth of 3.30%, (ii) annual administrative expenses assumed to increase 3.30% per year,
(iii) to recognize the expense of the benefits payable under the Pension Adjustment Fund, actuarial
liabilities were increased by 0.54%, based on the statistical average expected value of the benefits, (iv) a
vested employee who terminates will elect a pension deferred to service retirement age so long as their
age plus years of service at termination are greater than or equal to 55 (45 for police and fire employees),
(v) for municipal and elected members, 70% of all disabilities are ordinary and 30% are service-
connected, and (vi) for police and fire members, 50% of all disabilities are ordinary and 50% are service-
connected.

“Smoothing Methodology”. The Municipal Retirement System uses an actuarial value of assets
to calculate its annual pension contribution, using an asset smoothing method to dampen the volatility in
asset values that could occur because of fluctuations in market conditions. The Municipal Retirement
System used a five-year smoothing prior to Fiscal Year 2009, and beginning with Fiscal Year 2009 began
employing a ten-year smoothing. Using the ten-year smoothing methodology, investment returns in
excess or below the assumed rate are prospectively distributed in equal amounts over a ten-year period,
subject to the requirement that the actuarial value of assets will be adjusted, if necessary, to ensure that
the actuarial value of assets will never be less than 80% of the market value of the assets, nor greater than
120% of the market value of the assets. The actuarial value of assets as of July 1, 2016, was
approximately 113.5% of the market value of the assets.

Actuarial Valuations. The Pension Board engages an independent consulting actuary (currently
Cheiron) to prepare annually an actuarial valuation report. Act 205, as amended by Act 44, establishes
certain parameters for the actuarial valuation report, including: (i) use of the entry age normal actuarial
cost method; (ii) that the report shall contain: (a) actuarial exhibits, financial exhibits, and demographic
exhibits; (b) an exhibit of normal costs expressed as a percentage of the future covered payroll of the
active membership in the Municipal Pension Plan; and (c) an exhibit of the actuarial liability of the
Municipal Pension Plan; and (iii) that changes in the actuarial liability be amortized in level-dollar
payments as follows: (a) actuarial gains and losses be amortized over 20 years beginning July 1, 2009
(prior to July 1, 2009, gains and losses were amortized over 15 years); (b) assumption changes be
amortized over 15 years beginning July 1, 2010 (prior to July 1, 2010, assumption changes were
amortized over 20 years); (c) plan changes for active members be amortized over 10 years; (d) plan
changes for inactive members be amortized over one year; and (e) plan changes mandated by the
Commonwealth be amortized over 20 years.

Act 205 further requires that an experience study be conducted at least every four years, and
cover the five-year period ending as of the end of the plan year preceding the plan year for which the
actuarial valuation report is filed. The most recent Experience Study was prepared by Cheiron in March
2014 for the period July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013. The changes to the actuarial and demographic
assumptions that were adopted by the Pension Board in response to such Experience Study have been
employed since the July 1, 2014 Valuation. The principal revisions included marginal changes in salary
growth rates; changes in retirement assumptions (increase for those under the pension plan the City
established in 1967; decrease for those under the pension plan the City established in 1987); increase in
the expected disability rates for police and fire employees; and changes in mortality assumptions to fully
reflect the most recent experience. Details of these assumption changes and the experience of the
Municipal Pension Plan can be found in the City of Philadelphia Municipal Retirement System
Experience Study Results and Recommendations For the period covering July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013,
available at the Investor Information section of the City’s Investor Website.
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Pension Adjustment Fund

Pursuant to § 22-311 of the Philadelphia Code, the City directed the Pension Board to establish a
Pension Adjustment Fund (“PAF”) on July 1, 1999, and further directed the Pension Board to determine,
effective June 30, 2000 and each Fiscal Year thereafter, whether there are “excess earnings” as defined
available to be credited to the PAF. The Pension Board’s determination is to be based upon the actuary’s
certification using the “adjusted market value of assets valuation method” as defined in § 22-311.
Although the portion of the assets attributed to the PAF is not segregated from the assets of the Municipal
Pension Fund, the Philadelphia Code provides that the “purpose of the Pension Adjustment Fund is for
the distribution of benefits as determined by the Board for retirees, beneficiaries or survivors [and] [t]he
Board shall make timely, regular and sufficient distributions from the Pension Adjustment Fund in order
to maximize the benefits of retirees, beneficiaries or survivors.” Distributions are to be made “without
delay” no later than six months after the end of each Fiscal Year. The PAF was established, in part,
because the Municipal Retirement System does not provide annual cost-of-living increases to retirees or
beneficiaries. At the time the PAF was established, distributions from the PAF were subject to the
restriction that the actuarial funded ratio using the “adjusted market value of assets” be not less than such
ratio as of July 1, 1999 (76.7%). That restriction was deleted in 2007 by an ordinance adopted by City
Council; the Mayor vetoed such ordinance, and City Council overrode such veto.

The amount to be credited to the PAF is 50% of the “excess earnings” that are between one
percent (1%) and six percent (6%) above the actuarial assumed investment rate. Earnings in excess of six
percent (6%) of the actuarial assumed investment rate remain in the Municipal Pension Fund. Although
the Pension Board utilizes a ten-year smoothing methodology, as explained above, for the actuarial
valuation of assets for funding and determination of the MMO, § 22-311 provides for a five-year
smoothing to determine the amount to be credited to the PAF. The actuary determined that for the Fiscal
Year ended June 30, 2016, there were no “excess earnings” as defined to be credited to the PAF. The
Pension Board transfers to the PAF the full amount calculated by the actuary as being available in any
year for transfer within six months of the Pension Board designating the amount to be transferred.

Transfers to the PAF and the resultant additional distributions to retirees result in removing assets
from the Municipal Pension Plan. To account for the possibility of such transfers, and as an alternative to
adjusting the assumed investment return rate to reflect such possibility, the actuary applies a load of
0.54% to the calculated actuarial liability as part of the funding requirement and MMO. Such calculation
was utilized for the first time in the July 1, 2013 actuarial valuation.

The market value of assets as used under this caption, “PENSION SYSTEM,” represents the value of
the assets if they were liquidated on the valuation date and this value includes the PAF (except as

otherwise indicated in certain tables), although the PAF is not available for funding purposes. The
actuarial value of assets does not include the PAF.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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Rates of Return; Asset Values; Changes in Plan Net Position

Rates of Return. The following table sets forth for the Fiscal Years 2007-2016 the market value
of assets internal rate of return and actuarial value of assets internal rate of return experienced by the
Municipal Pension Fund, and the assumed rate of return. The 5-year and 10-year annual average returns
as of June 30, 2016, were 4.54% and 4.27%, respectively, on a market value basis.

Table 24
Municipal Pension Fund
Annual Rates of Return

Year Ending June 30, Market Value Actuarial ValueV Assumed Rate of Return
2007 17.0% 10.7% 8.75%
2008 -4.5% 10.1% 8.75%
2009 -19.9% -9.3% 8.75%
2010 13.8% 12.9% 8.25%
2011 19.4% 9.9% 8.15%
2012 0.2% 2.4% 8.10%
2013 10.9% 5.1% 7.95%
2014 15.7% 4.8% 7.85%
2015 0.3% 5.8% 7.80%
2016 -3.2% 4.5% 7.75%

Source: July 1, 2016 Valuation.

(M Net of PAF. See “Pension Adjustment Fund” above. The actuarial values for 2007-2008 reflect a five-year smoothing; for
2009-2016, a ten-year smoothing.

The preliminary estimates of the annual rates of return, on a market value basis, for the year
ending June 30, 2017 is 12.9%, and for the three-month period ending September 30, 2017, is 3.5%.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Asset Values. The following table sets forth as of the July 1 actuarial valuation date for the years
2007-2016 the actuarial and market values of assets in the Municipal Pension Fund and the actuarial value
as a percentage of market value.

Table 25
Actuarial Value of Assets vs. Market Value of Net Assets
(Dollar Amounts in Millions of USD)

Actuarial Valuation Actuarial Value as a

Date Actuarial Market Value of Percentage of

(July 1) Value of Assets'" Net Assets'" Market Value
2007 $4,421.7 $4,850.9 91.2%
2008 $4,623.6 $4,383.5 105.5%
2009 $4,042.1 $3,368.4 120.0%
2010@ $4,380.9 $3,650.7 120.0%
2011@ $4,719.1 $4,259.2 110.8%
2012@ $4,716.8 $4,151.8 113.6%
2013 $4,799.3 $4,444.1 108.0%
2014 $4.814.9 $4,854.3 99.2%
2015 $4,863.4 $4,636.1 104.9%
2016 $4,936.0 $4,350.8 113.5%

Source: July 1, 2016 Valuation for Actuarial Value of Assets; 2007-2016 Actuarial Reports for Market Value of Net Assets.

(M For purposes of this table, the Market Value of Net Assets excludes the PAF, which as of June 30, 2016 equaled
$7.223 million. The Actuarial Value of Assets excludes that portion of the Municipal Pension Fund that is allocated
to the PAF. The actuarial values for 2007-2008 reflect a five-year smoothing; for 2009-2016, a ten-year smoothing.

@ The July 1, 2010 actuarial and market values of assets include the $150 million deferred contribution from Fiscal
Year 2010, and the July 1, 2011 and July 1, 2012 actuarial and market values of assets include the total deferred
contribution of $230 million. See Table 29 below.

Changes in Plan Net Position. The following table sets forth for the Fiscal Years 2012-2016, the
additions, including employee (member) contributions, City contributions (including contributions from
the Commonwealth), investment income and miscellanecous income, and deductions, including benefit
payments and administration expenses, for the Municipal Pension Fund. Debt service payments on
pension funding bonds (as described below at “Annual Contributions — Annual Debt Service Payments on
the Pension Bonds”) are made from the City’s General Fund, Water Operating Fund, and Aviation
Operating Fund, but are not made from the Municipal Pension Fund, and therefore are not included in
Table 26. In those years in which the investment income is less than anticipated, the Municipal Pension
Fund may experience negative changes (total deductions greater than total additions), which, as the table
reflects, did occur in Fiscal Year 2012. Furthermore, if unrealized gains are excluded from Table 26,
resulting in a comparison of cash actually received against actual cash outlays, it results in a negative cash
flow in each year, which is typical of a mature retirement system.

Contributions from the Commonwealth are provided pursuant to the provisions of Act 205. Any
such contributions are required to be used to defray the cost of the City’s pension system. The amounts
contributed by the Commonwealth for each of the last ten Fiscal Years are set forth in Table 29 below.
The contributions from the Commonwealth are capped pursuant to Act 205, which provides that “[n]o
municipality shall be entitled to receive an allocation of general municipal pension system State aid in an
amount greater that 25% of the total amount of the general municipal pension system State aid available.”
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Employee (member) contribution amounts reflect contribution rates as a percent of pay, which for

the plan year beginning July 1, 2017, vary from 5.00% to 6.00% for police and fire employees, and from
3.10% to 7.00% for municipal employees excluding elected officials. These rates include the increases in
contributions for certain municipal employees and elected officials currently in Plans 67, 87 and 87 Prime
and elected officials as required by legislation. This legislation called for employees in these groups to
pay an additional 0.5% of compensation from January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2015 and an additional
1.0% from January 1, 2016 onwards. New employees in these groups entering Plan 87 Municipal prime
will pay an additional 1.0% of compensation which is included in the table below.

Table 26
Changes in Net Position of the Municipal Pension Fund
Fiscal Years 2012-2016
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
Beginning Net Assets
(Market Value) $4,030,216 $3,922,817 $4,445,224 $4,916,705  $4,674,252
Additions
- Member Contributions 49,979 49,614 53,722 58,658 67,055
- City Contributions® 556,031 781,823 553,179 577,195 660,247
- Investment Income® 13,297 442667 677,380 11,790 (147,424)
- Miscellaneous
Income® 1,224 3.134 4,089 2.049 1,742
Total $620,531 $1,277,238  $1,288,370  $649,692  $581,620
Deductions
- Benefits and Refunds (712,684) (746,490)  (808,597)  (881,666) (889,343)
- Administration (15.246)° (8.341) (8.292) (10.479) (8.554)
Total $(727,930)  $(754,831) $(816,889) $(892,145)  $(897,897)
Ending Net Assets
(Market Value)® $3,922.817 $4,445,224  $4,916,705 $4,674,252  $4,357,975

Source: Municipal Pension Fund’s audited financial statements.

(1
(2)
(3)

4
(5)

(6)

Includes the PAF, which is not available for funding purposes.
City Contributions include pension contributions from the Commonwealth. See Table 29.

Investment income is shown net of fees and expenses, and includes interest and dividend income, net appreciation
(depreciation) in fair value of investments, and net gains realized upon the sale of investments.

Miscellaneous income includes securities lending and other miscellaneous revenues.

The $15.2 million is the number in the Fund’s 2012 audited financial statements. However, it was subsequently
determined that certain investment expenses had been misclassified as administration expenses. If those investment
expenses were not included, the administration deduction for Fiscal Year 2012 would have been $8.5 million.

For Fiscal Year 2012, does not include the $230 million total contribution receivable, which was paid back and is
included in Fiscal Year 2013 in the “City Contributions” amount. See Table 29.
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Funded Status of the Municipal Pension Fund

The following two tables set forth as of the July 1 actuarial valuation date for the years 2007-
2016, the asset value, the actuarial liability, the UAL, the funded ratio, covered payroll and UAL, as a
percentage of covered payroll for the Municipal Pension Fund on actuarial and market value bases,

respectively.

Schedule of Funding Progress (Actuarial Value)

Table 27

(Dollar Amounts in Millions of USD)

UAL as a
Actuarial Actuarial UAL %
Valuation Value Actuarial (Actuarial Funded Covered of Covered
Date of AssetsV Liability Value) Ratio Payroll Payroll
(July 1) (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (© [(b-a)/c]
2007 $4,421.7 $8,197.2 $3,775.5 53.9% $1,351.8 279.3%
2008 $4,623.6 $8,402.2 $3,778.7 55.0% $1,456.5 259.4%
2009 $4,042.1 $8.975.0 $4,932.9 45.0% $1,463.3 337.1%
2010 $4,380.9 $9,317.0 $4,936.1 47.0% $1,421.2 347.3%
2011 $4,719.1® $9,487.5 $4,768.4 49.7% $1,371.3 347.7%
2012 $4,716.8® $9,799.9 $5,083.1 48.1% $1,372.2 370.4%
2013 $4,799.3 $10,126.2 $5,326.9 47.4% $1,429.7 372.6%
2014 $4,814.9 $10,521.8 $5,706.9 45.8% $1,495.4 381.6%
2015 $4,863.4 $10,800.4 $5,937.0 45.0% $1,597.8 371.6%
2016 $4,936.0 $11,024.8 $6,088.8 44.8% $1,676.5 363.2%

Source: July 1, 2016 Valuation.

(M The July 1, 2010 Actuarial Value of Assets includes the $150 million deferred contribution from Fiscal Year 2010
and each of the July 1, 2011 and July 1, 2012 Actuarial Value of Assets includes the total deferred contribution of
$230 million.

@ Reflects the assumed rate of return on deferred contributions at the time of the deferral.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Table 28
Schedule of Funding Progress (Market Value)

(Dollar Amounts in Millions of USD)

Market UAL as a
Actuarial Value UAL %
Valuation of Net Actuarial (Market Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets Liability Value) Ratio Payroll Payroll
(July 1) (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (© [(b-a)/c]
2007 $4,850.9 $8,197.2 $3,346.3 59.2% $1,351.8 247.5%
2008 $4,383.5 $8.402.2 $4,018.7 52.2% $1,456.5 275.9%
2009 $3,368.4 $8,975.0 $5,606.6 37.5% $1,463.3 383.2%
2010 $3,650.7 $9,317.0 $5,666.3 39.2% $1,421.2 398.7%
2011 $4,259.2 $9.487.5 $5,228.3 44.9% $1,371.3 381.3%
2012 $4,151.8 $9,799.9 $5,648.1 42.4% $1,372.2 411.6%
2013 $4,444.1 $10,126.2 $5,682.1 43.9% $1,429.7 397.4%
2014 $4,854.3 $10,521.8 $5,667.6 46.1% $1,495.4 379.0%
2015 $4,636.1® $10,800.4 $6,164.3 42.9% $1,597.8 385.8%
2016 $4,350.8®  $11,024.8 $6,674.0 39.5% $1,676.5 398.1%

Source: 2007-2016 Actuarial Valuation Reports.

(1 The July 1, 2010 Market Value of Net Assets includes the $150 million deferred contribution from Fiscal Year 2010 and
each of the July 1, 2011 and July 1, 2012 Market Value of Net Assets includes the total deferred contribution of $230

million.

@ For purposes of this table, the Market Value of Net Assets excludes the PAF, which as of June 30, 2015 equaled
$38,198,762, and as of June 30, 2016 equaled $7,223,000.

The following chart reflects the funded ratios, using the actuarial value of assets, for the 20-year
period 1997 — 2016.
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Annual Contributions

Annual Municipal Pension Contributions

Table 29 shows the components of the City’s annual pension contributions to the Municipal Pension Fund for the Fiscal Years 2007-2016.

Table 29

Total Contribution to Municipal Pension Fund

(Dollar Amounts in Millions of USD)

Aggregate
General General Grants Contributions MMO
Fund Commonwealth Fund Aviation Funding and from Quasi- Pension Total (Deferred) % of MMO
Fiscal Contribution Contribution Contribution ~ Water Fund Fund Other Funds governmental Bond Contribution MMO Makeup Contributed
Year (A) (B) (A+B) Contribution ~ Contribution  Contribution" Agencies Proceeds ©) (D) Payments (C/D)
2007 $304.6 $57.7 $362.3 $31.5 $14.3 $11.2 $13.0 $0.0 $432.3 $400.3 108.0%
2008 $292.7 $59.6 $352.3 $32.4 $15.5 $12.2 $14.5 $0.0 $426.9 $412.4 103.5%
2009 $315.0 $59.6 $374.6 $36.4 $17.5 $11.5 $15.4 $0.0 $455.4 $438.5 103.9%
2010 $190.8?® $59.2 $250.0 $25.1 $11.6 $10.8 $15.1 $0.0 $312.6® $447.4  $(150.0)® 100.0%@
2011 $325.8? $61.8 $387.6 $37.7 $17.1 $13.6 $14.2 $0.0 $470.2?@ $511.0 $(80.0)® 100.0%®
2012 $352.7 $95.0 $447.7 $43.8 $20.6 $27.4 $16.2 $0.0 $555.7 $507.0 109.7%
2013 $356.5 $65.7 $422.2 $41.4 $20.3 $27.2 $18.1 $252.6% $781.8 $492.0 $230.0® 100.0%®
2014 $365.8 $69.6 $435.4 $45.5 $22.5 $30.0 $19.8 $0.0 $553.2 $523.4 105.7%
2015 $388.5 $62.0 $450.5 $48.3 $23.9 $33.4 $21.1 $0.0 $577.2 $556.0 103.8%
2016 $449.6 $62.6 $512.2 $55.1 $27.1 $34.8 $31.0 $0.0 $660.2 $595.0 110.0%

(M Other Funds Contributions represents contributions to the Municipal Pension Fund from the City’s Special Gasoline Tax Fund, Community Development Block Grant Fund,
Municipal Pension Fund, Acute Care Hospital Assessment Fund, and General Capital Improvement Fund.
@ Reflects the actual cash outlays for Fiscal Year 2010 and Fiscal Year 2011, which do not include the deferred contributions authorized pursuant to Act 44. See “— Funding
Requirements; Funding Standards — Pennsylvania Law” above for a discussion of pension contribution deferrals authorized pursuant to Act 44.
3 As authorized pursuant to Act 44, the City deferred payments to the Municipal Pension Fund of $150 million in fiscal year 2010 and $80 million in fiscal year 2011. Those
amounts were repaid in fiscal year 2013, in which year the City made a contribution of $252.6 million to the Municipal Pension Fund, consisting of $230 million of proceeds
of Pension Bonds that were issued in October 2012 and $22.6 million in refunding savings from a refunding Pension Bond financing in December 2012. See *“ — Annual Debt

Service Payments on the Pension Bonds” below.

@ Act 205 directs the Actuary, in performing the actuarial valuations, to disregard deferrals, and therefore for ease of presentation 100.0% is reflected in this column for both the
years in which the deferrals occurred and the year in which the makeup payment was made.
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Annual Debt Service Payments on the Pension Bonds

Pension funding bonds (“Pension Bonds”) were issued in Fiscal Year 1999, at the request of the
City, by PAID. Debt service on the Pension Bonds is payable pursuant to a Service Agreement between
the City and PAID. The Service Agreement provides that the City is obligated to pay a service fee from
its current revenues and the City covenanted in the agreement to include the annual amount in its
operating budget and to make appropriations in such amounts as are required. If the City’s revenues are
insufficient to pay the full service fee in any Fiscal Year as the same becomes due and payable, the City
has covenanted to include amounts not so paid in its operating budget for the ensuing Fiscal Year.

The 1999 Pension Bonds were issued in the principal amount of $1.3 billion, and the net proceeds
were used, together with other funds of the City, to make a contribution in Fiscal Year 1999 to the
Municipal Pension Fund in the amount of approximately $1.5 billion.

In October 2012, PAID, at the request of the City, issued Pension Bonds in the principal amount
of $231.2 million, the proceeds of which were used principally to make the $230 million repayment of
deferred contributions to the Municipal Pension Fund reflected in Table 29 above. These bonds had
maturities of April 1, 2013 and 2014, and have been repaid.

In December 2012, PAID, at the request of the City, issued Pension Bonds in the approximate
principal amount of $300 million, the proceeds of which were used to current refund a portion of the 1999
Pension Bonds. The refunding generated savings of approximately $22.6 million, which the City
deposited into the Municipal Pension Fund.

Table 30 shows the components of the City’s annual debt service payments on the Pension Bonds
for the Fiscal Years 2007-2016.

Table 30
Total Debt Service Payments on Pension Bonds
(Amounts in Millions of USD)

General Aviation
Fund Water Fund Fund Other Funds Grants Total
Fiscal Year Payment Payment Payment Payment® Funding Payment

2007 $74.6 $7.2 $3.2 $0.5 $1.3 $86.8
2008 $78.4 $7.8 $3.5 $0.6 $1.3 $91.6
2009 $84.4 $7.2 $3.3 $0.6 $1.3 $96.8
2010 $96.7 $7.6 $3.4 $0.6 $1.5 $109.8
2011 $97.7 $10.3 $4.6 $0.8 $1.5 $114.9
2012 $100.1 $10.7 $4.8 $0.7 $3.4 $119.7
2013@ $196.6 $21.5 $10.1 $1.3 $3.8 $233.3
2014 $211.0 $23.6 $11.2 $1.4 $3.7 $250.9
2015 $107.7 $12.6 $5.9 $0.8 $4.0 $131.0
2016 $109.9 $13.7 $6.4 $0.9 $3.8 $134.7

(" Other Funds Payments represents the allocable portion of debt service payments on the City’s Pension Bonds from the

City’s Special Gasoline Tax Fund, Community Development Block Grant Fund, Municipal Pension Fund, Acute Care
Hospital Assessment Fund, and General Capital Improvement Fund.

The increase in debt service payments in fiscal years 2013 and 2014 over the fiscal year 2012 amounts reflect the debt
service payments on the Pension Bonds that were issued in October 2012.

03]
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Annual Pension Costs of the General Fund

Table 31 shows the annual pension costs of the General Fund for the Fiscal Years 2007-2016,

being the sum of the General Fund Contribution to the Municipal Pension Fund (column (A) in Table 29
above) and the General Fund debt service payments on Pension Bonds (Table 30 above).

Table 31
Annual Pension Costs of the General Fund
(Amounts in Millions of USD)

General Fund

General portion of Annual
Fund General Fund Pension Costs as %
Pension Pension Bond Annual Total General of Total General
Fund Debt Service Pension Fund Fund Expenditures
Fiscal Contribution Payment Costs Expenditures (AtB)
Year N (B) (A+B) (®) C
2007 $304.6 $74.6 $379.2 $3,736.66 10.15%
2008 $292.7 $78.4 $371.1 $3,919.84 9.47%
2009 $315.0 $84.4 $399.4 $3,915.29 10.20%
2010 $190.8 $96.7 $287.5 $3,653.73 7.87%
2011 $325.8 $97.7 $423.5 $3,785.29 11.19%
2012 $352.7 $100.1 $452.8 $3,484.88 12.99%
2013 $356.5 $196.6 $553.1 $3,613.27 15.31%
2014 $365.8 $211.0 $576.8 $3,886.56 14.84%
2015 $388.5 $107.7 $496.2 $3,831.51 12.95%
2016 $449.6 $109.9 $559.5 $4,015.80 13.93%

(M Does not include Commonwealth contribution. See Table 29.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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The following table shows the annual City contribution to the Municipal Pension Fund as a
percentage of the covered employee payroll.

Table 32
Annual City Contribution as % of Covered Employee Payroll
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Annual City Fiscal Year Covered ACC as
Fiscal Year Contribution Employee Payroll® % of Payroll

2007 $432,267 $1,351,826 31.98%
2008 $426,934 $1,456,520 29.31%
2009 $455,389 $1,463,260 31.12%
2010 $312,556 $1,421,151 21.99%
2011 $470,155 $1,371,274 34.29%
2012 $555,690 $1,372,174 40.50%
2013 $781,823 $1,429,723 54.68%
2014 $553,179 $1,495,421 36.99%
2015 $577,195 $1,597,849 36.12%
2016 $660,247 $1,676,412 39.38%

Source: Municipal Pension Fund Financial Statements, June 30, 2016.

(1) The definition of “covered-employee payroll” in GASB 68 differs slightly from the “covered payroll” definition in GASB
27. See “PENSION SYSTEM — Funding Requirements; Funding Standards — GASB, City Funding Policy.”

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Actuarial Projections of Funded Status

Cautionary Note. The information under this subheading, “Actuarial Projections of Funded
Status,” was prepared by Cheiron. The table below shows a five-year projection of MMO payments,
Actuarial Value of Assets, Actuarial Liability, UAL, and Funded Ratio. The charts below show
projections through 2036 of funded ratios and MMO contributions. All projections, whether for five
years or for twenty years, are subject to actual experience deviating from the underlying assumptions and
methods, and that is particularly the case for the charts below for the periods beyond the projections in the
five-year table. Projections and actuarial assessments are “forward looking” statements and are
based upon assumptions which may not be fully realized in the future and are subject to change,
including changes based upon the future experience of the City’s Municipal Pension Fund and
Municipal Pension Plan.

The projections are on the basis that all assumptions in the July 1, 2016 Valuation are exactly
realized and the City makes all future MMO payments on schedule as required by Pennsylvania law, and
must be understood in the context of the assumptions, methods and benefits in effect as described in the
July 1, 2016 Valuation. Included among such assumptions are: (i) the rates of return for the Municipal
Pension Fund over the projection period will equal 7.70% annually, (ii)) MMO contributions will be made
each year, and (iii) the provisions of Act205 as amended by Act44 will remain in force during the
projection period. The July 1, 2016 Valuation includes charts reflecting the contributions based on MMO
(charts 1A and 2A), and charts reflecting the additional contributions in accordance with the Revenue
Recognition Policy (chart 3A). The charts below reflect the MMO contributions without taking into
account any additional contributions in accordance with the Revenue Recognition Policy. See the July 1,
2016 Valuation for a further discussion of the assumptions and methodologies used by the Actuary in
preparing the July 1, 2016 Valuation and the following projections, all of which should be carefully
considered in reviewing the projections. The July 1, 2016 Valuation is available for review on the
Municipal Retirement System website. The table and charts below separately set forth estimates of sales
tax revenues that will be deposited by the City into the Municipal Pension Fund, which were provided by
the City to Cheiron at the time of the valuation. Please note that the sales tax contribution figures below
do not reflect the updated sales tax contribution figures included in the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year
Plan (see line 11 of the “Summary of Operations Fiscal Years 2016 to 2022” on page 1 of the Revised
Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan). Cheiron has not analyzed and makes no representation regarding the
validity of the sales tax revenue assumptions and estimates provided by the City. See “REVENUES OF THE
CITy — Sales and Use Tax.” Each of the tables and graphs that follow are part of the July 1, 2016
Valuation and such Valuation report should be referenced regarding the underlying benefits, methods, and
assumptions utilized in the production of these values.

Five-Year Projection. For the following chart, dollar amounts are in millions of USD.

Sales Tax Actuarial Value Actuarial
Fiscal Year End Contribution of Assets Liability Funded Ratio
2017 $ 6296 $ 16.1 $ 4936.0 $ 11,0247 $ 6,088.7 44.8%
2018 657.0 21.1 4,955.1 11,126.1 6,171.0 44.5%
2019 675.4 41.7 5,002.4 11,221.0 6,218.5 44.6%
2020 694.7 473 5,214.9 11,309.2 6,094.2 46.1%
2021 699.7 529 5,437.5 11,392.6 5,955.1 47.7%
2022 704.7 57.2 5,672.3 11,506.9 5,834.6 49.3%
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Twenty-Year Projections.
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OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The City self-administers a single employer, defined benefit plan for post-employment benefits
other than pension benefits (“OPEB”), and funds such plan on a pay-as-you-go basis. The City’s OPEB
plan provides for those persons who retire from the City and are participants in the Municipal Pension
Plan: (i) post-employment healthcare benefits for a period of five years following the date of retirement
and (ii) lifetime life insurance coverage ($7,500 for firefighters who retired before July 1, 1990; $6,000
for all other retirees). In general, retirees eligible for OPEB are those who terminate their employment
after ten years of continuous service to immediately become pensioned under the Municipal Pension Plan.

To provide health care coverage, the City pays a negotiated monthly premium for retirees covered
by the union contract for AFSCME DC 33 and is self-insured for all other eligible pre-Medicare retirees.
Aside from AFSCME DC 33, the City is responsible for the actual health care cost that is invoiced to the
City’s unions by their respective vendors. The actual cost can be a combination of self-insured claim
expenses, premiums, ancillary services, and administrative expenses. Eligible union represented
employees receive five years of coverage through their union’s health fund. The City’s funding obligation
for pre-Medicare retiree benefits is the same as for active employees. Union represented and non-union
employees may defer their retiree health coverage until a later date. For some groups, the amount that the
City pays for their deferred health care is based on the value of the health benefits at the time the retiree
claims the benefits, but for police and fire retirees who retired after an established date, the City pays the
cost of five years of coverage when the retiree claims the benefits.

The annual payments made by the City for OPEB for Fiscal Years 2012-2016 are shown in Table
33 below.

Table 33
Annual OPEB Payment
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)
Fiscal Year ended June 30, Annual OPEB Payment
2012 $76,344
2013 $57,096
2014 $67,100
2015 $95,300
2016 $107,200

Source: See Note IV.3 to the City’s audited Financial Statements for such Fiscal Years (as included in the
City’s CAFRs).

For financial reporting purposes, although the City funds OPEB on a pay-as-you-go basis, it is
required to include in its financial statements (in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45) a calculation
similar to that performed to calculate its pension liability. Pursuant to GASB 45, an annual required
contribution is calculated which, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year
and to amortize any unfunded actuarial liability over a period not to exceed 30 years. As of July 1, 2015,
the date of the most recent actuarial valuation, the UAL for the City’s OPEB was $1.77 billion, the
covered annual payroll was $1.54 billion, and the ratio of UAL to the covered payroll was 114.8%. See
Note IV.3 to the City’s audited Financial Statements for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2016.

A-67



PGW PENSION PLAN
General

PGW consists of all the real and personal property owned by the City and used for the
acquisition, manufacture, storage, processing, and distribution of gas within the City, and all property,
books, and records employed and maintained in connection with the operation, maintenance, and
administration of PGW. The City Charter provides for a Gas Commission (the “Gas Commission”) to be
constituted and appointed in accordance with the provisions of contracts between the City and the
operator of PGW as may from time to time be in effect, or, in the absence of a contract, as may be
provided by ordinance. The Gas Commission consists of the City Controller, two members appointed by
City Council and two members appointed by the Mayor.

PGW is operated by PFMC, pursuant to an agreement between the City and PFMC dated
December 29, 1972, as amended, authorized by ordinances of City Council (the ‘“Management
Agreement”). Under the Management Agreement, various aspects of PFMC’s management of PGW are
subject to review and approval by the Gas Commission. The PUC has the regulatory responsibility for
PGW with regard to rates, safety, and customer service.

The City sponsors the Philadelphia Gas Works Pension Plan (the “PGW Pension Plan”), a single
employer defined benefit plan, to provide pension benefits for all of PGW’s employees and other eligible
class employees of PFMC and the Gas Commission. As plan sponsor, the City, through its General Fund,
could be responsible for plan liabilities if the PGW Pension Plan does not satisfy its payment obligations
to PGW retirees. At July 1, 2016, the PGW Pension Plan membership total was 3,772, comprised of: (i)
2,521 retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits and terminated employees entitled to benefits
but not yet receiving them; and (ii) 1,251 participants, of which 1,036 were vested and 215 were
nonvested.

PGW Pension Plan

The PGW Pension Plan provides retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits.
Retirement benefits vest after five years of credited service. Retirement payments for vested employees
commence: (i) at age 65 and five years of credited service; (ii) age 55 and 15 years of credited service; or
(ii1) without regard to age, after 30 years of credited service. For covered employees hired prior to
May 21, 2011 (union employees) or prior to December 21, 2011 (non-union employees), PGW pays the
entire cost of the PGW Pension Plan. Union employees hired on or after May 21, 2011 and non-union
employees hired on or after December 21, 2011 have the option to participate in the PGW Pension Plan
and contribute 6% of applicable wages, or participate in a plan established in compliance with Section
401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (deferred compensation plan) and have PGW contribute 5.5% of
applicable wages.

PGW is required by statute to contribute the amounts necessary to fund the PGW Pension Plan.
The PGW Pension Plan is being funded with contributions by PGW to the Sinking Fund Commission of
the City, together with investment earnings and employee contributions required for new hires after
December 2011 who elect to participate in the PGW Pension Plan. Benefit and contribution provisions
are established by City ordinance and may be amended only as allowed by City ordinance. The pension
payments are treated as an operating expense of PGW and are included as a component of PGW’s base
rate. The PUC approves all items that are to be included in PGW’s base rates. PGW filed its current rate
case with the PUC on February 27, 2017.
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Effective October 2015, payments to beneficiaries of the PGW Pension Plan are made by the
PGW Retirement Reserve Fund. Prior to October 2015, payments to beneficiaries of the PGW Pension
Plan were made by PGW through its payroll system. The financial statements for the PGW Pension Plan
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, show an amount due to PGW of approximately $6.0 million,
which represents the cumulative excess of payments made to the retirees and administrative expenses
incurred by PGW, over the sum of PGW’s required annual contribution and reimbursements received
from the PGW Pension Plan.

Pension Costs and Funding

PGW pays an annual amount that is projected to be sufficient to cover its normal cost and an
amortization of the PGW Pension Plan’s UAL. The following table shows the normal cost, the
amortization payment, and the resulting annual required contribution as of the last five actuarial valuation
dates for the PGW Pension Plan. PGW has been using a 20-year open amortization period (and the
payments in Table 34 are on the basis of a 20-year open amortization). Commencing in PGW’s fiscal
year 2016, PGW calculates an annual required contribution on the basis of both a 20-year open
amortization period and a 30-year closed amortization period, and will contribute the higher of the two
amounts. See “— Projections of Funded Status” below. An open amortization period is one that begins
again or is recalculated at each actuarial valuation date. With a closed amortization period, the unfunded
liability is amortized over a specific number of years to produce a level annual payment. Because the
final amortization date is fixed, if all actuarial assumptions are achieved, the unfunded liability would
decline to zero as of the final amortization date. To the extent future experience differs from the
assumptions used to establish the 30-year fixed amortization payment schedule, new amortization bases
attributable to a particular year’s difference would be established and amortized over their own 30-year
schedule.

Table 34
PGW Pension — Annual Required Contributions
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Calculation of

ARC for the 12- Amortization
month period Normal Cost Payment" ARC-® Payments to
ended: (A) (B) (A+B) Beneficiaries®
9/1/2012 $8,782 $14,357 $23,139 $40,122
9/1/2013 $8,533 $15,127 $23,660 $41,614
9/1/2014 $8,852 $12,130 $20,982 $42,913
7/1/2015 $7,859 $18,063 $25,922 $46,917
7/1/2016 $7,992 $20,238 $28,230 $50,447

M
@

©)

Source: The Actuarial Valuation Report for the Plan Year July 1, 2016 — June 30, 2017 for the PGW Pension Plan.

As described above, until October 2015, PGW did not make a net cash contribution to the PGW Pension Plan, but rather paid beneficiaries
through its payroll system, and then was reimbursed by the Plan. Effective October 2015, payments to beneficiaries of the PGW Pension
Plan are made by the PGW Retirement Reserve Fund. Each ARC is the sum reflected in this table, but the “Calculated Mid-Year
Contribution” in Tables 36 and 37 more closely approximates the actual pension contributions made by PGW.

Source: For 2012 and 2013, PGW’s CAFR for the fiscal years ended August 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. For 2014-2015, PGW’s
CAFR for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2015. For 2016, the audited financial statements for PGW for the fiscal years ended August 31,
2016 and 2015.
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Although PGW has paid its annual required contribution each year, the market value of assets for
the PGW Pension Plan is less than the actuarial accrued liability, as shown in the next table.

Table 35
Schedule of Pension Funding Progress

(1)
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Actuarial Valuation Date Market Value of Assets Actuarial Liability UAL (Market Value) Funded Ratio
9/1/2012 $437,780 $585,632 $147,852 74.75%
9/1/2013 $462,691 $623,612 $160,921 74.20%
9/1/2014 $514,944 $643,988 $129,044 79.96%
7/1/2015 $510,719 $706,704 $195,985 72.27%
7/1/20169 $483,259 $736,078 $252,819 65.65%

M
@

Source: The Actuarial Valuation Report for the Plan Year July 1, 2016 — June 30, 2017 for the PGW Pension Plan.

On July 1, 2016, the actuarial value of assets was $511.3 million, resulting in a UAL of $224.8 million, and a funded ratio of 69.46%. See
Tables 36 and 37.

The current significant actuarial assumptions for the PGW Pension Plan are: (i) investment return
rate of 7.30% compounded annually; (ii) salary increases assumed to reach 4.5% per year; and (iii)
retirements that are assumed to occur, for those with 30 or more years of service, at a rate of 15% at ages
55 to 60, 30% at age 61, 50% at ages 62-69, and 100% at age 70 and older.

Since the last actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2015, the demographics of the plan
participants have changed as follows: (i) the number of plan participants has decreased 0.7%, (ii) the total
number of actives in the plan decreased 1.8%, (iii) total payroll has decreased 4.5%, (iv) average pay has
decreased 2.8%, and (v) average age of active plan participants increased 1.2%. Effective September 1,
2016, PGW began utilizing an investment rate of return of 7.30% for the PGW Pension Plan. The
assumed investment rate return for the period July 1, 2015 — August 31, 2016 was 7.65%. Such reduction
in the assumed investment rate of return increased the measurement of plan liabilities by approximately
3.6% and increased the annual contribution by $2,407,000 (2.6% of pay). The foregoing, among other
factors, have resulted in an increase in the UAL from approximately $196.0 million at July 1, 2015 to
approximately $252.8 million at July 1, 2016.

PGW uses a September 1 — August 31 fiscal year, while the PGW Pension Plan uses a July 1 —
June 30 fiscal year (the same as the City’s fiscal year). The last two actuarial valuation reports for the
PGW Pension Plan utilized a plan year of July 1 to June 30. This is reflected in Table 35 above.

The PGW Pension Plan actuary prepared a separate actuarial valuation report (“GASB 67
Report™) for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, for purposes of plan reporting information under
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 67, “Financial Reporting for Pension Plans.”
The GASB 67 Report shows for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016, an unfunded liability of
approximately $296.1 million (rather than the approximately $252.8 million reflected in Table 35), which
results in a funded ratio of 62.00%. In addition, that report provides an interest rate sensitivity, which
shows that were the investment rate to be 6.30% (1% lower than the assumed investment rate of 7.30%),
the unfunded liability would be approximately $387.1 million.
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Projections of Funded Status

The information under this subheading, “Projections of Funded Status,” is extracted from tables
prepared by Aon Hewitt, as actuary to the PGW Pension Plan, which were included in their “Actuarial
Valuation Report for the Plan Year July 1, 2016 — June 30, 2017,” dated October 28, 2016. The charts
show 10-year projections, using both the current amortization method (20-year, open) and the alternative
amortization method (30-year, fixed). See “— Pension Costs and Funding” above. Projections are subject
to actual experience deviating from the underlying assumptions and methods. Projections and actuarial
assessments are “forward looking” statements and are based upon assumptions that may not be
fully realized in the future and are subject to change, including changes based upon the future
experience of the PGW Pension Plan.

Table 36
Schedule of Prospective Funded Status (20-Year Open Amortization)
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Actuarial

Valuation Actuarial Actuarial Calculated
Date Value Accrued UAL Mid-Year Funded

(July 1) of Assets Liability (Actuarial Value) Contribution" @ Ratio

2016 $511,289 $736,078 $224,789 $29,260 69.46%
2017 $516,312 $743,161 $226,849 $29,201 69.48%
2018 $520,981 $749,322 $228,341 $29,227 69.53%
2019 $525,256 $754,759 $229,502 $29,361 69.59%
2020 $529,287 $760,354 $231,067 $29,267 69.61%
2021 $539,874 $764,209 $224,335 $28,403 70.64%
2022 $549,285 $766,619 $217,334 $27,526 71.65%
2023 $557,447 $767,850 $210,403 $26,709 72.60%
2024 $564,315 $768,739 $204,424 $25,598 73.41%
2025 $569,580 $769,172 $199,591 $25,018 74.05%

(" Source: The Actuarial Valuation Report for the Plan Year July 1, 2016 — June 30, 2017 for the PGW Pension Plan.

@ PGW makes monthly contributions to the PGW Retirement Reserve Fund. The actuary’s report assumes contributions at the
beginning, middle, and end of the plan year. PGW utilizes the mid-year contribution level to approximate the actual funding
methodology.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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Table 37
Schedule of Prospective Funded Status (30-Year Closed Amortization)
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Actuarial

Valuation Actuarial Actuarial Calculated
Date Value Accrued UAL Mid-Year Funded

(July 1) of Assets Liability (Actuarial Value) Contribution" @ Ratio

2016 $511,289 $736,078 $224,789 $26,470 69.46%
2017 $516,312 $743,161 $226,849 $26,587 69.48%
2018 $520,981 $749,322 $228,341 $26,806 69.53%
2019 $525,256 $754,759 $229,502 $27,157 69.59%
2020 $529,287 $760,354 $231,067 $27,293 69.61%
2021 $539,874 $764,209 $224,335 $26,792 70.64%
2022 $549,285 $766,619 $217,334 $26,298 71.65%
2023 $557,447 $767,850 $210,403 $25,880 72.60%
2024 $564,315 $768,739 $204,424 $25,178 73.41%
2025 $569,580 $769,172 $199,591 $25,013 74.05%

(" Source: The Actuarial Valuation Report for the Plan Year July 1, 2016 — June 30, 2017 for the PGW Pension Plan.

@ PGW makes monthly contributions to the PGW Retirement Reserve Fund. The actuary’s report assumes contributions at the
beginning, middle, and end of the plan year. PGW utilizes the mid-year contribution level to approximate the actual funding
methodology.

Additional Information

The City issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information for the PGW Pension Plan. The report is not incorporated into this
Official Statement by reference. The report may be obtained by writing to the Office of the Director of
Finance of the City.

Further information on the PGW Pension Plan, including with respect to its membership, plan
description, funding policy, actuarial assumptions and funded status is contained in the Fiscal Year 2016
CAFR.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK. ]
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PGW OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

PGW provides post-employment healthcare and life insurance benefits to its participating retirees
and their beneficiaries and dependents. The City, through its General Fund, could be responsible for costs
associated with post-employment healthcare and life insurance benefits if PGW fails to satisfy its post-
employment benefit obligations.

PGW pays the full cost of medical, basic dental, and prescription coverage for employees who
retired prior to December 1, 2001. Employees who retire after December 1, 2001 are provided a choice
of three plans at PGW’s expense and can elect to pay toward a more expensive plan. Union employees
hired prior to May 21, 2011 and non-union employees hired prior to December 21, 2011 who retire from
active service to immediately begin receiving pension benefits are entitled to receive lifetime post-
retirement medical, prescription, and dental benefits for themselves and, depending on their retirement
plan elections, their dependents. Employees hired on or after those dates are entitled to receive only five
years of post-retirement benefits. Currently, PGW provides for the cost of healthcare and life insurance
benefits for retirees and their beneficiaries on a pay-as-you-go-basis.

As part of a July 29, 2010 rate case settlement (the “Rate Settlement”), which provided for the
establishment of an irrevocable trust for the deposit of funds derived through a rider from all customer
classes to fund OPEB liabilities (the “OPEB Surcharge”), PGW established the trust in July 2010, and
began funding the trust in accordance with the Rate Settlement in September 2010. The Rate Settlement
provides that PGW shall deposit $15.0 million annually for an initial five-year period towards the ARC,
and an additional $3.5 million annually, which represents a 30-year amortization of the OPEB liability at
August 31, 2010. These deposits will be funded primarily through increased rates of $16.0 million
granted in the Rate Settlement. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis,
is projected to cover normal costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding
excesses) over a period of 30 years. In PGW’s 2015-2016 Gas Cost Rate (“GCR”) proceeding, PGW
proposed to continue its OPEB Surcharge. The parties to the GCR proceeding submitted a settlement
agreement continuing the OPEB Surcharge at the same level of revenue ($16 million annually) and
funding ($18.5 million annually). Such settlement agreement was approved by the PUC.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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Table 38 provides detail of actual PGW OPEB payments for the last five PGW Fiscal Years and
projected PGW OPEB payments for PGW Fiscal Years 2017-2021.

Table 38
PGW OPEB Payments
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)
Fiscal Year OPEB
ended August 31, Healthcare Life Insurance Trust Total
Actual
2012 $24,503 $1,483 $18,500 $44,486
2013 $22,180 $1,562 $18,500 $42,242
2014 $24,247 $1,615 $18,500 $44,362
2015 $28,598 $1,749 $18,500 $48,847
20161 $29,300 $1,800 $18,500 $49,551
Projections
2017 $30,971 $1,700 $18,500 $51,171
2018 $34,449 $1,700 $18,500 $54,649
2019 $37,659 $1,700 $18,500 $57,859
2020 $41,010 $1,700 $18,500 $61,210
2021 $44.,661 $1,700 $18,500 $64,861

M For PGW Fiscal Year 2016, “Healthcare” and “Life Insurance” are rounded figures and, as such, will not sum. “Total” is an
actual figure.

Table 39 is the schedule of PGW OPEB funding progress, as of the actuarial valuation date of
August 31 for 2012-2016.

Table 39
Schedule of OPEB Funding Progress
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Actuarial valuation Actuarial Unfunded
date (August 31) value of assets  Actuarial liability actuarial liability Funded ratio

2012 $38,860 $443,982 $405,122 8.8%
2013 $61,796 $436,527 $374,731 14.2%
2014 $90,838 $450,289 $359,451 20.2%
2015 $104,318 $505,434 $401,116 20.6%
2016 $131,868 $489,725 $357,857 26.9%

Further information on PGW’s annual OPEB expense, net OPEB obligation and the funded status
of the OPEB benefits related to PGW is contained in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.
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CITY CASH MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES
General Fund Cash Flow

Because the receipt of revenues into the General Fund generally lags behind expenditures from
the General Fund during each Fiscal Year, the City issues notes in anticipation of General Fund revenues
and makes payments from the Consolidated Cash Account (described below) to finance its on-going
operations.

The timing imbalance referred to above results from a number of factors, principally the
following: (i) Real Estate Taxes, BIRT, and net profits taxes are not due until the latter part of the Fiscal
Year; and (ii) the City experiences lags in reimbursement from other governmental entities for
expenditures initially made by the City in connection with programs funded by other governments.

The City has issued, or PICA has issued on behalf of the City, tax and revenue anticipation notes
in each Fiscal Year since Fiscal Year 1972. Each issue was repaid when due, prior to the end of the
Fiscal Year. The City issued $175 million of tax and revenue anticipation notes on October 19, 2016,
which matured on June 30, 2017 and were paid in full.

The repayment of the tax and revenue anticipation notes is funded through cash available in the
General Fund.

Consolidated Cash

The Act of the General Assembly of June 25, 1919 (Pa. P.L. 581, No. 274, Art. XVII, § 6)
authorizes the City to make temporary inter-fund loans between certain operating and capital funds. The
City maintains a Consolidated Cash Account for the purpose of pooling the cash and investments of all
City funds, except those which, for legal or contractual reasons, cannot be commingled (e.g., the
Municipal Pension Fund, sinking funds, sinking fund reserves, funds of PGW, the Aviation Fund, the
Water Fund, and certain other restricted purpose funds). A separate accounting is maintained to record
the equity of each member fund that participates in the Consolidated Cash Account. The City manages
the Consolidated Cash Account pursuant to the procedures described below.

To the extent that any member fund temporarily experiences the equivalent of a cash deficiency,
an advance is made from the Consolidated Cash Account, in an amount necessary to result in a zero
balance in the cash equivalent account of the borrowing fund. All subsequent net receipts of a member
fund that has negative equity are applied in repayment of the advance.

All advances are made within the budgetary constraints of the borrowing funds. Within the
General Fund, this system of inter-fund advances has historically resulted in the temporary use of tax
revenues or other operating revenues for capital purposes and the temporary use of capital funds for
operating purposes. With the movement of the reimbursable component of DHS activities from the
General Fund to the Grants Revenue Fund, a similar system of advances has resulted in the use of tax
revenues or other operating revenues in the General Fund to make expenditures from the Grants Revenue
Fund, which advances may be outstanding for multiple Fiscal Years, but which are expected to be
reimbursed by the Commonwealth.

The City, in addition to maintaining an ongoing cash reconciliation process, is reviewing and
reconciling certain unidentified variances in the Consolidated Cash Account. The reconciliation process,
in short, reconciles the account balance and activity shown on the records of the bank at which the cash
balance of the Consolidated Cash Account is maintained to that shown on the City’s records. The City’s
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records show currently that the reported balance in the Consolidated Cash Account on the City’s records
is higher than the account balance on the bank’s records by approximately $32.9 million, which is
attributable principally to unidentified historic variances. The City will be engaging the services of an
auditing firm to undertake a timely and complete reconciliation and resolve the unidentified variances.
The audit is expected to take approximately 12 to 14 months to complete. At this time, the City does not
know what impact, if any, the final results of such audit will show regarding the balance in the
Consolidated Cash Account.

Procedures governing the City’s cash management operations require the General Fund-related
operating fund to borrow initially from the General Fund-related capital fund, and only to the extent there
is a deficiency in such fund may the General Fund-related operating fund borrow money from any other
funds in the Consolidated Cash Account.

Investment Practices

Cash balances in each of the City’s funds are managed to maintain daily liquidity to pay
expenses, and to make investments that preserve principal while striving to obtain the maximum rate of
return. Pursuant to the City Charter, the City Treasurer is the City official responsible for managing cash
collected into the City Treasury. The available cash balances in excess of daily expenses are placed in
demand accounts, swept into money market mutual funds, or used to make investments directed by
professional investment managers. These investments are held in segregated trust accounts at a separate
financial institution. Cash balances related to revenue bonds for water and sewer and the airport are
directly deposited and held separately in trust. A fiscal agent manages these cash balances in accordance
with the applicable bond documents and the investment practice is guided by administrative direction of
the City Treasurer per the Investment Committee and the Investment Policy (as described below). In
addition, certain operating cash deposits (such as Community Behavioral Health, Special Gas/County
Liquid and “911” surcharge) of the City are restricted by purpose and required to be segregated into
accounts in compliance with federal or Commonwealth reporting.

Investment guidelines for the City are embodied in section 19-202 of the Philadelphia Code. In
furtherance of these guidelines, as well as Commonwealth and federal legislative guidelines, the Director
of Finance adopted a written Investment Policy (the “Policy”) that went into effect in August 1994 and
was most recently revised in September 2014. The Policy supplements other legal requirements and
establishes guiding principles for the overall administration and effective management of all of the City’s
monetary funds (except the Municipal Pension Fund, the PGW Retirement Reserve Fund, the PGW
OPEB Trust and the PGW Workers’ Compensation Reserve Fund).

The Policy delineates the authorized investments as authorized by the Philadelphia Code and the
funds to which the Policy applies. The authorized investments include U.S. government securities, U.S.
treasuries, U.S. agencies, repurchase agreements, commercial paper, corporate bonds, money market
mutual funds, obligations of the Commonwealth, collateralized banker’s acceptances and certificates of
deposit, and collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through securities directly issued by a U.S.
agency or instrumentality, all of investment grade rating or better and with maturity limitations.

U.S. government treasury and agency securities carry no limitation as to the percent of the total
portfolio. Repurchase agreements, money market mutual funds, commercial paper, and corporate bonds
are limited to investment of no more than 25% of the total portfolio. Obligations of the Commonwealth
and collateralized banker’s acceptances and certificates of deposit are limited to no more than 15% of the
total portfolio. Collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through securities directly issued by a U.S.
agency or instrumentality are limited to no more than 5% of the total portfolio.
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U.S. government securities carry no limitation as to the percent of the total portfolio per issuer.
U.S. agency securities are limited to no more than 33% of the total portfolio per issuer. Repurchase
agreements and money market mutual funds are limited to no more than 10% of the total portfolio per
issuer. Commercial paper, corporate bonds, obligations of the Commonwealth, collateralized banker’s
acceptances and certificates of deposit, and collateralized mortgage obligations and pass-through
securities directly issued by a U.S. agency or instrumentality are limited to no more than 3% of the total
portfolio per issuer.

The Policy provides for an ad hoc Investment Committee consisting of the Director of Finance,
the City Treasurer and one representative each from the Water Department, the Division of Aviation, and
PGW. The Investment Committee meets quarterly with each of the investment managers to review each
manager’s performance to date and to plan for the next quarter. Investment managers are given any
changes in investment instructions at these meetings. The Investment Committee approves all
modifications to the Policy. The Investment Committee may from time to time review and revise the
Policy and does from time to time approve temporary waivers of the restrictions on assets based on cash
management needs and recommendations of investment managers.

The Policy expressly forbids the use of any derivative investment product as well as investments
in any security whose yield or market value does not follow the normal swings in interest rates. Examples
of these types of securities include, but are not limited to: structured notes, floating rate (excluding U.S.
Treasury and U.S. agency floating rate securities) or inverse floating rate instruments, securities that
could result in zero interest accrual if held to maturity, and mortgage derived interest and principal only
strips. The City currently makes no investments in derivatives.

DEBT OF THE CITY
General

Section 12 of Article IX of the Constitution of the Commonwealth provides that the authorized
debt of the City “may be increased in such amount that the total debt of [the] City shall not exceed 13.5%
of the average of the annual assessed valuations of the taxable realty therein, during the ten years
immediately preceding the year in which such increase is made, but [the] City shall not increase its
indebtedness to an amount exceeding 3.0% upon such average assessed valuation of realty, without the
consent of the electors thereof at a public election held in such manner as shall be provided by law.” The
Supreme Court of Pennsylvania has held that bond authorizations once approved by the voters need not
be reduced as a result of a subsequent decline in the average assessed value of City property. The general
obligation debt subject to the limitation described in this paragraph is referred to herein as “Tax-
Supported Debt.”

The Constitution of the Commonwealth further provides that there shall be excluded from the
computation of debt for purposes of the Constitutional debt limit, debt (herein called “Self-Supporting
Debt”) incurred for revenue-producing capital improvements that may reasonably be expected to yield
revenue in excess of operating expenses sufficient to pay interest and sinking fund charges thereon. In the
case of general obligation debt, the amount of such Self-Supporting Debt to be so excluded must be
determined by the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County upon petition by the City. Self-
Supporting Debt is general obligation debt of the City, with the only distinction from Tax-Supported Debt
being that it is not used in the calculation of the Constitutional debt limit. Self-Supporting Debt has no
lien on any particular revenues.
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For purposes of this Official Statement, Tax-Supported Debt and Self-Supporting Debt are
referred to collectively as “General Obligation Debt.” The term “General Fund-Supported Debt” is
comprised of: (i) General Obligation Debt; and (ii) PAID, PMA, PPA, and PRA bonds.

Using the methodology described above, as of June 30, 2017, the Constitutional debt limitation
for Tax-Supported Debt was approximately $6,629,516,000. The total amount of authorized debt
applicable to the debt limit was $1,952,005,000, including $873,632,000 of authorized but unissued debt,
leaving a legal debt margin of $4,677,511,000. Based on the foregoing figures, the calculation of the
legal debt margin is as follows:

Table 40
General Obligation Debt
June 30, 2017
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)
Authorized, issued and outstanding $1,431,705
Authorized and unissued 873,632
Total $2,305,337
Less: Self-Supporting Debt ($353,332)
Less: Serial bonds maturing within a year 0
Total amount of authorized debt applicable to debt limit 1,952,005
Legal debt limit 6,629,516
Legal debt margin $4,677,511

As a result of the implementation of the City’s AVI, the assessed value of taxable real estate
within the City has increased substantially. See “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Real Property Taxes
Assessment and Collection.” The $6.630 billion Constitutional debt limit calculation includes four years
of property values certified under the City’s AVI program, and six years of property values under the
City’s former property valuation process. Assuming no increase or decrease in property values used to
calculate the Constitutional debt limit in Table 40, the Constitutional debt limit is estimated to be $13.411
billion by 2027.

The City is also empowered by statute to issue revenue bonds and, as of June 30, 2017, had
outstanding $1,996,916,000 aggregate principal amount of Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds
(“Water and Wastewater Bonds™), $834,850,000, aggregate principal amount of Gas Works Revenue
Bonds, and $1,186,465,000 aggregate principal amount of Airport Revenue Bonds. As of June 30, 2017,
the principal amount of PICA bonds outstanding was $213,945,000. The City has also enacted an
ordinance authorizing the issuance of approximately $350 million aggregate principal amount in
commercial paper for the Division of Aviation, and ordinances authorizing the issuance of up to $270
million of Gas Works Revenue Notes to finance working capital and capital projects for PGW and the
issuance of up to $300 million of Gas Works Revenue Bonds to finance capital projects for PGW.

Short-Term Debt

The City issued $175 million of tax and revenue anticipation notes on October 19, 2016, which
matured on June 30, 2017 and were paid in full. As provided in the PICA Act, the City’s tax and revenue
anticipation notes are general obligations of the City, but do not constitute debt of the City subject to the
limitations of the Constitutional debt limit. See “CITY CASH MANAGEMENT AND INVESTMENT POLICIES
— General Fund Cash Flow.”
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Long-Term Debt

The following table presents a synopsis of the bonded debt of the City and its component units as
of the date indicated. Of the total balance of the City’s general obligation bonds issued and outstanding
as of June 30, 2017, approximately 26% is scheduled to mature within five Fiscal Years and
approximately 54% is scheduled to mature within ten Fiscal Years. When PICA’s outstanding bonds are
included with the City’s general obligation bonds, approximately 60% is scheduled to mature within ten

Fiscal Years.

Table 41
Bonded Debt — City of Philadelphia and Component Units
(as of June 30, 2017)

(Amounts in Thousands of USD)®": @

General Obligation Debt and PICA Bonds

General Obligation Bonds
PICA Bonds

Subtotal: General Obligation Debt and PICA Bonds

Other General Fund-Supported Debt®

Philadelphia Municipal Authority
Criminal Justice Center
Juvenile Justice Center
Public Safety Campus
Fleet Management Equipment Lease
Energy Conservation

Philadelphia Authority for Industrial Development
Pension capital appreciation bonds
Pension fixed rate bonds
Stadiums
Library
Cultural and Commercial Corridor
One Parkway
Philadelphia School District®

Parking Authority

Redevelopment Authority
Subtotal: Other General Fund-Supported Debt

Revenue Bonds

Water Fund

Aviation Fund

Gas Works

Subtotal: Revenue Bonds

Grand Total

(M Unaudited; figures may not sum due to rounding.
@

$1,431,705

213,945
$33,100
87,325
65,155
4,429
9,915

$199,924
$465,351
761,655
262,830
5,570
89,205
32,165
14.680

$1,631,456

11,660

174.670

$1,996,916

1,186,465

834.850

to maturity of the City’s outstanding bonded indebtedness as of June 30, 2016, see the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.

©)
accreted value thereon as of June 30, 2017.

$1,645,650

$2,017,710

$4.018.231

$7,681,591

For tables setting forth a ten-year historical summary of Tax-Supported Debt of the City and the School District and the debt service requirements

The principal amount outstanding relating to the PAID 1999 Pension Obligation Bonds, Series B (capital appreciation bonds) is reflected as the

@ This financing was undertaken by the City through PAID for the benefit of the School District and does not represent debt of the School District.
For more information on this financing, see “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Sales and Use Tax” and “EXPENDITURES OF THE CITY — City Payments to

School District.”
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Table 42
City of Philadelphia
Annual Debt Service on General Fund-Supported Debt
(as of June 30, 2017)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®

General Obligation Debt® Other General Fund-Supported Debt® Aggregate General Fund-Supported Debt

Fiscal

Year Principal Interest® Total Principal Interest® Total Principal Interest Total
2018 70.82 68.73 139.55 108.14 139.22 247.36 178.96 207.95 386.91
2019 74.45 65.18 139.63 74.65 138.74 213.39 149.10 203.92 353.02
2020 76.65 61.51 138.15 65.56 138.61 204.17 142.21 200.12 342.32
2021 69.97 57.94 127.91 80.75 123.50 204.25 150.72 181.44 332.16
2022 73.12 54.45 127.57 78.56 125.71 204.27 151.68 180.16 331.84
2023 77.80 50.65 128.45 115.98 88.28 204.26 193.78 138.93 332.71
2024 81.68 46.59 128.27 114.74 88.28 203.02 196.42 134.87 331.29
2025 85.67 42.36 128.03 119.20 83.84 203.05 204.87 126.20 331.08
2026 82.42 38.14 120.55 134.81 67.43 202.24 217.23 105.57 322.79
2027 86.38 33.88 120.26 159.97 4441 204.38 246.35 78.29 324.64
2028 91.08 29.57 120.65 165.11 35.16 200.27 256.19 64.73 320.92
2029 65.73 25.87 91.60 273.16 18.18 291.34 338.89 44.05 382.94
2030 81.49 22.33 103.81 53.30 8.60 61.90 134.79 30.93 165.71
2031 86.30 18.27 104.57 55.77 6.14 61.91 142.07 24.41 166.48
2032 90.66 13.99 104.65 15.23 4.08 19.30 105.89 18.07 123.95
2033 55.58 10.40 65.98 7.33 3.55 10.87 62.91 13.95 76.85
2034 43.80 7.85 51.65 7.66 3.20 10.86 51.46 11.05 62.51
2035 29.55 5.98 35.53 8.02 2.85 10.87 37.57 8.83 46.40
2036 31.00 4.54 35.53 8.40 2.47 10.87 39.40 7.01 46.40
2037 17.33 3.33 20.66 8.79 2.08 10.87 26.12 5.41 31.53
2038 17.79 242 20.21 9.21 1.66 10.87 27.00 4.08 31.08
2039 18.67 1.55 20.21 9.65 1.22 10.87 28.32 2.77 31.08
2040 7.58 0.96 8.54 3.31 0.77 4.08 10.89 1.73 12.62
2041 7.93 0.61 8.54 3.45 0.62 4.07 11.38 1.23 12.61
2042 8.34 0.21 8.54 3.60 0.48 4.07 11.94 0.69 12.61
2043 0 0 0 3.75 0.33 4.08 3.75 0.33 4.08
2044 0 0 0 391 0.17 4.08 391 0.17 4.08
Total $1.431.79 $667.31 $2,099.04 $1,691.98 $1,129.57 $2,821.54 $3,123.77 $1,796.88 $4,920.58

(" Does not include letter of credit fees. Figures may not sum due to rounding.

@ Includes both Tax-Supported Debt and Self-Supporting Debt. See “— General.” Does not include PICA Bonds.

©®  Assumes interest rate on hedged variable rate bonds to be the associated fixed swap rate.

@ Includes PAID, PMA, PPA, and PRA bonds, with capital appreciation bonds including only actual amounts payable. The original issuance amount of such capital
appreciation bonds is included under the “Principal” column in the Fiscal Year such bonds mature and the full accretion amount at maturity less the original issuance
amount is included in the “Interest” column in the Fiscal Year such bonds mature.

Assumes interest rate on hedged variable rate bonds to be the associated fixed swap rate, plus any fixed spread. Net of capitalized interest on PAID 2012 Service
Agreement Revenue Refunding Bonds.

[©)]
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Other Long-Term Debt Related Obligations

The City has entered into other contracts and leases to support the issuance of debt by public
authorities related to the City pursuant to which the City is required to budget and appropriate tax or other
general revenues to satisfy such obligations, as shown in Table 41. The City budgets all other long-term
debt-related obligations as a single budget item with the exception of PPA.

The Hospitals Authority and the State Public School Building Authority have issued bonds on
behalf of the Community College of Philadelphia (“CCP”). Under the Community College Act (Pa. P.L.
103, No. 31 (1985)), each community college must have a local sponsor, which for CCP is the City. As
the local sponsor, the City is obligated to pay up to 50% of the annual capital expenses of CCP, which
includes debt service. The remaining 50% is paid by the Commonwealth. Additionally, the City annually
appropriates funds for a portion of CCP’s operating costs (less tuition and less the Commonwealth’s
payment). The amount paid by the City in Fiscal Year 2017 was $29.9 million. The budgeted amount for
Fiscal Year 2018 is $30.4 million.

In the first quarter of Fiscal Year 2016, the City entered into a service agreement supporting
PAID’s guaranty of a $15 million letter of credit securing the funding of certain costs related to the 2016
Democratic National Convention.

PICA Bonds

PICA has issued 11 series of bonds at the request of the City (the “PICA Bonds”). PICA no
longer has authority under the PICA Act to issue bonds for new money purposes, but may refund bonds
previously issued. As of June 30, 2017, the principal amount of PICA Bonds outstanding was
$213,945,000. The final maturity date for such PICA Bonds is June 15, 2023. The proceeds of the PICA
Bonds were used to: (i) make grants to the City to fund its General Fund deficits, to fund the costs of
certain City capital projects, to provide other financial assistance to the City to enhance operational
productivity, and to defease certain of the City’s general obligation bonds; (ii) refund other PICA Bonds;
and (iii) pay costs of issuance.

The PICA Act authorizes the City to impose a tax for the sole and exclusive purposes of PICA.
In connection with the adoption of the Fiscal Year 1992 budget and the execution of the PICA
Agreement, as so authorized by the PICA Act, the City reduced the wage, earnings, and net profits taxes
on City residents by 1.5% and enacted a new tax of 1.5% on wages, earnings, and net profits of City
residents (the “PICA Tax”), which continues in effect. The PICA Tax secures the PICA Bonds. Pursuant
to the PICA Act, at such time when no PICA Bonds are outstanding, the PICA Tax will expire. At any
time, the City is authorized to increase for its own use its various taxes, including its wage, earnings, and
net profits taxes on City residents and could do so upon the expiration of the PICA Tax. Certain taxes,
such as sales, liquor, and hotel taxes, among others, cannot be increased by the City without
Commonwealth approval.

The PICA Tax is collected by the City’s Department of Revenue, as agent of the State Treasurer,
and deposited in the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority Tax Fund (the “PICA Tax
Fund”) of which the State Treasurer is custodian. The PICA Tax Fund is not subject to appropriation by
City Council or the General Assembly. See “THE GOVERNMENT OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA — Local
Government Agencies — Non-Mayoral-Appointed or Nominated Agencies — PICA.”
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The PICA Act authorizes PICA to pledge the PICA Tax to secure its bonds and prohibits the
Commonwealth and the City from repealing the PICA Tax or reducing its rate while any PICA Bonds are
outstanding. PICA Bonds are payable from PICA revenues, including the PICA Tax, pledged to secure
PICA’s bonds, the Bond Payment Account (as described below) and any debt service reserve fund
established for such bonds and have no claim on any revenues of the Commonwealth or the City.

The PICA Act establishes a “Bond Payment Account” for PICA as a trust fund for the benefit of
PICA bondholders and authorizes the creation of a debt service reserve fund for bonds issued by PICA.
The State Treasurer is required to pay the proceeds of the PICA Tax held in the PICA Tax Fund directly
to the Bond Payment Account. The proceeds of the PICA Tax in excess of amounts required for: (i) debt
service; (ii) replenishment of any debt service reserve fund for bonds issued by PICA; and (iii) certain
PICA operating expenses, are required to be deposited in a trust fund established exclusively to benefit
the City and designated the “City Account.” Amounts in the City Account are required to be remitted to
the City not less often than monthly, unless PICA certifies the City’s non-compliance with the then-
current five-year financial plan.

The total amount of PICA Tax remitted by the State Treasurer to PICA (which is net of the costs
of the State Treasurer in collecting the PICA Tax), PICA annual debt service and investment expenses,
and net PICA tax revenue remitted to the City for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amounts and
current estimates for Fiscal Year 2018 are set forth below.

Table 43
Summary of PICA Tax Remitted by the State Treasurer to PICA
and Net Taxes Remitted by PICA to the City
(Amounts in Millions of USD)®

PICA Annual Debt
Service and Net taxes remitted to
Fiscal Year PICA Tax? Investment Expenses® the City®
2013 (Actual) $376.5 $62.5 $314.0
2014 (Actual) $384.5 $65.8 $318.7
2015 (Actual) $408.5 $62.0 $346.5
2016 (Actual) $444.5 $61.1 $383.4
2017 (Unaudited Actual) $469.2 $59.7 $409.5
2018 (Adopted Budget) $475.2 $56.0 $419.2
2018 (Current Estimate) $483.6 $56.0 $427.6

(" Figures may not sum due to rounding.

@ Source: The City’s Quarterly City Manager’s Reports.

©®  Source: For Fiscal Years 2013-2016, the City’s CAFRs for such Fiscal Years. For Fiscal Year 2017, the First Quarter QCMR. For Fiscal Year 2018,
the Fiscal Year 2018 Adopted Budget and the First Quarter QCMR.
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Swap Information

OTHER FINANCING RELATED MATTERS

The City has entered into various swaps related to its outstanding General Fund-Supported Debt
as detailed in the following table:

Table 44
Summary of Swap Information
for General Fund-Supported Debt

as of June 30, 2017
City Lease City Lease City Lease City Lease City Lease
City Entity City GO PAID PAID PAID PAID PAID
2007A 2007B-2,3 2014A 2007B-2,3 2014A
Related Bond Series 2009BM (Stadium)® (Stadium)®©® (Stadium)® (Stadium)®-© (Stadium)®
Initial Notional Amount $313,505,000 $298,485,000 $217,275,000 $87,961,255 $72,400,000 $29,313,745
Current Notional Amount $100,000,000 $193,520,000 $87,758,745 $87,961,255 $29,246,255 $29,313,745
Termination Date 8/1/2031 10/1/2030 10/1/2030 10/1/2030 10/1/2030 10/1/2030
Fixed Payer Basis Swap Fixed Payer Fixed Payer Fixed Payer Fixed Payer
Product Swap Swap Swap Swap Swap
67% 1-month
LIBOR +0.20%
plus fixed 70% 1-month 70% 1- month
Rate Paid by Dealer SIFMA annuity SIFMA LIBOR SIFMA LIBOR
Rate Paid by City Entity 3.829% SIFMA 3.9713% 3.62% 3.9713% 3.632%
Merrill Lynch JPMorgan JPMorgan Merrill Lynch Merrill Lynch
Royal Bank of Capital Chase Bank, Chase Bank, Capital Capital
Dealer Canada Services, Inc. N.A. N.A. Services, Inc. Services, Inc.

Fair Value®

($21,708,517)

($1,859,739)

($15,296,505)

($14,571,079)

($5,097,981)

($4,882,679)

Additional Termination Events

For Dealer:
Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3

For City:

Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3 upon
insurer event
(includes insurer
being rated
below A- or A3)

For Dealer:

For Dealer:

For Dealer:

Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3

Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3

For PAID: For PAID:
Rating change Rating change
below BBB- or | below BBB- or
Baa3 Baa3 upon

insurer event
(includes insurer
being rated
below A- or A3)

Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3

For PAID:
Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3 upon
insurer event
(includes insurer
being rated
below A- or A3)

For Dealer:

For Dealer:

Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3

Rating change
below BBB- or
Baa3

For PAID: For PAID:
Rating change Rating change
below BBB-or | below BBB- or
Baa3 upon Baa3 upon

insurer event
(includes insurer
being rated
below A- or A3)

insurer event
(includes insurer
being rated
below A- or A3)

@

@)

3)

(O]

®)

©

On July 28, 2009, the City terminated a portion of the swap in the amount of $213,505,000 in conjunction with the refunding of its Series 2007B bonds with the Series
2009A fixed rate bonds and the Series 2009B variable rate bonds. The City made a termination payment of $15,450,000.

PAID received annual fixed payments of $1,216,500 from July 1, 2004 through July 1, 2013. As the result of an amendment on July 14, 2006, $104,965,000 of the total
notional amount was restructured as a constant maturity swap (the rate received by PAID on that portion was converted from a percentage of 1-month LIBOR to a
percentage of the 5-year LIBOR swap rate from October 1, 2006 to October 1, 2020). The constant maturity swap was terminated in December 2009. The City received
a termination payment of $3,049,000.

On May 13, 2014, PAID converted a portion of the 2007B SIFMA Swap to a LIBOR-based swap in conjunction with the refunding of its Series 2007B bonds with the
Series 2014A bonds. Under the conversion, PAID pays a fixed rate of 3.62% and 3.632% to JPMorgan and Merrill Lynch, respectively, and receives a floating rate of
70% of 1-month LIBOR.

Fair values are as of June 30, 2017, and are shown from the City’s perspective and include accrued interest.

On July 15, 2014, PAID terminated a portion of the swap in the amount of $41,555,000 in conjunction with the refunding of its Series 2007B bonds with the Series
2014B fixed rate bonds. PAID made a termination payment of $4,171,000 to JPMorgan.

On July 15, 2014, PAID terminated a portion of the swap in the amount of $13,840,000 in conjunction with the refunding of its Series 2007B bonds with the Series
2014B fixed rate bonds. PAID made a termination payment of $1,391,800 to Merrill Lynch.
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While the City is party to several interest rate swap agreements, for which there is General Fund
exposure and on which the swaps currently have a negative mark against the City, the City has no
obligation to post collateral on these swaps while the City’s underlying ratings are investment grade.

For more information related to certain swaps entered into in connection with revenue bonds
issued for PGW, the Water Department, and the Division of Aviation, see the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR. In
addition, PICA has entered into swaps, which are detailed in the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR.

Swap Policy

The City has adopted a swap policy for the use of swaps, caps, floors, collars and other derivative
financial products (collectively, “swaps”) in conjunction with the City’s debt management. The swap
program managed by the City includes swaps related to the City’s general obligation bonds, tax-supported
service contract debt issued by related authorities, debt of the Water Department, Division of Aviation,
and debt of PGW. Swaps related to debt of the PICA, the School District, and the PPA are managed by
those governmental entities, respectively.

The Director of Finance has overall responsibility for entering into swaps. Day-to-day
management of swaps is the responsibility of the City Treasurer, and the Executive Director of the
Sinking Fund Commission is responsible for making swap payments. The Office of the City Treasurer
and the City Solicitor’s Office coordinate their activities to ensure that all swaps that are entered into are
in compliance with applicable federal, state, and local laws.

The swap policy addresses the circumstances when swaps can be used, the risks that need to be
evaluated prior to entering into swaps and on an ongoing basis after swaps have been executed, the
guidelines to be employed when swaps are used, and how swap counterparties will be chosen. The swap
policy is used in conjunction with the City’s Debt Management Policy, reviewed annually, and updated as
needed.

Under the swap policy, permitted uses of swaps include: (i) managing the City’s exposure to
floating interest rates through interest rate swaps, caps, floors and collars; (ii) locking in fixed rates in
current markets for use at a later date through the use of forward starting swaps and rate locks; (iii)
reducing the cost of fixed or floating rate debt through swaps and related products to create “synthetic”
fixed or floating rate debt; and (iv) managing the City’s credit exposure to financial institutions and other
entities through the use of offsetting swaps.

Since swaps can create exposure to the creditworthiness of financial institutions that serve as the
City’s counterparties on swap transactions, the City has established standards for swap counterparties. As
a general rule, the City enters into transactions with counterparties whose obligations are rated in the
double-A rated category or better from two nationally recognized rating agencies. If counterparty’s credit
rating is downgraded below the double-A rating category, the swap policy requires that the City’s
exposure be collateralized. If a counterparty’s credit is downgraded below the A category, even with
collateralization, the swap policy requires a provision in the swap permitting the City to exercise a right to
terminate the transaction prior to its scheduled termination date.
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Letter of Credit Agreements

The City has entered into various letter of credit agreements related to its General Fund-
Supported Debt as detailed in the table below. Under the terms of such letter of credit agreements,
following a purchase of the applicable bonds, the City may be required to amortize such bonds more

quickly than as originally scheduled at issuance.

Table 45
Summary of Letter of Credit Agreements
for General Fund-Supported Debt
as of June 30, 2017

Variable Rate Amount Bond
Bond Series Outstanding Maturity Date Provider Expiration Date

Rating Thresholds

General Obligation $100,000,000 August 1, 2031 Barclays Bank PLC May 24, 2019
Multi-Modal

Refunding Bonds,
Series 2009B

PAID Multi-Modal $72,400,000 October 1, 2030 TD Bank May 29, 2019
Lease Revenue

Refunding Bonds,
Series 2007B-2

PAID Multi-Modal $44,605,000 October 1, 2030 PNC Bank May 22, 2020
Lease Revenue

Refunding Bonds,
Series 2007B-3

The long-term rating assigned by any one
of the rating agencies to any unenhanced
long-term parity debt of the City is (i)
withdrawn or suspended for credit-related
reasons or (ii) reduced below investment
grade.

The long-term ratings assigned by at least
two of the rating agencies to any
unenhanced general obligation bonds of
the City is (i) withdrawn or suspended for
credit-related reasons, or (ii) reduced
below investment grade.

The long-term ratings assigned by at least
two of the rating agencies to any
unenhanced general obligation bonds of
the City is (i) withdrawn or suspended for
credit-related reasons, or (ii) reduced
below investment grade.

() The occurrence of a Rating Threshold event would result in an event of default under the reimbursement agreement with the related bank.
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Recent and Upcoming Financings

Recent Financings. The following is a list of financings that the City has entered into since June
30, 2017. Such financings are not reflected in Tables 40-42 under the caption “DEBT OF THE CITY” nor
otherwise described therein.

e In August 2017, PAID issued $52,910,000 in City Service Agreement Revenue Bonds for the
benefit of the City.

e In August 2017, the City, together with PGW, issued $273,140,000 in Gas Works Revenue
Bonds.

o In August 2017, the City, together with the Water Department, issued $174,110,000 in Water
and Wastewater Revenue Refunding Bonds.

e In August 2017, the City issued $331,615,000 in General Obligation Bonds.

Upcoming Financings. The City currently expects to enter into the following financings within
the next six months:

e The City, together with the Division of Aviation, expects to issue in December 2017,
approximately $690 million in Airport Revenue and Refunding Bonds.

Other Upcoming Transactions

City Council has enacted an ordinance authorizing the City to enter into a sublease not to exceed
nineteen years for property located at 400 N. Broad Street and 1501 Callowhill Street to be renovated and
used as the City’s police headquarters and related facilities. The City’s sublease payments will be based
on a market interest rate and the repayment of the master landlord’s total project cost (currently estimated
at $260 million) over the term of the sublease; however, the final structure of the sublease payments has
not yet been determined. The City has a purchase option for the property in the ninth year of the sublease.
The sublease is anticipated to be executed and effective in the first quarter of Fiscal Year 2018.
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CITY CAPITAL PROGRAM

As part of the annual budget process, the Mayor submits for approval a six-year capital program
to City Council, together with the proposed operating budget. For more information on the City’s budget
process, see “DISCUSSION OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS — Budget Procedure.”

Certain Historical Capital Expenditures

Table 46 shows the City’s historical expenditures for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 for certain capital
purposes, including expenditures for projects related to transit, streets and sanitation, municipal buildings,
recreation, parks, museums, and stadia, and economic and community development. The source of funds
used for such expenditures are primarily general obligation bond proceeds, but also include federal, state,
private, and other government funds and operating revenue. Figures in the table below are generated after
the Fiscal Year closes and may not sum due to rounding.

Table 46
Historical Expenditures for Certain Capital Purposes
Fiscal Years 2013-2017

Purpose Category 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Transit $ 3,895,208 $ 2,168,224 $ 1,283,307 $ 3,223,431 $ 378,229
Streets & Sanitation 63,925,744 46,806,225 63,612,248 76,350,266 43,772,678
Municipal Buildings 37,979,932 35,579,152 53,419,449 50,653,561 45,002,188
Recreation, Parks, Museums & Stadia 26,609,320 17,787,234 29,875,633 35,963,360 37,323,288
Economic & Community Development 4.654.403 11,839,066 12,714,468 16,176,644 4,570,196
TOTAL $137,064,607 $114,179.901 $160.905,105 $182.367,262 $131,046,579

Table 47 shows the City’s historical expenditures for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 for certain capital
purposes from general obligation bond proceeds only and the percentage of the total costs covered by
such proceeds in such Fiscal Years. Figures in the table below are generated after the Fiscal Year closes
and may not sum due to rounding.

Table 47
Historical Expenditures for Certain Capital Purposes
(General Obligation Bond Proceeds Only)

Fiscal Years 2013-2017

Purpose Category 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
Transit $ 3,895,208 $ 2,168,224 $ 1,274,467 $ 3,223,431 $ 414,434
Streets & Sanitation 20,921,343 18,642,621 24,887,488 23,963,058 21,952,654
Municipal Buildings 19,108,015 27,936,597 47,163,418 40,036,844 43,400,701
Recreation, Parks, Museums & Stadia 23,403,765 15,838,047 25,494,778 25,364,901 29,135,962
Economic & Community Development 4.459.786 11,816,222 12.714.468 12,474,164 4,570,196
TOTAL $71,788,117 $76,401,711 $111,534,619 $105,062,399 $99,473,947
Percentage of Total Costs 52% 67% 69% 589 54%
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Fiscal Year 2018-2023 Adopted Capital Program

The Fiscal Year 2018-2023 Adopted Capital Program contemplates a total budget of $9.57 billion. In the Fiscal Year 2018-2023 Adopted
Capital Program, $3.33 billion is expected to be provided from federal, Commonwealth, and other sources and the remainder through City
funding. The following table shows the amounts budgeted each year from various sources of funds for capital projects in the Fiscal Year 2018-
2023 Adopted Capital Program.

Table 48
Fiscal Year 2018-2023 Adopted Capital Program
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Funding Source 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2018-2023
City Funds--Tax Supported
Carried-Forward Loans $426,560 - - - - - $426,560
Operating Revenue 22,216 $2,250 $2,250 $2,250 $2,000 $2,000 32,966
New Loans 165,206 185,942 156,450 156,978 159,945 157,035 981,556
Prefinanced Loans 4,653 - - - - - 4,653
PICA Prefinanced Loans 4,947 - - - - - 4,947
Tax Supported Subtotal $623,582 $188,192 $158,700 $159,228 $161,945 $159,035 $1,450,682
City Funds--Self Sustaining
Self-Sustaining Carried Forward Loans $419,075 - - - - - $419,075
Self-Sustaining Operating Revenue 139,345 $59,522 $56,045 $75,048 $82,091 $82,162 494,213
Self-Sustaining New Loans 638,804 636,897 645,134 629,803 643,934 650,701 3,845,273
Self-Sustaining Subtotal $1,197,224 $696,419 $701,179 $704,851 $726,025 $732,863 $4,758,561
Other City Funds
Revolving Funds $9,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $3,000 $24,000
Other Than City Funds
Carried-Forward Other Government $4,884 - - - - - $4,884
Other Government Off Budget 1,338 $1,639 $1,435 $1,744 $1,717 $1,580 9,453
Other Governments/Agencies 2,300 - - - - - 2,300
Carried-Forward State 165,951 - - - - - 165,951
State Off Budget 209,147 200,791 195,945 205,504 204,846 202,860 1,219,093
State 34,350 30,259 30,266 29,763 29,787 22,849 177,274
Carried-Forward Private 115,108 - - - - - 115,108
Private 87,270 77,351 73,140 73,678 78,591 71,358 461,388
Carried-Forward Federal 262,013 - - - - - 262,013
Federal Off-Budget 26,819 39,636 69,612 9,324 3,497 - 148,888
Federal 139,934 123,324 141,938 121,961 122,460 116,336 765,953
Other Than City Funds Subtotal $1,049,114 $473,000 $512,336 $441,974 $440,898 $414,983 $3,332,305
TOTAL $2,878,920 1 11 $1,375,215 $1,309,053 $1,331,868 $1,309,881 $9,565,548
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LITIGATION

Generally, judgments and settlements on claims against the City are payable from the General
Fund, except for claims against the Water Department, the Division of Aviation, and PGW, which are
paid out of their respective funds or revenues and only secondarily out of the General Fund.

The Act of October 5, 1980, P.L. 693, No. 142, known as the “Political Subdivision Tort Claims
Act,” (the “Tort Claims Act”) establishes a $500,000 aggregate limitation on damages for injury to a
person or property arising from the same cause of action or transaction or occurrence or series of causes
of action, transactions or occurrences with respect to governmental units in the Commonwealth such as
the City. The constitutionality of that aggregate limitation on damages has been previously upheld by the
Pennsylvania appellate courts, including in the recent decision of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania in
Zauflik v. Pennsbury School District, 104 A.3d 1096 (2014). Under Pennsylvania Rule of Civil
Procedure 238, delay damages are not subject to the $500,000 limitation. The limit on damages is
inapplicable to any suit against the City that does not arise under state tort law, such as claims made
against the City under federal civil rights laws. In two instances over the last several years, legislation has
been introduced in the General Assembly that would have increased such $500,000 limitation. In both
such instances, the legislation was not reported out of committee or scheduled for a vote.

General Fund

The following table presents the City’s aggregate losses from settlements and judgments paid out
of the General Fund for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amount for Fiscal Year 2018.

Table 49
Aggregate Losses — General and Special Litigation Claims (General Fund)
Fiscal Years 2013-2017 (Actual) and 2018 (Budget)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Aggregate Losses $30.3 $41.0 $37.3 $41.2 $38.3 $44.9

Sources: The City, Office of Budget and Program Evaluation — Budget Bureau, Indemnity Account,
Status Reports.

The current estimate of settlements and judgments from the General Fund for Fiscal Year 2018 is
$51.3 million. Such estimate is based on the Law Department’s internal calculations using (i) the
“Possible Costs” listed in its Quarterly Litigation Reports, (ii) the 3-year average cost for closed cases,
and (iii) current year to date spending reports. Based on the Revised Twenty-Sixth Five-Year Plan, the
current estimate of settlements and judgments from the General Fund for Fiscal Years 2019-2022 is $44.9
million for each such Fiscal Year.

In budgeting for settlements and judgments in the annual operating budget and projecting
settlements and judgments for each five-year plan, the City bases its estimates on past experience and on
an analysis of estimated potential liabilities and the timing of outcomes, to the extent a proceeding is
sufficiently advanced to permit a projection of the timing of a result. General and special litigation claims
are budgeted separately from back-pay awards and similar settlements relating to labor disputes. Usually,
some of the costs arising from labor litigation are reported as part of current payroll expenses.
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In addition to routine litigation incidental to performance of the City’s governmental functions
and litigation arising in the ordinary course relating to contract and tort claims and alleged violations of
law, certain special litigation matters are currently being litigated and/or appealed and adverse final
outcomes of such litigation could have a substantial or long-term adverse effect on the General Fund.
These proceedings involve: (i) environmental-related actions and proceedings in which it has been or may
be alleged that the City is liable for damages, including but not limited to property damage and bodily
injury, or that the City should pay fines or penalties or the costs of response or remediation, because of
the alleged generation, transport, or disposal of toxic or otherwise hazardous substances by the City, or
the alleged disposal of such substances on or to City-owned property; (ii) contract disputes and other
commercial litigation; (iii) union arbitrations and other employment-related litigation; (iv) potential and
certified class action suits; and (v) civil rights litigation. The ultimate outcome and fiscal impact, if any,
on the General Fund of the claims and proceedings described in this paragraph are not currently
predictable. See Note 8 to the Fiscal Year 2016 CAFR, “Contingencies — Primary Government — Claims
and Litigation in APPENDIX B hereto.

In addition, see “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Other Taxes,” for a discussion of litigation relating to
the Philadelphia Beverage Tax, “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Real Property Taxes Assessment and
Collection,” for a discussion of litigation relating to the reassessment of commercial property in tax year
2018, and “REVENUES OF THE CITY — Proposals to Reduce Federal and/or State Funding,” for a
discussion of litigation relating to the potential withholding of certain federal funds.

Water Fund

Various claims have been asserted against the Water Department and in some cases lawsuits have
been instituted. Many of these Water Department claims have been reduced to judgment or otherwise
settled in a manner requiring payment by the Water Department. The following table presents the Water
Department’s aggregate losses from settlements and judgments paid out of the Water Fund for Fiscal
Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amount for Fiscal Year 2018. The current estimate for Fiscal Year
2018 is $9.5 million. The Water Fund is the first source of payment for any of the claims against the
Water Department.

Table 50
Aggregate Losses — General and Special Litigation Claims (Water Fund)
Fiscal Years 2013-2017 (Actual) and 2018 (Budget)
(Amounts in Millions of USD)

Actual  Actual Actual Actual Actual  Budget
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Aggregate Losses $5.1 $6.1 $3.8 $5.4 $7.0 $6.5

Sources:  The City, Office of Budget and Program Evaluation — Budget Bureau, Indemnity
Account, Status Reports.
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Aviation Fund

Various claims have been asserted against the Division of Aviation and in some cases lawsuits
have been instituted. Many of these Division of Aviation claims have been reduced to judgment or
otherwise settled in a manner requiring payment by the Division of Aviation. The following table
presents the Division of Aviation’s aggregate losses from settlements and judgments paid out of the
Aviation Fund for Fiscal Years 2013-2017 and the budgeted amount for Fiscal Year 2018. The current
estimate for Fiscal Year 2018 is $1.3 million. The Aviation Fund is the first source of payment for any of
the claims against the Division of Aviation.

Table 51
Aggregate Losses — General and Special Litigation Claims (Aviation Fund)
Fiscal Years 2013-2017 (Actual) and 2018 (Budget)

Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Budget
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Aggregate Losses  $1.4 million $665,527 $750,793 $1.3 million $1.6 million $2.5 million

Sources:  The City, Office of Budget and Program Evaluation — Budget Bureau, Indemnity Account,
Status Reports.

PGW

Various claims have been asserted against PGW and in some cases lawsuits have been instituted.
Many of these PGW claims have been reduced to judgment or otherwise settled in a manner requiring
payment by PGW. The following table presents PGW’s settlements and judgments paid out of PGW
revenues, with accompanying reserve information, in PGW Fiscal Years 2013 through 2017. PGW
revenues are the first source of payment for any of the claims against PGW. PGW currently estimates
approximately $4.4 million and $3.0 million in settlements and judgments for PGW Fiscal Years 2018
and 2019, respectively.

Table 52
Claims and Settlement Activity (PGW)
PGW Fiscal Years 2013-2017
(Amounts in Thousands of USD)

Current Year Current
Fiscal Year Beginning of Claims and End of Year Liability
(ending August 31)  Year Reserve Adjustments Claims Settled Reserve Amount
2013 $11,102 $2,616 (83,307) $10,411 $4,925
2014 $10,411 $2,498 (52,965) $9,944 $4,728
2015 $9,944 $3,610 ($2,042) $11,512 $5,011
2016 $11,512 $2,022 ($3,041) $10,493 $5,307
2017 $10,493 $6,681 ($2,797) $14,377 $4,627

Source: PGW’s audited financial statements.
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City of Philadelphia

OFFICE OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE ROB DUBOW
1401 John F. Kennedy Bivd. Director of Finance
Suite 1330, Municipal Services Bldg.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19102-1693

February 24, 2017

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of City Council, and the People of the City of Philadelphia:

We are pleased to present the City of Philadelphia’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2016. The City’s management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and accuracy of
the information contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal controls that it has
established for this purpose. This report must be published by February 25" of every year to fulfill the continuing
disclosure requirements related to the City’s outstanding bonds and as outlined in SEC Rule 15¢2-12.

The City Controller has issued an unqualified (“clean”) opinion on the City’s financial statements for the year ended
June 30, 2016. The City Controller is an independently elected public official and is required by City Home Rule
Charter (City Charter) section 6-401 to appoint a certified public accountant as the deputy in charge of auditing and
complete an annual audit of all City accounts. The independent auditor’s report is located at the front of the financial
section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report and provides
a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. The MD&A complements this
letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT

The City of Philadelphia was founded in 1682 and was merged with the County of Philadelphia in 1854. The City
currently occupies an area of 135 square miles along the Delaware River, serves a population in excess of 1.5
million and is the hub of a five county metropolitan area including Bucks, Chester, Delaware and Montgomery
Counties in southeast Pennsylvania.

The City is governed largely under the City Charter, which was adopted by the Electors of the City of Philadelphia
on April 17, 1951, and became effective on the first Monday of January, 1952. However, in some matters, including
the issuance of short-term and long-term debt, the City is governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania.

Under the City Charter, there are two principal governmental entities in the City: (i) the City, which performs
municipal and county functions; and (ii) the School District, which has boundaries coterminous with the City and
responsibility for all public primary and secondary education. Under Article XII of the City Charter, the School
District of Philadelphia operates as a separate and independent home rule school district. In December 2001, the
Secretary of Education of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania declared the School District financially distressed
under Act 46, suspending the powers of the existing Board of Education and placing management of the District
under control of a five-member School Reform Commission (SRC). Three SRC members, including the Chair, are
appointed by the Governor, and the remaining two members are appointed by the Mayor. The SRC is responsible
for the overall operation and management of the School District and educational programs, including all budgetary
and financial matters.

The court system in the City, consisting of Common Pleas and Municipal Courts, is part of the Commonwealth
judicial system. Although the judges are paid by the Commonwealth, most other court costs are paid by the City,
with partial reimbursement from the Commonwealth.

The Charter provides for a strong mayoral form of government with the Mayor and the seventeen members of the
City Council, ten from districts and seven from the City at-large, elected every four years. Minority representation
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is assured by the requirement that no more than five candidates may be elected for Council-at-large by any one
party or political body. The Mayor is prohibited from serving more than two consecutive terms. The District Attorney
and the City Controller are elected at the mid-point of the terms of the Mayor and City Council.

Reflected in this report is the extensive range of services provided by the City of Philadelphia. These services
include police and fire protection, emergency medical services, sanitation services, streets maintenance,
recreational activities and cultural events, and traditional county functions such as health and human services and
prisons. The City operates water and wastewater systems that service the citizens of Philadelphia and the City
operates two airports, Philadelphia International Airport which handles in excess of 30 million passengers annually
as well as cargo and Northeast Philadelphia Airport which handles private aircraft and some cargo.

This report includes the financial statements of the primary government, as well as its component units. Component
units are legally separate organizations in which the primary government is financially accountable for that legally
separate organization. In addition, when a component unit functions as an integral part of the primary government,
its financial data is blended with the primary government, and treated just as though it were funds of the primary
government. Otherwise, the component unit is presented discretely (separately) from the primary government.

Blended component units included in this report are:

. Philadelphia Municipal Authority
. Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority

Discretely presented component units included in this report are:

Philadelphia Gas Works

Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority
Philadelphia Parking Authority

School District of Philadelphia

Community College of Philadelphia

Community Behavioral Health, Inc.

Delaware River Waterfront Corporation
Philadelphia Authority for Industrial Development

The relationship between the City and its component units is explained further in the Notes to the Financial
Statements.

The City maintains budgetary controls to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual
appropriated budget proposed by the Mayor and approved by City Council for the fiscal year beginning July 1st.
Activities of the General Fund, City Related Special Revenue Funds and the City Capital Improvement Funds are
budgeted annually. The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed
the appropriated amount) is established by major class within an individual department and fund for the operating
funds and by project within department and fund for the Capital Improvement Funds. The City also maintains an
encumbrance accounting system for control purposes. Encumbered amounts that have not been expended at year-
end are carried forward into the succeeding year but appropriations that have not been expended or encumbered
at year-end are lapsed.

FACTORS AFFECTING ECONOMIC CONDITION

The information presented in this report is best understood in the context of the environment in which the City of
Philadelphia operates. A more comprehensive analysis of these factors is available in the City’s Five-Year Financial
Plan which is presented by the Mayor each year pursuant to the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation
Authority Act and can be obtained online at www.phila.gov/finance.

Local Economy

The City benefits from its strategic geographical location, relative affordability, cultural and recreational amenities,
and its growing strength in key industries. As a hub for education and medicine, the City is home to a number of
institutions of higher education, medical and research facilities, and hospitals, and these institutions improve the
neighborhoods around them. The City also has a strong business and personal services economy with strengths in
insurance, law, finance, and leisure and hospitality. Tourism is driven by the City’s attractive historic district and
array of cultural assets, including museums, theatres and entertainment venues, vast park system, and dynamic



restaurant scene. The cost of living in the City is relatively moderate compared to other major metropolitan areas.
In addition, the City offers the business community a large and diverse labor pool.

After decades of population loss, the City has experienced several years of consistent population growth and new
investment in its neighborhoods, spurred in part by the relative affordability of housing options and the City’s array
of cultural amenities. Over the past decade, both personal income and per capita income have increased by 63.8%
and 58.8%, respectively. The unemployment rate has returned to near pre-recession levels.

Despite this progress, significant challenges still remain. At 26%, the City’s poverty rate is the highest of the 10
largest cities in the country, and personal income levels also remain relatively low in comparison to the region.
These factors create an ongoing challenge to fund public services from a weaker tax base. While the City has
benefited from recent population growth, the number of parent-aged adults (age 35-54) and school age children
(age 5-19 years) has declined over the past five years, which is a trend that has negative implications for the tax
base.

Personal Per Capita

Calendar Income Personal Unemploy ment
Y ear Population (in thousands) Income Rate
2015 1,567,442 77,903,831 49,701 6.9%
2014 1,560,297 66,495,223 42,617 8.0%
2013 1,553,165 65,473,002 42 155 10 0%
2012 1,547,607 64,151,742 41,452 10.5%
2011 1,538,567 62,632,520 40,708 10.8%
2010 1,526,006 56,970,074 37,333 10.8%
2009 1,547,297 54,061,223 34,939 9.6%
2008 1,540,351 54,262,716 35,228 7.1%
2007 1,530,021 50,672,227 33,118 6.0%
2006 1,520,251 47,566,075 31,288 6.2%

Over the last decade, the changes in the City’s bond ratings have demonstrated a gradual improvement.

The City now has “A” category ratings for its General Obligation debt from all three major rating agencies: A2
(Moody’s), A+ (Standard & Poor’s), and A- (Fitch). Standard & Poor’s (S&P) upgraded the City from “BBB” to “A-"
in June 2013 and then gave the City a double upgrade to “A+” in December 2013. This was the first time that the
City has been rated in the “A” category by all three rating agencies. In 2016, the outlook for the City’s general
obligation credit was changed from stable to negative by both Moody’s Investor Service and Standard & Poor’s.
This means that both rating agencies during the next year will closely monitor the City’s fiscal health for signs of
improvements or deterioration and could decide to downgrade the City’s bond rating or remove the negative outlook.
The following table shows the City’s 10-year history as of June 30th.

City of Philadelphia's General Obligation Bond Ratings

Fiscal

Y ear End Moody's Standard & Poor's Fitch
2016 A2 A+ A-
2015 A2 A+ A-
2014 A2 A+ A-
2013 A2 A- A-
2012 A2 BBB+ A-
2011 A2 BBB A-
2010 A1 BBB A-
2009 Baal BBB BBB+
2008 Baal BBB BBB+
2007 Baa1l BEBEB BBB+



The consistent efforts of Philadelphia’s economic development agencies and others have spurred significant
economic changes throughout the City. Development in the Navy Yard has, over time, transitioned a formal naval
property and active military base to a growing hub for business. The City’s hotel room inventory has increased to
help meet demand, and investments in commercial corridors across the City have helped existing businesses
renovate, encouraged new businesses to move in, and reduced vacancy rates in those neighborhood commercial
areas.

As of June 2016, Philadelphia had 48 major projects under construction concurrently, representing almost $7.3
billion in combined public and private investment. Most significantly, in summer 2014, Comcast Corporation broke
ground on a 59-story, $1.2 billion office tower adjacent to its headquarters building in Center City. Residential
and mixed use developments represent $3.2 billion in investment across 32 projects that are under
construction across various neighborhoods throughout the City. Commercial developments represent over $1.9
billion invested across 11 projects, the majority of which are concentrated in Center City and the Navy Yard.
Projects from higher education and health care institutions in the University City district represent over $1.9 billion
in investment.

Long-Term Financial Planning

Despite these recent economic improvements, the City must budget carefully for the years ahead. Careful planning
is needed to ensure the City’s continued fiscal health and prepare for potential challenges, such as another
economic downturn.

One of the most important measures of the City’s financial health is its fund balance. Having a healthy fund balance
gives the City financial flexibility, makes it better able to meet its cash flow needs, mitigate current and future
financial risks and ensure predictability of future services. The City’s fund balance has historically been well below
levels recommended by government experts and the City's target of 6% to 8% of General Fund expenditures.

In fiscal 2016, the General Fund ended with a fund balance of $148.3 million, a $3.2 million decrease from fiscal
2015. The General Fund is projected to end fiscal 2017 with a fund balance of $106.1 million. Although greater than
the balance projected in the City’s most recent approved Five Year Plan for FY2017-2021, $106.1 million represents
only 2.5% of the City’s projected obligations. This is less than half of the low end of the City’s target of 6% to 8%.

The table below illustrates the City’s General Fund year-end balance for the past 5 years, and also projected forward
5 years as noted in the City’s Quarterly City Managers Report (period ending Dec. 31 2016) and the City’s most
recent Five Year Plan (Five Year Strategic Plan for Fiscal Years 2017-2021).

General Fund
Year End Fund Balance (Legal Basis)

Fiscal Projected/
Year End Fund Balance Actual
2021 107,258 Projected
2020 73,565 Projected
2019 57,849 Projected
2018 47,064 Projected
2017 106,134 Projected
2016 148,315 Actual
2015 151,531 Actual
2014 202,135 Actual
2013 256,902 Actual
2012 146,754 Actual

Relevant Financial Policies

PICA Act and Requirements: PICA was created in 1991 by the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation
Authority Act for Cities of the First Class (the PICA Act) to provide financial assistance for the City of Philadelphia.
Under this act and for as long as any PICA bonds are outstanding, the City is required to submit to PICA: (i) a five-
year financial plan on an annual basis; and (ii) quarterly financial reports. The five-year financial plan includes
projected revenues and expenditures of the principal operating funds of the City, beginning with the current fiscal
year. Each five-year plan, which must be approved by PICA, is required to, among other things, eliminate any



projected deficits, balance the fiscal year budgets and provide procedures to avoid fiscal emergencies. The
quarterly reports must be submitted to PICA so that PICA may determine whether the City is in compliance with the
then-current five-year plan.

Fund Balance Target: Recognizing the importance of maintaining adequate fund balances, the City developed a
target of approximately 6% to 8% of expenditures for a target fund balance.

Continued Wage and Business Tax Reductions: The City’s largest portion of tax revenue comes from the
City’s Wage and Earnings Tax. This tax is collected from all employees that work within the city limits but live
elsewhere, as well as all residents regardless of work location. The Business Income and Receipts Tax (BIRT)
is the third largest source of General Fund revenue and is based on both gross receipts (sales) and net
income (profits). The Administration is committed to ensuring job and business growth in the City and to
continuing gradual reductions in the City’s wage and business tax rates to make Philadelphia more competitive
regionally. The current FY2017-2021 Five Year Plan includes a continuation of wage and net income cuts resumed
in fiscal year 2014 after being suspended during the Great Recession.

Conducting Regular and Comprehensive Reassessments: The Real Property Tax is levied on the
taxable assessed value of all property in the City, and is the second largest source of tax revenue in the City.
Philadelphia is unlike other cities and counties that rely more heavily on the property tax portion of their budget.
Philadelphia’s property tax is split between the City and the School District of Philadelphia. In fiscal year 2014, the
City completed the Actual Value Initiative (AVI), which involved a comprehensive reassessment of all
properties in the City — 579,000 parcels — to correct outdated and partial assessments. The intent of AVI is to
ensure that properties are examined annually to ensure that values reflect the market. Since 2014, the Office of
Property Assessment (OPA) has completed assessment projects on various property classes to maintain
and improve the accuracy of assessments until another citywide reassessment is completed for fiscal 2019,
after which full reassessments will be conducted annually.

Improving the Health of the Pension Fund: The City and its unions have taken multiple steps to improve the
health of the pension fund, which is only 45% funded. Each year, the City has been contributing more than what is
legally required, including dedicating sales tax revenue in addition to the minimum municipal obligation to improve
the funding status of the plan.

The contract ratified in August 2016 by District Council 33, the City’s largest municipal union, increases
contributions for current employees so that those with higher annual salaries pay a higher contribution rate.
These additional contributions will increase the assets of the pension fund over time. The agreement with
District Council 33 also created a stacked hybrid plan that is mandatory for new hires. The stacked hybrid plan
provides retirement security for the City’s employees while also reducing the pension system’s liabilities. Under the
stacked hybrid plan included in the DC33 agreement, employees receive a traditional defined benefit plan for their
first $50,000 of earnings and a 401k type plan for earnings above that amount.

Since fiscal 2008, the Pension Board has gradually lowered the pension system’s assumed rate of return from
8.75% to 7.75% and has voted to make assumptions around mortality and other demographic factors more
conservative. While fiscally prudent, these changes also lower the fund’s actuarial funding percentage. The changes
are partially responsible for recent increases in the City’s minimum municipal obligation.

Managing Heath Benefit Costs: Health benefit program costs are one the largest and fastest growing items in
the City’s budget. In order to address the challenges these costs present, the City has made cost-saving changes
in the City-administered health benefit programs for exempt and non-represented employees, and sought
changes to its labor contracts in the area of health benefits. These changes include moving to self-insurance,
increasing co-pays, and implementing wellness and disease management programs.

Major Initiatives

Philadelphia Beverage Tax and Funded Programs: In June 2016, City Council passed and the Mayor signed the
Philadelphia Beverage Tax (PBT). The Beverage Tax taxes the distribution of sweetened drinks at 1.5 cents per
ounce and became effective January 1, 2017. The Beverage Tax is expected to provide funding for pre-
kindergarten, community schools, recreation centers and libraries. The City projects to collect approximately $42.2
million in fiscal 2017, and slightly over $92 million annually in fiscal years 2018 through 2021.

In September 2016, a lawsuit challenging the PBT was filed by the American Beverage Association and other co-
plaintiffs in the Court of Common Pleas. This complaint was dismissed in its entirety by the Court of Common Pleas
in December 2016. Following the decision, the plaintiffs appealed the ruling to the Commonwealth Court of
Pennsylvania. The appeal is currently on an expedited scheduling track before the Commonwealth Court and is
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scheduled for oral argument during the first week of April 2017. Mayor Kenney remains committed to providing
affordable, quality pre-K to up to 6,500 children over the next five years, investing over time in the renewal of civic
assets like parks and libraries, and creating 25 community schools over the next four years. However, while the
litigation is pending, the City cannot fully implement its plan for these three important initiatives. Until there is
certainty that the Beverage Tax — and its accompanying revenue stream — will not be invalidated by any legal
challenge, the City will proceed with limited expansion of these programs.

Pension Reform: The Administration will continue efforts to improve the health of the pension fund by applying the
reforms negotiated with District Council 33 to all City employees. When the collective bargaining agreements for
the police, fire, and District Council 47 employees expire on June 30, 2017, the Administration will work with the
unions and City Council to expand the reforms included in the District Council 33 agreement to all City employees.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded its prestigious
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2015. This was the thirty sixth consecutive year that the City of
Philadelphia has received this prestigious award. The City received this recognition by publishing a report that was
well organized and readable and satisfied both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements.

The preparation of the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report on a timely basis was made possible by the
dedicated service of the entire staff of the Office of the Director of Finance as well as various City departments and
component units. Each has my sincere appreciation for their valuable contributions.

Sincerely,

ROB DUBOW
Director of Finance



®

Government Finance Officers Association

Certificate of

Achievement
for Excellence
in Financial
Reporting

Presented to

City of Philadelphia
Pennsylvania

For its Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report
for the Fiscal Year Ended

June 30, 2015

B # S

Executive Director/CEQ



Independent Boards & Commissions

Human Relations
C

Police Advisory Fair Housing
c i C i

Civil Service
o !

Office of the Mayor

City of Philadelphia

Mayor of p

Inspector General

City Solicitor

Finance Director Chief Administrative Officer

Managing Director

1

Director of Planning and
Development

‘Commerce Director

City Representative

First Deputy Deputy Managing First Deputy Managing Deputy M.D. for Division of Zoning Business
First Deputy CAO Deputy M.D. for Parks, . Deputy M.D. for
‘ Finance Director R o i Gt Director for Health and Director Infrastructure and Communty Senvices and Planning Development
‘ ‘ Human Services Transportation
| I T
Deputy CAO for [ [ L 1 1 I I Division of
City Treasurer Human Resuurces Department of Office of Office of Office of the Office of Civic Development 0"‘%9 of E‘W':""“C
& Talent Parks and Health Department Emergency Sustainabill Criminal Justice Streets Department| Engagement and Services pportunity
I Recreation Management Y Coordinator Volunteer Services T I
| I I Division of Neighborhood and
Revenue Procurement Housing and Small Busines
Department Department Free Library of Department of Fire Department Department of Water Department Philly 311 Community Services
iladelphia Human Services Prisons D
I I
Office of Property Records Offics of AT Deparento PHL Airport
‘ Assessment Department Cullire and the Bohavioral Health Police Department Office of Complete Office of Immigrant 4
Creative Economy and Intellectual Streets Affairs
Disability Services
Offce of Propery
Fleet Management Community Life
‘ Mural Arts Project Office of Supportivel {icense and Improvement
‘ Housing P Program (CLIP)
Budget an
Program Evaluauon‘ Human Resources ‘ Commission on Grponormentond.
‘ Literacy Opportunity
Office of
Office of Risk Administrative
Management Reviow
I
Bureau of
Pensions Administrative
Adjudication
I
A Office of Innovation
coounting and Technology
I
Performance
‘ OnePhilly ‘ Management
Contracting Unit Fay i o =
e LR LS

Department of
Public Property




City of Philadelphia
List of Elected Officials and Appointed Cabinet Members
June 30, 2016

Elected Officials

VAYOF .ottt e et et reeeaeraesensenesensrasenssnssrnssnssnnsenssnsnns

City Council
President, Sth District.........cccoeiniiiiiiii e, Darrell L. Clarke
ASEDISERCE e e Mark Squilla
2NA DiIStriCt ...oeeieeieiirr e Kenyatta Johnson
Brad District.......cooviiiiiiiiii Jannie L. Blackwell
Ath District......ccooiiiiiiiiiii Curtis Jones, Jr.
Bth DiStriCt.......ceniiiii e Bobby Henon
TEh DIStriCt.. oo e Maria D. Quinones-Sanchez
Bth DistriCt.....ovniiiiiii e Cindy Bass
Oth District.....cccoovviiiiiiiiiiii Cherelle L. Parker
10th District........cooviiiiiiiiii e, Brian J. O'Neill
AL-LArge ...ooeeiiieiiiierieineieriereee et eree et senesernsenesennsennsannnnes Blondell Reynolds Brown
AL-Large ...oeieiiiiii et ee e e e e e aans Derek S. Green
AL-Large ...oeeieiiiiii et ee e e ea e eans William K. Greenlee
AL-Large ...oeeniiiiiie et et eae e e e s ea e anns David Oh
AL-Large ...oeeeeieiiiiiiicee ettt ea s e e e sa e naanes Helen Gym
AL-LArge ..cveeiiiiiiiiiiiiiniieriereeeeenereeseenesenesernssensennssenssennnnes Al Taubenberger
AL-LArge ...oeeiiieeiiieriiireierierereeenereesetnesenenernsensennssennsennnnes Allan Domb

District AtIOrNeY .....cvnieiie e R. Seth Williams

City CONrOllEr ......neeeiiiieee et s ere e e s e e eneseneee Alan Butkovitz

City Commissioners

0] - 1] 4 3 1 T- 1o S OO PRSP PP PP Anthony Clark

COMMISSIONEN.....ccuuiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieii ettt seaeeaaeee Al Schmidt

COMMISSIONET ... .ciuuiiiiiiiiieieeenerteeretnereneeeensernersennsenssensssennns Lisa M. Deeley
Register of WIlls........couniiniiiiiiiiiie et eee e e e Ronald R. Donatucci
Sheriff...cc.ciieiiiiiiiiiiii e Jewell Williams

First Judicial District of Pennsylvania
President Judge, Court of Common Pleas ........ccccccecuvuenen.e. Sheila Woods- Skipper
President Judge, Municipal Court ..........cccoevviiiniiiirincinnnnnne. Marsha H. Neifield



City of Philadelphia
List of Elected Officials and Appointed Cabinet Members
June 30, 2016

Appointed Cabinet Members

Managing Director Michael DiBerardinis

R o E=Ta o= TT =T o1 o P Rob Dubow
Chief Administrative OffiCer..........couuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e Christine Derenick-Lopez
City SOlICIHON ... i s ee s et e s e e s eae s enae s Sozi Tulante
Director of Planning & Development ..........ccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiirr e s Anne Fadullon
Commerce DIreCtOr ........ccuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii Harold Epps
Chief of Staff.........couiiiiiiii e Jane Slusser
Deputy Mayor for Intergovernmental Affairs..........cccoeueiiiiiiiiiiriiiiiciiiniireneeenens Deborah Mahler
Deputy Mayor for Labor Relations...........cccccuvennennnen. Richard Lazer
Deputy Mayor for Policy & Legislation .........cccceeuueiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniieeceneeenenennens James Engler
Chief Integrity OffiCEr .......c.ciiiuiiiiiiiiiieriic et e eee s eeneeeenseenanns Ellen Kaplan
Chief EAUCation OffiCer........ccuuciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiincin ettt eeeaeeeeneae Otis Hackney
Chief Diversity & INCIUSION OFfiCer ......ccuiiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicirc e eeees Nolan Atkinson
Deputy Mayor for Public Engagement .............ccoooiiuiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiniiiiiiinn Nina Ahmad
City Representative ..........covuiiiiiiiiiiii e ceeeeeeseneereeeeen e e seeeenaens Sheila Hess
INSPECLOr GENEIAL.....c..iveiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e eeeeeee it eeeeeneenesenssensssnsenssenssnnnas Amy L. Kurland



OFFICE QF THE CONTROLLER ALAN BUTKOVITZ

1230 Municipal Services Building City Controliar
1401 John F, Kennedy Boulsvard

Phitadelphia, PA 16102-1679 CHRISTY BRADY
(215) 686-6680 FAX (215) 686-3832 Deputy City Controller

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and Honorable Members
of the Council of the City of Philadelphia

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
the aggregate discretely presenied component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund infurmation
of the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2016, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania’s basic financial statements
as listed in the table of contents.

Muanagement’s Responsibility for the Financial Statemenlts
i )} )

Management is responsible for the preparation and [air presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of {inancial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Aunditor’s Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. With the exception of the
Schoal District of Philadelphia, we did not audit the financial statements of the biended component units and the
discretely presented component units listed in Note L1, as well as the Municipal Pension Fund, the (Gas Works
Retirement Reserve Fund. and the Parks and Recreation Departmental and Permanent Funds which collectively
represent 309, 28%, and 17% of the total assets, net position/fund balances, and revenues, respectively. Those
statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar
as they relate to the amounts included for those component units and funds, are based solely on the reports of the
other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States ot America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auvditor considers internal control relevant to the cntity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but nat for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s intemnal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
staternents.
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We believe that the nudit evidenee we have obtaimed iy sutticient and appropeiate to provide o basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our vpinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors. the tinancial statements reterred to above present
tairlv, in all material respects. the respective financial position of the governmental activities. the business-tvpe
activities, the ageregate diseretely presented compenent units. cach major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as of June 3¢, 2016, and the respective changes in financial
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Mutrers
Required Supplementory tnformation

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of Amcerica require that the management’s discussion
and analysis on pages 15 through 29, and the required supplementary information other than management’s
discussion and analvsis as Hsted in the table of contents be presented 1o supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the GASB who considers it 1o
be an cssential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic. or historical context. We and other auditors have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisied of inguirics of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses 10 our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Supplementary nformation

Our audit for the yvear ended June 30, 2016 was conducted for the purpose ol forming opinions on the financial
statements that collectively comprise the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvanis basic financial statements.  The
accompanying Other Supplementary Information for the vear ended June 30, 2016, as listed in the table of contents,
is presented for purposes of additional analvsis and is not a required part of the Dasic financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relutes direetly o the underlving
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The Other Supplementary Information
has been subjected o the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements for the vear
ended June 30, 2016, and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
dircctly 1o the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 1o the basic
financiol statements themselves, and other additionsl procedures in accordance with auditing standards generaily
acoepled inthe United States of America by us and other auditors. In our opinion, based on our audit, the procedures
performued as described above, and the reports of other auditors. the Other Supplementary Information as listed in
the table of contents is fuirly stated, in all material respects, in relation o the basic fnancial statements as o wholke
for the vear ended June 3. 2016,

We also previoushy audited, i accordance with auditing standards generally sccepied in the Uinited States of
Ameria, the busic financial statements of the Citv of Philadelphia, Pennsvlvania as ol and for the vear ended
June 300 2005 (not presented herainy, and have fssued our report thereon dated February 24, 2006, which contained
unmodified opintons on the respective financkd statements of the governmental activities. the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component enits, cach major fund. and the aggregate remwining fund
information.  The 2015 amounts chaded in the individual tund schedules of Budectary Actual and Estimuted
Revenues and Ohligations tor the vear ended June 30, 2013 are presented for purposes of additional aialy sis and e
nab g required part of the basic financin] statements, Sueh information is the responsibility of manugement and was
derived trom and refates directiy to the underlying aecounting and other records used to prepare the 2013 financial
statements. Tae 2005 wmounts incladed g the madividual fund schedules of Budpotary Aenpad and Tstimagd
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Revenues and Obligations have been subjected to the awditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2013 basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
direetly to the underving accounting and other records used w0 prepare these financial statements or 1o these
tinanciul staements themselves, and other additionat procedures in accordance with auditing standards eenerally
aceepted in the United Swatzs of America, Inoour opinion, the 2015 amounts included in the individual fund
schedules of Budgetary Avtual and Estimated Revenues and Obligations are tairly stated inall material rospects in
refation o the basie financial statemenis as g whaole lor the year ended June 30, 2015,

Chbrer Lntornation

The other information, which includes the Introductory Section wnd Statistical Section as listed m the wble of
contents. is presented for the purpose of additionad analvsis asd is vot a required part of the basic fnancial
statentents. Such information has not been subjected 1o the auditing procedures applivd in the awdit of the basic
financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an apinien or provide any assurance on i,

CHRISTY BRALY. CPA
Deputy City Controbler
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 24, 2017

13






City of Philadelphia
Management’s Discussion & Analysis Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

City of Philadelphia

PENNSYLVANIA

Management’s Discussion & Analysis

This narrative overview and analysis of the financial statements of the City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 has been prepared by the City’s management. The information
presented here should be read in conjunction with additional information contained in our letter of
transmittal, which can be found beginning on page 1, and the City’s financial statements immediately
following this discussion and analysis.

Financial Highlights

* At the end of the current fiscal year, the liabilities and deferred inflows of the City of Philadelphia
exceeded its assets and deferred outflows by $4,629.3 million. Its unrestricted net position showed a
deficit of $8,183.8 million. This deficiency will have to be funded from resources generated in future years.

* The City’s total June 30, 2016 year-end net position increased by $58.5 million from the prior year
June 30, 2015 net position. The governmental activities of the City experienced a decrease of $60.7
million, while the business type activities had an increase of $119.2 million.

® For the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of
$415.2 million, a decrease of $65.0 million from last year. The unassigned fund balance of the
governmental funds ended the fiscal year with a deficit of $327.8 million, a decrease of $107.6 million
from last year.

* At the end of the current fiscal year, unrestricted fund balance (the total of the committed, assigned
and unassigned components of the fund balance) for the general fund was $78.0 million, of which, $0.0
(zero) was unassigned which represents the residual amounts that have not been assigned to other
funds. The unassigned fund balance was unchanged in comparison with the prior year.

®* On the legally enacted budgetary basis, the City’s general fund ended the fiscal year with a surplus
fund balance of $148.3 million, as compared to a $151.5 million surplus last year. The decrease of $3.2
million was due to an increase in expenditures that resulted in an operating deficit of $26.8 million offset
by some cancelations of prior year obligations.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction and overview of the City of
Philadelphia’s basic financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of:

=  Government-wide financial statements which provide both long-term and short-term information
about the City’s overall financial condition.

= Fund financial statements which provide a more detailed look at major individual portions, or
funds, of the City.

= Notes to the financial statements which explain some of the information contained in the financial
statements and provide more detailed data.

= QOther_supplementary information which further explains and supports the information in the
financial statements.
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Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements report information
about the City as a whole using accounting methods similar to those used by a private-sector business.
The two statements presented are:

The statement of net position which includes all of the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred
inflows/outflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases
or decreases in net positions are an indicator of whether the City’'s financial position is
improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents revenues and expenses and their effect on the change in the
City’s net position during the current fiscal year. These changes in net position are recorded as soon
as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The government-wide financial statements of the City are reflected in three distinct categories:

1.

Governmental activities are primarily supported by taxes and state and federal grants. The
governmental activities include general government; economic and neighborhood development;
public health, welfare and safety; cultural and recreational; streets, highways and sanitation; and
the financing activities of the City’s two blended component units - the Pennsylvania
Intergovernmental Cooperation Authority and Philadelphia Municipal Authority.

Business-type activities are supported by user fees and charges which are intended to recover
all or a significant portion of their costs. The City’s water and waste water systems, airport and
industrial land bank are all included as business type activities.

These first two activities comprise the primary government of Philadelphia.

Component units are legally separate entities for which the City of Philadelphia is financially
accountable or has oversight responsibility. Financial information for these component units is
reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary government. The
City’s government-wide financial statements contain eight distinct component units; the
Philadelphia School District, Community College of Philadelphia, Community Behavioral Health,
Gas Works, Parking Authority, Delaware River Waterfront Corporation, Philadelphia Authority for
Industrial Development and the Redevelopment Authority.

Fund financial statements. The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the City’s
most significant funds, not the City as a whole. Funds are groupings of activities that enable the City to
maintain control over resources that have been segregated for particular purposes or objectives. All of
the funds of the City of Philadelphia can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary
funds and fiduciary funds.

1.

Governmental funds. The governmental funds are used to account for the financial activity of
the City’'s basic services, similar to those described for the governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide statements which
provide a long-term focus of the City, the fund financial statements focus on a short term view of
the inflows and outflows of expendable resources, as well as on the balances of expendable
resources available at the end of the fiscal year. The financial information presented for the
governmental funds are useful in evaluating the City’s short term financing requirements.

To help the readers of the financial statements better understand the relationships and
differences between the long term view of the government-wide financial statements from the
short term view of the fund financial statements, reconciliations are presented between the fund
financial statements and the government-wide statements.

The City maintains twenty-two individual governmental funds. Financial information is presented
separately for the general fund, grants revenue fund and health choices behavioral health fund,
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which are considered to be major funds. Data for the remaining nineteen are combined into a
single aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental
funds is presented in the form of combining statements in the supplementary information section
of this financial report.

2. Proprietary funds. The proprietary funds are used to account for the financial activity of the
City’s operations for which customers are charged a user fee; they provide both a long and short
term view of financial information. The City maintains three enterprise funds which are a type of
proprietary funds - the airport, water and waste water operations, and industrial land bank. These
enterprise funds are the same as the business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements, but they provide more detail and additional information, such as cash flows.

3. Fiduciary funds. The City of Philadelphia is the trustee, or fiduciary, for its employees’ pension
plans. It is also responsible for the Gas Works’ employees’ retirement reserve assets. Both of
these fiduciary activities are reported in separate statements of fiduciary net positions and
changes in fiduciary net positions. They are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the assets are not available to support the City’s operations.

The following chart summarizes the various components of the City’s government-wide and fund
financial statements, including the portion of the City government they cover, and the type of
information they contain.

Summary of the City of Philadelphia's Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements
Fund Statements

Government-wide Governmental Proprietary Fiduciary
Statements Funds Funds Funds
Scope Entire city government Activities of the city that Activities the city operates Activities for w hich the city
(except fiduciary funds) are not proprietary or similar to private businesses. s trustee for someone else's
and city's component fiduciary in nature, such as Airports, w ater/w aste water ~ assets, such as the employees'
units fire, police, refuse collection system & the land bank. pension plan
Required Statement of Net Position Balance Sheet Statement of Net Position Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Financial Statement of Activities Statement of Revenues, Statement of Revenues, Statement of Changes in
Statements Expenditures and Changes Expenses and Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

in Fund Balances

Net Position
Statement of Cash Flow s

Accounting basis/
measurement focus

Accrual accounting
Economic resources

Modified accrual accounting
Current financial resources

Accrual accounting
Economic resources

Accrual accounting
Economic resources

Type of asset, All assets, liabilities, Only assets expected to be All assets, liabilities, All assets and liabilities, both
liability and deferred deferred inflow /outflow used up and liabilities and deferred inflow /outflow short and long term; there are
inflow/outflow of of resources, deferred inflow s of resources of resources, currently no capital assets,
resources financial and capital, that come due during the current financial and capital, although there could be in the
short and long term year or soon thereafter; no short and long term future
capital assets are included

Type of inflow and Allrevenues and expenses  Only revenues for w hich cash Allrevenues and expenses All revenues and expenses
outflow information during the year, regardless is received during the year or during the year, regardless during the year, regardless

of when cash is received
or paid

soon after the end of the year;
only expenditures w hen goods
or services are received and
payment is due during the year
or soon thereafter.

of when cash is received
or paid

of when cash is received
or paid

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data presented in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes
can be found immediately following the basic financial statements.

Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also
presents additional information in three separate sections: required supplementary information,
supplementary information and statistical information.

* Required supplementary information. Certain information regarding pension plan funding
progress for the City and its component units, as well as budgeted and actual revenues, expenditures
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and encumbrances for the City’s major governmental funds is presented in this section. This required
supplementary information can be found immediately following the notes to the financial statements.

® Supplementary information. Combining statements for non-major governmental and fiduciary
funds, as well as additional budgetary schedules for the City’s governmental and proprietary funds
are presented in this section. This supplementary information can be found immediately following the
required supplementary information.

e Statistical information. Long term trend tables of financial, economic, demographic and operating
data are presented in the statistical section. This information is located immediately after the
supplementary information.

Government-wide Financial Analysis

Net position. As noted earlier, net positions are useful indicators of a government’s financial position. At
the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Philadelphia’s liabilities & deferred inflows exceeded its
assets & deferred outflows by $4,629.3 million.

Capital assets (land, buildings, roads, bridges and equipment), less any outstanding debt issued to
acquire these assets, comprise a large portion of the City of Philadelphia’s net position, $2,278.9 million.
Although these capital assets assist the City in providing services to its citizens, they are generally not
available to fund the operations of future periods.

A portion of the City’s net position, $1,275.6 million, is subject to external restrictions as to how they may
be used. The remaining component of net position is unrestricted. Unrestricted net position ended the
fiscal year with a deficit of $8,183.8 million. The governmental activities reported negative unrestricted
net position of $7,904.5 million. The business type activities reported an unrestricted net position deficit
of $279.3 million. Any deficits will have to be funded from future revenues.

Following is a comparative summary of the City’s assets, liabilities and net position:

City of Philadelphia‘’s Net Position

(millions of USD)
Governmental Business-type Total
Activities % Activities % Primary Government %
2016 2015 Change 2016 2015 Change 2016 2015 Change
Current and other assets 2,137.6 2,063.4 3.60% 1,582.0 1,714.2 -1.71% 3,719.6 3,777.6 -1.54%
Capital assets 2,373.6 2,314.0 2.58% 4,220.8 4,098.5 2.98% 6,594.4 6,412.5 2.84%
Total assets 4,511.2 4,377.4 3.06% 5,802.8 5,812.7 -0.17% 10,314.0 10,190.1 1.22%
Deferred Outflows 878.6 439.4 99.95% 158.7 118.3  34.15% 1,037.2 557.7 85.98%
Long-term liabilities 4,600.2 4,612.9 -0.28% 3,182.9 3,386.3  -6.01% 7,783.1 7,999.2 -2.70%
Other liabilities 7,074.1 6,463.5 9.45% 1,079.2 968.9  11.38% 8,153.3 7,432.4 9.70%
Total liabilities 11,6743 11,076.4 5.40% 4,262.1 4,355.2 -2.14% 15,936.4 15,431.6 3.27%
Deferred Inflows 39.7 3.9 915.58% 44 - - 441 3.9 1027.81%
Net Position:
Net Investment in
capital assets 955.2 1,040.8 -8.22% 1,323.7 1,088.1  21.65% $2,278.9 2,128.9 7.05%
Restricted 625.1 576.3 8.47% 650.5 766.0 -15.08% $1,275.6 1,342.3 -4.97%
Unrestricted (7,904.5) (7,880.6) -0.30% (279.3) (278.4) -0.32% (8,183.8) (8,159.0) -0.30%
Total Net Position (6,324.2) (6,263.5) -0.97% 1,694.9 1,575.7 7.56% (4,629.3) (4,687.8) 1.25%
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Changes in net position. The City’s total revenues this year, $7,493.5 million, exceeded total costs of
$7,413.0 million by $80.5 million. Approximately 48% of all revenue came from wage and earnings taxes,
property taxes, business and miscellaneous taxes. State, Federal and local grants account for
another 31%, and the remaining 21% of the revenue coming from user charges, fines, fees and
various other sources. The City’s expenses cover a wide range of services, of which approximately
60% are related to the health, welfare and safety of the general public.

User Charges
20%

Wage &
Earnings Tax
24%

Property Tax
7%

Federal &
State Grants

319% Business &

Misc Tax
17%

Total revenues increased by $259.1 million, total expenses increased by $512.7 million over last year.
This resulted in the Change in Net Position, before prior period adjustments, being $253.6 million less
than in the previous year. Net positions were increased by $106.1 million from Charges for Services,
$79.7 million from Operating Grants and Contributions, $79.6 million for Wage and Earning Taxes, $119.2
million from Other Taxes, $0.3 million from Unrestricted Grants and Contributions, $8.1 million from
Unrestricted Interest; and decreased by $132.8 million from Capital Grants and Contributions, and $1.1
million from Property Taxes.

Expense increased by $512.7 million with decreases of $0.8 million in Housing and Neighborhood
Development, $8.0 million in Interest in Long Term Debt; and increases of $17.9 million in Economic
Development, $14.3 million in Transportation, $178.6 million for Judiciary and Law Enforcement, $158.5
million in Conservation of Health, $5.8 million in Cultural & Recreational, $33.2 million in Improvement of
the General Welfare, $25.7 million in Services to Taxpayer Property, $42.8 million in General
Management, $18.8 million in Water and Waste Water and $25.9 million in Airport.
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Property 34%
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Governmental Activities

The governmental activities of the City resulted in a $92.3 million decrease in net position before prior

period adjustments. The following chart reflects program expenses and program revenue. The
difference (net cost) must be funded by Taxes, Grants & Contributions and Other revenues.

Governmental Activities

O Program Expenses O Program Revenues
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The following table summarizes the City’s most significant governmental programs. Costs, program
revenues and net cost are shown in the table. The net cost shows the financial burden that was placed
on the City’s taxpayers by each of these functions.

Program Program Net

(millions of USD) Costs Revenues Cost
2016 2015 % Change 2016 2015 % Change 2016 2015 % Change
General Welfare $ 888.6 $ 8554 3.9% $ 590.1 $ 590.8 0.1% $ 2985 $ 264.6 12.8%
Judiciary & Law Enforcement 1,953.7 1,775.1 10.1% 113.2 111.3 1.7% 1,840.5 1,663.8 10.6%
Public Health 1,645.4 1,486.9 10.7% 1,392.5 1,276.0 9.1% 252.9 210.9 19.9%
General Governmental 806.3 771.5 4.5% 213.1 220.2 -3.2% 593.2 551.3 7.6%
Senvices to Property 527.7 501.9 5.1% 20.3 31.1 -34.7% 507.4 470.8 7.8%
Housing, Economic & Cultural 622.0 584.9 6.3% 202.5 220.3 -8.1% 419.5 364.6 15.1%
$ 6,443.7 $ 5,975.7 7.8% $ 2,531.7_$ 2,449.7 3.3% $ 3,912.0 $ 3,526.0 10.9%

The cost of all governmental activities this year was $6,443.7 million; the amount that taxpayers paid for
these programs through tax payments was $3,606.1 million. The federal and state governments and
other charitable organizations subsidized certain programs with grants and contributions in the amount of
$2,152.6 million while those who benefited from the programs paid $379.2 million through fees and
charges. Unrestricted grants and contributions and other general types of revenues accounted for the
balance of revenues in the amount of $245.1 million. The difference of $60.7 million represents
a reduction in net positions.
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The following table shows a more detailed breakdown of program costs and related revenues for both the
governmental and business-type activities of the City:

City of Philadelphia-Net Position

Governmental Business-type
(millions of USD) Activities Activities Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 3792 $ 378.4 $ 1,1041 $ 998.8 $ 14833 $ 13772
Operating grants and
contributions 2,090.9 2,011.2 0.9 0.9 2,091.8 2,012.1
Capital grants and
contributions 61.8 60.1 26.8 161.3 88.6 2214
General revenues:
Wage and earnings taxes 1,816.8 1,737.2 - - 1,816.8 1,737.2
Property taxes 550.2 551.3 - - 550.2 551.3
Other taxes 1,239.2 1,120.0 - - 1,239.2 1,120.0
Unrestricted grants and
contributions 185.4 185.1 1.9 1.9 187.3 187.0
Unrestricted Interest 28.0 241 8.3 4.1 36.3 28.2
Total revenues 6,351.5 6,067.4 1,142.0 1,167.0 7,493.5 7,2344
Expenses:
Economic development 115.3 97.4 - - 1156.3 97.4
Transportation 212.9 198.6 - - 2129 198.6
Judiciary & law enforcement 1,953.7 1,7751 - - 1,953.7 1,7751
Conservation of health 1,645.4 1,486.9 - - 1,645.4 1,486.9
Housing & neighborhood
development 80.1 80.9 - - 80.1 80.9
Cultural & recreational 213.8 208.0 - - 213.8 208.0
Improvement of the general
welfare 888.6 855.4 - - 888.6 855.4
Services to taxpayer property 527.7 502.0 - - 527.7 502.0
General management 648.1 605.3 - - 648.1 605.3
Interest on long term debt 158.2 166.2 - - 158.2 166.2
Water & waste water - - 569.0 550.2 569.0 550.2
Airport - - 400.2 374.3 400.2 374.3
Industrial land bank - - - - - -
Total expenses 6,443.8 5,975.8 969.2 924.5 7,413.0 6,900.3
Increase (dec.) in net position before
transfers & special items (92.3) 91.6 172.8 2425 80.5 334.1
Transfers 31.6 30.3 (31.6) (30.3) - -
Increase (dec) in Net Position (60.7) 121.9 141.2 212.2 80.5 33441
Net Position - Beginning (6,263.5) (1,964.6) 1,575.7 1,893.6 (4,687.8) (71.0)
Adjustment - (4,420.8) (22.0) (530.1) (22.0) (4,950.9)
Net Position - End $ (6,324.2) $ (6,263.5) $ 16949 $ 15757 $ (4,629.3) $ (4,687.8)

Business-type Activities

%
Change

7.7%
4.0%
-60.0%

4.6%
-0.2%
10.6%

0.2%
28.7%
3.6%

18.4%

7.2%
10.1%
10.7%

-1.0%
2.8%

3.9%
5.1%
71%
-4.8%
3.4%
6.9%
0.0%
7.4%

6502.5%

-1.2%

Business-type activities resulted in a $141.3 million increase in net position before prior period
adjustments. This increase was comprised of an increase in net position for water/wastewater of $77.6
million, an increase to aviation of $62.0 million, and an increase for industrial & commercial development

operations of $1.7 million.
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Business-Type Activities
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Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds

Governmental funds. The purpose of the City’s governmental funds is to provide financial information on
the short term inflow, outflow and balance of resources. This information is useful in assessing the City’s
ability to meet its near-term financing requirements. Unassigned fund balance serves as a useful
measure of the City’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

At the end of the fiscal year the City’'s governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $415.2
million, a decrease of $65.0 million over last year. Of the total fund balance, $3.1 million represents non-
spendable fund balance for amounts that cannot be spent.

In addition, $657.3 million represents restricted fund balance due to externally imposed constraints
by outside parties, or law, for the following proposes:

Economic Development $ 12.3
Public Safety Emergency Phone System 40.8
Streets & Highways 371
Housing and Neighborhood Development 20.8
Health Senvices 11.2
Behavioral Health 2201
Parks & Recreation 0.8
Libraries & Museums 3.0
Intergovernmental Financing 25.5
Central Library Project 1.7
Stadium Financing 6.9
Cultural & Commercial Corridor Project 7.4
Pension Obligation Bonds 44.8
Debt Senice Reserve 81.6
Capital Projects 133.1
Trust Purposes 10.2

Total Restricted Fund Balance $ 657.3
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The fund balance is further broken down as to committed fund balance for Prisons $2.9 million and Parks
and Recreation $1.7 million. The difference between the non-spendable, restricted, committed, assigned
and combined fund balance is a deficit of $327.8 million which constitutes unassigned fund balance, this
deficit must be funded by future budgets.

The general fund, the primary operating fund of the City, reported assigned fund balance of $78.0 million
and unassigned fund balance of $0.0 (zero) at the end of the fiscal year.

Fund Balance (Millions of USD)

| | |
Nontmajor Funds I I]
I Grants Fund I
Behgvioral Health |
General Fund I I
($400.0) ($300.0) ($200.0) ($100.0) $0.0 $100.0 $200.0 $300.0 $400.0
B Non-spend DORestricted O Committed B Assigned DUnassigned

Overall, the total fund balance of the General Fund decreased by $23.0 million during the current fiscal
year, compared to a decrease of $56.2 million in the prior fiscal year. Some of the key factors
contributing to this change are:

Revenues:

e Total current year revenues ($3,588.9 million) increased between fiscal years, with a $198.8 million
(5.9%) increase from the prior fiscal year ($3,390.1 million).

e This increase was primarily due to $196.8 million increase in tax revenue.

¢ All other revenues remained relatively flat compared to the prior fiscal year.

Expenditures and Other Financing Sources (Uses):

e Total current year Expenditures and Other Financing Sources (Uses) ($3,611.9 million) increased
between fiscal years, with a $165.6 million (4.8%) increase from prior fiscal year ($3,446.3 million)

e This increase was primarily due to a $91.5 million increase in expenditures related to Judiciary and
Law Enforcement (Police, Prisons and the Courts).

The Health Choices Behavioral Health fund ended the fiscal year with a total fund balance of $220.1
million, the entire amount is reserved for a contractually required equity reserve and reinvestment
initiatives. The total fund balance increased during the fiscal year by $20.5 million.

The Grants Revenue fund has a total fund balance deficit of $281.7 million which is comprised of a
positive restricted fund balance of $40.8 million for emergency telephone system programs and a deficit
unassigned fund balance of $322.5 million. Because most programs accounted for in the grants revenue
fund are reimbursement based, it is not unusual for the grants revenue fund to end the fiscal year with a
deficit unassigned fund balance. The overall fund balance of the grants revenue fund experienced a
decrease of $133.4 million during the current fiscal year.

Proprietary funds. The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of financial information found in

the government-wide financial statements, but in slightly more detail. The total net position of the
proprietary funds increased by $141.3 million during the current fiscal year. This increase is attributable
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to the water/wastewater system which had an increases of $77.6 million, airport operations which
experienced an increase of $62.0 million, and industrial & commercial land bank operations which also
experienced an increase of $1.7 million.

The proprietary funds reported an unrestricted net position deficit of $279.3 million. The table below
indicates the unrestricted net position for the water and waste water operations, the airport, and the
industrial and commercial land bank operations for the current and previous fiscal years.

Unrestricted Net Position (deficit)

2016 2015 Change
Water and Waste Water ($258.2) ($235.9) ($22.3)
Aviation ($84.7) ($104.3) $19.6
Land Bank $63.6 $61.9 $1.7
($279.3) ($278.3) ($1.0)

The $22.3 million change in the Water and Waste Water unrestricted net position is primarily due to a
prior period adjustment of $22.0 million which related to items that were capitalized and should have been
expensed in prior years.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The following table shows the General Fund’s year end fund balance for the five most recent years:

(millions of USD)
Fund Balance

General Fund Available for Increase
at June 30 Appropriation (Decrease)
2016 $ 148.3 $ (3.2)
2015 151.5 (50.6)
2014 202.1 (54.8)
2013 256.9 110.1
2012 146.8 146.7

The general fund’s budgetary fund balance surplus of $148.3 million differs from the general fund’s fund
financial statement unassigned fund balance of $0.0 (zero) by $148.3 million, which represents the
following:

1. The unearned portion of the business income & receipts tax of $169.5 million. Business income
& receipts tax (BIRT prepays) is received prior to being earned but have no effect on budgeted
cash receipts.

2. Since governments cannot report a deficit in unassigned fund balance (GASB No. 54, paragraph
15), the resulting $21.2 million deficit is reclassified to assigned fund balance.

The charts below illustrate:
A. The reconciliation of Total Fund Balance - Budget Basis versus GAAP (Modified Accrual)
B. The components of Fund Balance for GAAP (Modified Accrual) basis
C. The reconciliation of Unassigned Fund Balance — Budget Basis versus GAAP (Modified Accrual)

24



City of Philadelphia
Management’s Discussion & Analysis

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

(millions of USD)

A. Budget to GAAP Basis Reconcilation 6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014
Budget Basis Fund Balance $ 148.3 $ 1515 § 202.1
1. Less: BIRT six (6) months pre-pays (169.5) (178.5) (179.1)
2. Add: Encumbrances 99.2 108.9 103.1
3. Add: Reserves 54.5 73.6 85.6
Modified Accrual Basis Fund Balance $ 1325 § 155.5 § 211.7
B. Modified Accrual Basis Fund Balance 6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014
Restricted $ 545 $ 736 $ 85.6
Assigned
Encumbrances 99.2 108.9 103.1
Reclassification of Unassigned (21.2) (27.0) -
Assigned 78.0 81.9 103.1
Unassigned - - 23.0
Modified Accrual Basis Fund Balance $ 1325 § 1555 § 211.7
C. Budget to GAAP Basis Reconcilation 6/30/2016 6/30/2015 6/30/2014
Budget Basis Fund Balance $ 1483 $ 1515 § 202.1
1. Less: BIRT six (6) months pre-pays (169.5) (178.5) (179.1)
2. Less: Reclass to Assigned Fund Balance 21.2 27.0 -
Unassigned Fund Balance $ - - 8 23.0

Differences between the original budget and the final amended budget resulted primarily from decreases
in revenue estimates and increases to appropriations. Total appropriations increased by $75.9 million;
from an original budget of $3,998.1 million to a final amended budget of $4,074.0 million. The largest

increases were required to support the following activities:

e $22.2 million for Police operations
*  $20.1 million for Street maintenance and repair
* $27.1 million for Fire operations

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets. The City of Philadelphia’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-
type activities amounts to $6.6 billion, net of accumulated depreciation, at the end of the current fiscal

year.

These capital assets include items such as roads, runways, bridges, water and sewer mains,

streets and street lighting, land, buildings, improvements, sports stadiums, vehicles, commuter trains,
machinery, computers and general office equipment. The table below shows a breakdown of the City’s

Capital Improvements over the past four fiscal years.

(millions of USD)

FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013

Airport Terminal & Airfield Improvements $ 1611 $ 196.2 $ 74.4 $ 1496
Water & Wastewater Improvements 176.0 175.0 141.3 142.5
Streets, Highways & Bridges Improvements 779 63.6 46.8 63.9
Transit System Improvements 10.6 1.3 2.2 3.9
Parks, Playgrounds, Museums & Recreational Facilities 379 33.6 18.6 271
Libraries Improvements 1.6 3.3 0.2 0.7
Police & Fire Facilities 7.7 18.9 5.9 18.5
City Hall & Municipal Buildings Improvements 2.7 5.9 6.2 3.3
Computers, Servers, Software & IT Infrastructure 114 194 16.5 9.6
Economic Development 11.2 12.7 11.8 4.7
Other and Non-Enterprise Vehicles 32.3 10.7 10.9 11.2
$ 5304 $ 540.6 $ 3348 $ 435.0
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The following table shows the capital assets by category.

City of Philadelphia's Capital Assets-Net of Depreciation
(millions of USD)

Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total

2016 2015  Inc/(Dec) 2016 2015  Inc/(Dec) 2016 2015  Inc/(Dec)

Land $ 89 $ 818 § 1 $ 156 $ 153 $ 3 $ 985 $§ 971 $ 14

Fine Arts 1 1 - - - - 1 1 -

Buildings 708 735 (27) 1,552 1,399 153 2,260 2,134 126
Improvements other

than buildings 95 113 (18) 173 168 5 268 281 (13)

Machinery & equipment 124 92 32 26 25 1 150 117 33

Infrastructure 496 444 52 1,581 1,492 90 2,077 1,936 141

Construction in progress 43 36 7 728 856 (128) 771 892 (121)

Transit 59 63 4) - - - 59 63 4)

Intangible Assets 19 12 7 5 6 1) 24 18 6

Total $ 2374 $ 2314 § 60 $ 4221 $ 4,09 $ 122 $ 6594 $ 6413 $ 182

More detailed information about the City’s capital assets can be found in notes 1.6 & II.5 to the financial
statements.

Long-term debt. At year end the City had $7.8 billion in long term debt outstanding. Of this amount,
$5.2 billion represents bonds outstanding (comprised of $2.1 billion of debt backed by the full faith and
credit of the City, and $3.1 billion of debt secured solely by specific revenue sources) while $2.5 billion
represents other long term obligations. The following schedule shows a summary of all long term debt
outstanding.

City of Philadelphia's Long Term Debt Outstanding

(millions of USD)
Governmental Business-type
activities activities Total
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Bonds Outstanding:
General obligation bonds 2,113.4 2,027.7 - - 2,113.4 2,027.7
Revenue bonds - - 3,128.0 3,336.1 3,128.0 3,336.1
Total Bonds Outstanding 2,113.4 2,027.7 3,128.0 3,336.1 5,241.4 5,363.8
Other Long Term Obligations:
Service agreements 1,919.7 2,038.8 - - 1,919.7 2,038.8
Employee related obligations 488.0 459.5 46.4 45.2 534.4 504.7
Indemnities 70.4 74.0 8.5 4.7 78.9 78.7
Leases 8.7 12.9 - - 8.7 12.9
Other - - - 0.3 - 0.3
Total Other Long Term Obligations 2,486.8 2,585.2 54.9 50.2 2,541.7 2,635.4
Total Long Term Debt Outstanding 4,600.2 4,612.9 3,182.9 3,386.3 7,783.1 7,999.2
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Significant events related to borrowing during the current fiscal year include the following:

The City has statutory authorizations to negotiate temporary loans for periods not to extend
beyond the fiscal year. The City borrows funds to pay debt service and required pension
contributions due before the receipt of the real estate taxes. The City borrowed and repaid
$175.0 million in Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes by June 2016 plus interest. In accordance
with statute there are no temporary loans outstanding at year end.

In July 2015, the City issued $138.8 million of General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2015A.
The total proceeds were $157.0 million (including a premium of $18.2 million). The proceeds of
the sale were used to refund the Series 2006, 2008B, and 2011 bonds.

In September 2015, the City issued $191.6 million of General Obligation Bonds Series 2015B.
The 2015B bonds were issued for the purpose of funding the City’s capital projects and paying
the costs relating to the issuance of the 2015B bonds.

In September 2015, the City issued $97.8 million of Airport Revenue Bonds Series 2015A Bonds
to refund all of the outstanding Series 2005A Bonds in the amount of $105.9 million and to pay
the costs of issuing the Series 2015A Bonds.

In February 2016, PAID issued $95.4 million of City Service Agreement Revenue Refunding
Bonds Series 2016A and 2016B. The total proceeds of the 2016A bonds were $104.6 million
(which includes a premium of $15.4 million). The 2016A Bonds were issued to partially refund
$99.5 million of the Series 2006A Bonds and to pay the costs of issuing the 2016A Bonds. The
total proceeds of the 2016B bonds were $6.8 million (which includes a premium of $0.6 million).
The 2016B Bonds were issued to refund $6.7 million of the Series 2005 Bonds and to pay the
costs of issuing the 2016B Bonds.

In July 2010, the City of Philadelphia - Water Department received approval from the
Pennsylvania State Infrastructure Financing Authority (‘PENNVEST”) for the Green Infrastructure
Project (Series 2010B); bringing the total financing from PENNVEST to $214.9 million. During
fiscal year 2016, PENNVEST draw-downs totaled $5.8 million. The funding is through low interest
loans of 1.193% during the construction period and for the first five years of amortization (interest
only payment is due during the construction period up to three years) and 2.107% for the
remaining fifteen years.

Currently the City’s bonds as rated by Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch are as follows:

Bond Type Moody’s St?;::)arl::l & Fitch
General Obligation Bonds A2 A+ A-
Water Revenue Bonds A1 A+ A+
Aviation Revenue Bonds A2 A A

The City is subject to a statutory limitation established by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania as to the
amount of tax supported general obligation debt it may issue. The limitation is equal to 13.50% of the
average assessed valuations of properties over the past ten years. As of June 30, 2016 the legal
debt limit was $5,454.0 million. There is $1,841.4 million of outstanding tax supported debt leaving a
legal debt margin of $3,612.6 million.

More detailed information about the City’s debt activity can be found in note 1ll.7 to the financial
statements.
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Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates

The following factors have been considered in preparing the City of Philadelphia’s budget for the 2017
fiscal year, as outlined in the City’s most recent Five Year Financial and Strategic Plan for Fiscal Years
2017-2021.

e Fund Balance: In fiscal 2016, the General Fund ended with a fund balance of $148.3 million.

e Revenue Projections for FY2017. Wage and Earnings Tax revenue is projected to grow 3.42%,
Sales Tax revenue is projected to grow by 4.34%, Real Property revenue is projected to grow by
3.76%, and Real Estate transfer tax is projected to grow by 5.09%, while the Business Income and
Receipts Tax is projected to decline by 2.01%.

o Wage and Business Tax Cuts. The current Five Year Plan (FY 2017 to 2021) also includes a
continuation of wage and business tax cuts resumed in FY 2014 after being suspended during the
Great Recession. The residential rate was 4.3010% in FY20086, is currently 3.9004% in FY2017, and
is projected to continue to drop to 3.7276% by FY2021. Regarding the Business Income and Receipts
Tax, the FY2017 rate for gross receipts is 0.1415% and the net income rate is 6.35%. By 2021, the
net income rate will fall to 6.15%.

e Philadelphia Beverage Tax. In June 2016, City Council passed the Philadelphia Beverage Tax (PBT).
The Beverage Tax taxes the distribution of sweetened drinks at 1.5 cents per ounce and became
effective January 1, 2017. The Beverage Tax is expected to provide funding for pre-kindergarten,
community schools, recreation centers and libraries. The City projects to collect approximately $42.2
million in FY2017, and slightly over $92 million annually in FY2018 through 2021. In September 2016,
a lawsuit challenging the PBT was filed by the American Beverage Association and other co-plaintiffs
in the Court of Common Pleas. This complaint was dismissed in its entirety by the Court of Common
Pleas in December 2016. Following the decision, the plaintiffs appealed the ruling to the
Commonwealth Court of Pennsylvania. The appeal is currently on an expedited scheduling track
before the Commonwealth Court and is scheduled for oral argument during the first week of April
2017. Mayor Kenney remains committed to providing affordable, quality pre-K to up to 6,500 children
over the next five years, investing in civic assets like parks and libraries over time, and creating 25
community schools over the next four years. However, while the litigation is pending, the City cannot
fully implement its plan for these two important initiatives. Until there is certainty that the PBT — and
its accompanying revenue stream — will not be invalidated by any legal challenge, the City will
proceed with limited expansion of these programs.

e Contract Negotiations. More than 80% of City employees are represented by one of the City’s
municipal unions. The City is committed to working with its union partners to reach agreements that
are fair to employees while also maintaining the City’s fiscal discipline. The four-year District Council
33 contract ratified in August 2016 includes significant pension reform that is described below in the
Pension Reforms paragraph. District Council 33 members received 3% wage increases in July 2016,
2017, and 2019 and a 2.5% increase in 2018. The agreement also provided additional funds for the
DC33 health fund to continue providing quality health benefits for employees. Local 810 court
employees agreed to a one-year contract that expires in June 2017 and received a 3% wage increase
and are now on the same contract cycle as District Council 47. The International Association of Fire
Fighters (IAFF) had a wage reopener in FY2017 and received a 3.25% increase, consistent with the
increase provided to FOP members during the same period. Contracts for the FOP Lodge 5, IAFF
Local 22, and District Council 47 members each expire on June 30, 2017. The FY2017-2021 Five
Year Plan includes $200 million to budget for the potential costs of these labor agreements.

e Pension Fund Challenges. The City of Philadelphia’s Municipal Retirement System has a $5.9 billion
unfunded liability as of the July 1, 2015 valuation and is only 45% funded. The pension funding ratio
has weakened over time, dropping from 77% in FYO1 (around peak funding after the FY99 pension
bond issuance) to 45% in FY2016. General Fund pension costs make up more than 15% of the City’s
projected expenditures (including payments on pension obligation bonds) in FY2017.
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e Pension Reforms. The City and its unions have taken multiple steps to improve the health of the
pension fund. Each year, the City has been contributing more than what is legally required, including
dedicating sales tax revenue in addition to the minimum municipal obligation (MMO) to improve the
funding status of the plan. Over the current FY2017-2021 Five Year Plan, the sales tax revenues are
projected to provide an additional $179 million for the pension fund. As discussed above, the contract
ratified in August 2016 by District Council 33, the City’s largest municipal union, increases
contributions for current employees so that those with higher annual salaries pay a higher contribution
rate. These additional contributions will increase the assets of the pension fund over time. The
agreement with District Council 33 also created a stacked hybrid plan that is mandatory for new hires.
The stacked hybrid plan combines a traditional defined benefit for the first $50,000 of an employee’s
earnings and an optional 401k, with an employer match, for earnings above this amount. The stacked
hybrid plan provides retirement security for the City’s employees while also reducing the pension
system’s liabilities. The Pension Board has also gradually lowered the assumed rate of return from
8.75% to 7.75% since FY08 and over time has voted to make assumptions around mortality and other
demographic factors more conservative. While fiscally prudent, these changes also lower the fund’s
actuarial funding percentage. The changes are partially responsible for recent increases in the City’s
minimum municipal obligation.

e Improving Employee Healthcare Costs: The City will continue to work with its union partners to help
address the rising costs of health insurance and promote wellness. The municipal unions each
provide benefits for members through union administered Health and Welfare Funds, and the City
has minority representation on those boards. Non-union employees are provided benefits through
the City Administered Benefits Program (CAP). In FY10, the City moved from a fully-insured model to
a self-insurance arrangement. The City also increased employee copays and instituted a disease
management and wellness program with financial incentives for completing wellness activities. In
FY2015, the City added a tobacco user surcharge and employees will pay an additional copay for
each prescription if using a pharmacy that sells tobacco products.

e Economic Development: After decades of population loss, the City has experienced several years of
consistent population growth and new investment in its neighborhoods, spurred in part by the relative
affordability of housing options and the City’s array of cultural amenities. As a hub for education and
medicine, the City is home to a number of institutions of higher education, medical and research
facilities, and hospitals, and these institutions improve the neighborhoods around them. The City also
has a strong business and personal services economy with strengths in insurance, law, finance, and
leisure and hospitality. Additionally, the consistent efforts of Philadelphia’s economic development
agencies as well as private investment have spurred significant economic changes throughout the
City. Development in the Navy Yard has, over time, transitioned a formal naval property and active
military base to a growing hub for business. The City’s hotel room inventory has increased to help
meet demand, and investments in commercial corridors across the City have helped existing
businesses renovate, attracted new businesses, and helped reduce vacancy rates in those
neighborhood commercial areas. As of June 2016, Philadelphia had 48 major projects under
construction concurrently, representing almost $7.3 billion in combined public and private investment.

Requests for information

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of
Philadelphia’s finances for all interested parties. The City also publishes the Supplemental Report of
Revenues & Obligations that provides a detailed look at budgetary activity at the legal level of
compliance, the Annual Report of Bonded Indebtedness that details outstanding long term debt and the
Schedule of Financial Assistance that reports on grant activity. All four reports are available on the City’s
website, www.phila.gov/finance. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to:

Office of the Director of Finance
Suite 1340 MSB

1401 John F. Kennedy Boulevard
Philadelphia, PA 19102
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Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2016 Amounts in thousands of USD
Primary Government
Governmental Business Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Assets
Cash on Deposit and on Hand 59,265 30 59,295 268,185
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments - - - 272,564
Equity in Treasurer's Account 752,746 200,379 953,125 -
Investments 102,969 - 102,969 228,324
Due from Component Units 49,515 - 49,515 -
Due from Primary Government - - - 100,878
Amounts Held by Fiscal Agent 54,454 - 54,454 -
Notes Receivable - Net - - - 25,553
Accounts Receivable - Net 377,927 164,623 542,550 281,174
Interest and Dividends Receivable 4,122 - 4,122 20,924
Due from Other Governments - Net 641,724 3,422 645,146 139,135
Inventories 14,163 74,843 89,006 203,114
Other Assets 80,765 126 80,891 77,706
Restricted Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents - 837,817 837,817 181,818
Other Assets - 300,678 300,678 137,975
Capital Assets:
Land and Other Non-Depreciated Assets 873,575 884,423 1,757,998 328,295
Other Capital Assets (Net of Depreciation) 1,500,013 3,336,443 4,836,456 3,105,840
Total Capital Assets, Net 2,373,588 4,220,866 6,594,454 3,434,135
Total Assets 4,511,238 5,802,784 10,314,022 5,371,485
Deferred Outflows of Resources 878,564 158,661 1,037,225 538,603
Liabilities
Notes Payable 80,388 189,900 270,288 80,297
Vouchers Payable 79,903 9,650 89,553 68,292
Accounts Payable 238,855 104,180 343,035 175,744
Salaries and Wages Payable 85,970 9,237 95,207 94,937
Accrued Expenses 44,008 37,154 81,162 254,627
Due to Agency Funds 699 - 699 -
Due to Primary Government - - - 34,427
Due to Component Units 47,405 1,021 48,426 -
Funds Held in Escrow 12,017 1,741 13,758 10,985
Due to Other Governments 2,156 - 2,156 33,286
Unearned Revenue 315,371 31,472 346,843 203,911
Overpayment of Taxes 174,871 - 174,871 18,612
Other Current Liabilities - - - 72,173
Derivative Instrument Liability 84,202 17,547 101,749 664
Long-term Liabilities:
Due within one year
Bonds Payable & Other Long-term Liabilities 343,607 187,968 531,575 340,403
Due in more than one year
Bonds Payable & Other Long-term Liabilities 4,256,513 2,993,675 7,250,188 4,501,739
Net OPEB Liability 296,474 - 296,474 386,355
Net Pension Liability 5,611,853 678,602 6,290,455 3,200,287
Total Liabilities 11,674,292 4,262,147 15,936,439 9,476,739
Deferred Inflows of Resources 39,689 4,386 44,075 454,307
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 955,217 1,323,668 2,278,885 65,063
Restricted For:
Capital Projects 108,318 146,299 254,617 5,381
Debt Service 74,018 298,487 372,505 244,793
Pension Oblig Bond Refunding Reserve 44,764 - 44,764 -
Behavioral Health 220,062 - 220,062 -
Neighborhood Revitalization 19 - 19 -
Stadium Financing 558 - 558 -
Central Library Project 1,688 - 1,688 -
Cultural & Commercial Corridor Project 7,444 - 7,444 -
Grant Programs 94,719 - 94,719 27,033
Rate Stabilization - 205,761 205,761 -
Libraries & Parks:
Expendable 3,235 - 3,235 -
Non-Expendable 3,137 - 3,137 -
Educational Programs - - - 14,861
Other 67,182 - 67,182 9,809
Unrestricted(Deficit) (7,904,540) (279,303) (8,183,843) (4,387,898)
Total Net Position (6,324,179) 1,694,912 (4,629,267) (4,020,958)

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016 Amounts in thousands of USD
Net (Expense) Revenue and
Program Revenues Changes in Net Position
Operating Capital Primary Government
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Business Type Component
Functions Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total Units
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:
Economic Development 115,315 90 919 446 (113,860) (113,860)
Transportation:
Streets & Highways 136,811 5,847 44,392 49,875 (36,697) (36,697)
Mass Transit 76,099 2,172 134 - (73,793) (73,793)
Judiciary and Law Enforcement:
Police 1,232,416 5,130 9,729 - (1,217,557) (1,217,557)
Prisons 381,642 349 29 - (381,264) (381,264)
Courts 339,596 50,255 47,733 - (241,608) (241,608)
Conservation of Health:
Emergency Medical Services 66,322 45,679 6,946 - (13,697) (13,697)
Health Services 1,579,052 14,050 1,325,809 - (239,193) (239,193)
Housing and Neighborhood
Development 80,091 18,114 51,389 - (10,588) (10,588)
Cultural and Recreational:
Recreation 116,618 4,597 7,359 - (104,662) (104,662)
Parks 8,393 976 - 8,272 855 855
Libraries and Museums 88,768 1,239 6,712 - (80,817) (80,817)
Improvements to General Welfare:
Social Services 688,718 1,218 533,798 - (153,702) (153,702)
Education 134,494 - - - (134,494) (134,494)
Inspections and Demolitions 65,344 54,064 1,062 - (10,218) (10,218)
Service to Property:
Sanitation 157,037 16,547 1,887 - (138,603) (138,603)
Fire 370,694 333 1,532 - (368,829) (368,829)
General Management and Support 648,149 158,345 51,432 3,178 (435,194) (435,194)
Interest on Long Term Debt 158,168 192 - - (157,976) (157,976
Total Governmental Activities 6,443,727 379,197 2,090,862 61,771 (3,911,897) (3,911,897)
Business Type Activities:
Water and Sewer 568,981 669,950 870 1,506 - 103,345 103,345
Aviation 400,176 433,651 - 24,203 - 57,678 57,678
Industrial and
Commercial Development - 522 - 1,136 - 1,658 1,658
Total Business Type Activities 969,157 1,104,123 870 26,845 - 162,681 162,681
Total Primary Government 7,412,884 1,483,320 2,091,732 88,616 (3,911,897) 162,681 (3,749,216)
Component Units:
Gas Operations 582,576 580,309 12,321 - 10,054
Housing 72,532 6,556 59,101 - (6,875)
Parking 239,572 242,855 - - 3,283
Education 3,096,511 42,567 1,008,976 1,260 (2,043,708)
Health 811,528 - 811,342 - (186)
Economic Development 194,367 15,475 110,190 65,827 2,875
Total Component Units 4,997,086 887,762 2,001,930 67,087 (2,040,307)
General Revenues:
Taxes:
P